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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ, Chair:  I’d like to welcome all of you and invite the mayor of Oakland, Mayor Jerry Brown, to join us please.  We do have Assemblymember Pacheco, who is joining us and transitioning from the parking structure to join us.  As well, I understand Senator Chesbro is about five minutes away.  But I do want to accommodate Mayor Brown, as he has a flight to catch soon.  So we’re going to try to make sure that we get the very critical presentation and testimony from his participants at the local level as well as his input on this very important issue.


Welcome.  This is the Senate Health and Human Services Committee hearing on “Bioterrorism and Public Health.”  First, I want to, once again, thank and acknowledge the committee staff, as well as my personal staff, and the other legislators who will be joining us here today.  Thank you all for joining us.


I want to thank all of our witnesses.  We tried to cover an extensive sort of overview, if you review the panels and the subpanels.  We want to get through a lot of information and very critical information to this national discussion.  But in order to do so, we’re going to ask our members to be fairly disciplined with the five-minute rule.  If not, I have the gavel here, which I am not shy about using but would prefer to have members try to monitor themselves, and speakers.


I want to share a bit before we enter into the testimony my interest in this issue.  About five years ago, when I first was elected to the State Assembly, I really was briefed very quickly on the status of our public health systems, the burden for and by local public health officers, public health departments, to do the day-to-day very important work of tracking disease, accommodating the demands of local government and the mandates we put on them as a State Legislature, and to really be charged with the important task of protecting public health, to track things like communicable diseases on an ongoing basis that are very, very significant and have a strain on our overall status of our public health, issues like chlamydia, TB, hepatitis C.  All of those very important public health functions have really been neglected, and all of us have to take a bit of responsibility for that.


In an effort to try to build up what is something very boring and obtuse and not very romantic in past years--the public health infrastructure across California.  I have attempted either through pieces of legislation or through budget requests over five years to increase our public health infrastructure … [problems in recording] … local level throughout California.


It’s fascinating to see public health rise over the top now in the context of the national crisis and concern specifically related to anthrax.  This unprecedented tragedy has brought attention to an issue that I believe is going to be difficult, not just simply for California, but the rest of the nation to address.


So we are not unique in the national dilemma.  I think it presents an opportunity for a long overdue debate regarding our public health infrastructure; the opportunity to recognize as a state that public health is a core component of public safety.  And I think that’s a very important message which we have to be mindful of as we have this discussion in California, as we go through this process of making appropriate policy decisions, statistical decisions, to protect California from any threat of bioterrorism, that we also have to come back to that core component of public health.  And public health does not do that in a vacuum.  They do that along with police and fire, and that’s why I’m so grateful for so many of our witnesses and our law enforcement and the rest of our public safety team to be here.


Let me just now sort of quickly go through who our first panel will be, and after we allow Mayor Brown to make a few comments and invite, if appropriate, his speakers to come forward, we will then move to our first panel.


We are joined by Assemblymember Pacheco from – what part of Los Angeles are you from?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ROBERT PACHECO:  I represent basically the eastern part of Los Angeles County, but I’m a member of the Assembly Terrorist Task Force.  I think that it’s critical for us to certainly look at all the issues concerning health preparedness and preparedness of all our health agencies.  I think we’ve discovered varying opinions about that, how prepared we are, and I’ll be very interested to hear all the information we will receive today.  Clearly, the public is very concerned, and we want to alleviate any concerns that they might have.  

I look forward to all the input that we will receive today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for joining us.  It’ll be very important to gather the information.  The Assembly has managed to have a hearing on it and that’ll be vital as to how we pursue policymaking this year.


With that, let me now take a moment to introduce our first speaker and our guest, who I was very fortunate to be able to have him come and join us, particularly as a mayor of a big city.  I think it’s a really important message that we need to hear, what is happening at the local level, particularly in cities.  I would like to welcome our very special guest, Mayor Jerry Brown.  It’s quite an honor to have you attend this hearing today.  We’d love to hear your perspective and your input and your ideas.

For those of you who are not familiar, because you’ve probably been asleep for the last thirty years or so, but Mayor Brown’s illustrious political career began more than three decades ago; again, right here in Los Angeles with his election in, I believe, 1969, when I was probably twelve years old, at the L.A. Community College Board of Trustees.  A mere five years later, the people of California elected Mr. Brown to be our governor of this state and reelected him in 1978 by the largest vote margin in California history.  

Among the hundreds of accomplishments, Governor Brown had created the California Conservation Corps, enacted the California Coastal Protection Act, has made California the leader in solar and alternative energy and certainly the leadership we could use this year.  Finally, after a very impressive presidential bid, the city of Oakland wisely elected Jerry Brown to serve in 1994 as their mayor.  His presence here today obviously speaks to the great urgency felt by California’s most prestigious leaders about this issue, particularly leaders in big cities.  

I’m so glad you could join us.  We welcome you.  I know you have a plane to catch, so I would like to thank you once again for joining us.  Please, if you could share your thoughts and your words, and once again, we appreciate your joining us.


MAYOR JERRY BROWN:  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  I think it’s really important, Senator Ortiz, that you are conducting this hearing because what we’re facing here is unprecedented, and therefore, our response is going to be unprecedented, which means we don’t have a lot of guides or not enough guides. 

We’re involved in a system of government that is highly complex and involves multiple centers of authority:  federal government, state government, local government, cities and counties, and then within those, health departments, various agencies.  So pulling all those together is a critical challenge.


If you’ll notice, the general support of the people of this country reflects more confidence in the bombing in Afghanistan, which we really can’t tell what is going on, versus confidence about what’s happening here as far as defending against anthrax and other things.  There the confidence level is below fifty percent, and with good reason, because we’re not as prepared as we should.  I would assert that Oakland is more prepared than almost any other city, and we are prepared because of all the disasters:  the fires that took 2,000 homes and 25 lives, the earthquake that had a devastating impact.  So we’ve had emergency declarations for Oakland about nine times over the last decade or so.


But having said we’re more prepared than most is not to say we’re adequately prepared, because we’re not.  That’s sort of the point I want to put out here.  The funding power, of course, is in the federal government and in the state government and not so much in city government.  But where stuff shows up is in a city.  The post office is in some city, and that some city has, as its highest elected official, a mayor.  But, of course, the power of the mayor is not financially commensurate with the challenge nor are all the subsidiary – not subsidiary but affected and implicated agencies under the authority of the mayor.  

So we have to develop a response that will really be adequate to this new challenge and takes into account the complexity of our own governmental system.  Of course, when I say “we,” which is always the escape word for any political personality, we have to make sure what is that “we.”  I would say when we look at the federal government right now, there is an inadequate response.  We have to be told, _________ but the local _________, the mayors particularly and other local authorities, what has been learned about the anthrax attacks and what’s been the response of the HAZMAT teams and what are we knowing.  Besides turning on CSPAN and CNN, we can surely expect, and I hope this hearing can help simulate that, that the federal government develops a very quick pattern of communication that we can rely on to the mayors, to the governors, and to the appropriate authorities so we can take what is learned and incorporate it into the specific response capability and plans that cover all the land mass in the United States.


Now, Governor Ridge, has a big job, and even his organization chart is not too well integrated because he can’t control all these different agencies.  So that’s really the first one.  The federal government has to get its act together domestically and make sure that the information is disseminated throughout the whole country, and I would say governors and mayors are key in that dissemination process.  

Along with it is we need the funding.  We divide this whole challenge into preventing, preparing, responding, and recovery.  Preventing:  We’ve got to identify what targets.  What are these terrorists going to do?  What kind of an attack and where?  Then we’ve got to prepare for it.  And preparation is the training of people, the training of the first responders:  the fire department, the emergency medical personnel.  And in that respect, I brought three of our people from Oakland:  Fire Chief Simon, who is heading up the overall effort, in the first row here; Gene English, who is an emergency medical technician; and then Henry Renteria, who’s the head of the Office of Emergency Services.  They’re responsible for organizing the response locally.


Now, we have a federally sophisticated team of HAZMAT (hazardous materials) personnel within the fire department.  They are prepared to go out and test someone who believes they’ve been infected by anthrax, if there’s some kind of a substance there.  They have a test so they can use that to make the first assessment of, in fact, whether it’s anthrax.  So far, we’ve had several claims but nothing has been proven yet.  Nevertheless, there has to be enough trained people.  I doubt very much whether there are more than a handful of cities in California that even have that hazardous materials capability to respond in a timely manner.


Secondly, we’ve already ordered 10,000 doses of antibiotics so that we’re in a position if there’s some mass attack, and that’s being done by the city of Oakland.  There are a few other cities that are also doing this.  But again, this is something that is going to take either federal or state funding, and your organization of this response ought to be clarified in some systematic way from the federal government and the state government.  But cities don’t have to wait, and we can’t wait, so we’re moving forward.


We also have a program called CORE, the Citizens of Oakland Responding to Emergencies.  It was stigmented out of the Oakland fire, but we’re now developing a much more enlarged CORE program so that we will train, instead of just – actually, we’ve trained 10,000 people in ten years – but we’re looking to have one or two people in every neighborhood in the city of Oakland trained and identified to be able to respond to a disaster, and we’re not going to limit it.  

I think, as Senator Ortiz said, we can’t just look at one aspect.  We’re focusing today on the whole matter of public health infrastructure.  Well, in terms of a response, we have to respond to emergencies.  That can be bioterrorism, it can be a chemical attack with saron, it can be a fire, it could be any number of things, and that preparation has to be on the part of the experts – the fire department, the police department, health department, laboratories, medical personnel – but also on the part of citizens.  Because when these attacks occur, citizens, as we saw in New York, are in the first line; they’re the first responders.  There ought to be a leadership group in every neighborhood and ultimately, probably, in every block.  

During the war, World War II, we had air raid wardens.  They would be someone deputized, you knew who it was, and they’d walk around and make sure the lights were out if there was an air raid.  Well, we’re in a similar kind of situation, and we have to develop the same infrastructure and the same capability.  We’re now looking at anthrax, but we’ve got to worry about plague and __________ and other things and who knows what?  

Usually, when you’re in the emergency business, you don’t like to say how unprepared you are.  The message I want to put out is, well, in my city, we’re getting prepared.  We’re more prepared than most.  But relative to the possible threats, there is a long way to go and there’s a lot of uncertainty.  

So that is really what I believe in--a grassroots effort, and I consider the states, legislators and cities and their mayors are a part of a grassroots effort, to push from the bottom as the leadership comes down also from the top, because we have a ways to go.  And this also can be part of knitting our communities together, pulling together, in an effective way so we can defend the homeland, defend the country.


Now, I want to also put it in context, of course.  The horror of anthrax has resulted in four people dying.  Every day in America, over 100 people die in highway accidents.  So a lot of this is psychological.  It is the symbolic fallout of certain physical impacts, and the amplification that terrorism generates is far more than the physical devastation.  This is part of the education process, the getting familiar with, and learning to live with, these kinds of challenges and problems.  It’s going to take a while, but I have no doubt that we’re going to get there.


We’re talking about biological agents, but you also have nerve gases, and they’re equally as great a threat, as we saw in the subway of Japan, the saron.  We have a device, and I want Gene English just to bring it up here.  Every fire department, every fire person, has these little injectors, and you have to use this within seconds after you are exposed to nerve gas.  At some point every fireman and policeman ought to have these, and maybe citizens.  This is something that has to be thought about and considered because you could actually save lives.  You can counteract these things.  

Through technology, there’s a lot of things we can do, both in preventing and in recovering, but we’re not there yet.  A lot of this is experimental, or a lot of it is just very fragmentary in its implementation.  That’s where we need some leadership, from the President, from the national government, but not waiting for that.  The state and local government have to join together and take initiative.  My point here is that where stuff happens is in some city, and the mayors of these cities have to familiarize themselves with what is now known, the capability of their own city, and then take action, and that action will be local but it’ll also be state and federal.  

That’s why I came down today, and I wanted to indicate the personnel.  We’re pulling together and we’re getting there, but I believe we have a long way to go.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mayor Brown.  I understand that you have a flight to catch, and you need to leave in about ten minutes or so.  I wanted to invite your speakers, if they wanted to add to the record on any of these points, to feel free to do so at this time.  I think it would be quite helpful.  

As you’re coming forward, I want to take a moment to introduce Senator Chesbro who’s joined us.  Senator Chesbro’s a member of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee.  He also chairs the Budget subcommittee that will be dealing with this, I’m sure, in the upcoming session on how we commit very limited fiscal resources to a very important issue in California.  Thank you for joining us.


I will encourage the members of the first panel to feel free to come forward and sit up here as we prepare for your testimony, those of you who are on the first panel, the overview on bioterrorism, so that we save time after the presentation.


CHIEF GERALD SIMON:  My name is Gerald Simon, and I am the fire chief for the city of Oakland.  I just want to highlight some of the comments that our mayor has already made.


One of the things that is very important for us to do, particularly as all of us are first responders, whether you be on the fire side, on the public health side, or on the police department side, there has to be a heightened level of preparedness, not only in terms of training and making sure that we’re ready for all those things that are happening but also training the citizens.  Mayor Brown mentioned our CORE program, but there are a lot of other tangible things we can do, like training for all the people who are currently handling the mail, training for all the auto-injector kits that the mayor just demonstrated here, training on all the critical equipment and components of decontamination, all of the various ways that we can make our citizens safe.  Those are very, very important things.


The coordination also has to be, particularly in Alameda County and in Oakland, as the mayor talked about, we have been in constant touch with the district attorney, the FBI, and the sheriff, and the local police officers, the local fire chiefs, all the departments of health.  We’ve actually had a series of meetings where we came up with a standardized operating procedure for our entire county to make sure that all of the agencies are cooperating and working together and making sure that everybody’s got a little piece of the puzzle.  Unless we all work together, share resources, and share common solutions, you could be missing a critical piece of the puzzle which could, of course, render some harm to the citizens that so desperately count on us for some care and protection.


Also, in terms of the response, there has to be a real integrated system, not only a day-to-day response, operational response, which would be radio and networks and dispatch centers and 911s and all those kinds of things, but also in terms of what equipment does fire have that helps on the PD side?  

I was sharing with the mayor on the way down the way this integrates specifically with the public health component.  We in our city are fortunate to have the Oakland Raiders.  We made an Oakland Raider scenario that if something happens at a Raider game specifically, we know that it’s site-specific, and we know who the first responders are, and we know how to start identifying the threats.  So what if, after the game, you start having different cars on the different highways and the event spreads out?  How do we know that we have an event?  What mechanisms do we have in place to figure out the two people on that freeway and the one person in that hospital and the one person at some remote location all are infected by the same thing?  

If we don’t have a coordinated way to get information and intelligence to each other, then we aren’t doing all that we can to make sure that we’re protecting the public good.  The communication network for a response helps us to figure out what the actual threat is quicker so that we can begin to respond to it a lot faster.


The last part I just want to highlight is the recovery piece that the mayor talked about.  We really have to be about the business of emotional wellness programs.  There are a lot of people out there that are afraid, and they live in fear on a readily frequent basis since the September 11th events.  What are we doing to reach out to the communities?  What are we doing to reach out in the community and neighborhoods to teach them about some of the threats and some of the anthrax and some of the other things that could happen to them? 


So our plan, through our mayor of course, is to make sure of that the citizens of Oakland respond to emergencies.  We have a way already to train citizens.  We’re going to add a module for biological terrorism.  We’re going to add a module to get them to be more prepared.  If we reduce the fear factor, keep people calm, and give them massive doses of education about what’s going on, it makes it a lot simpler for all of us to be able to respond to these events.


So those are the only highlights that I add to the mayor’s comments.  I am very happy and fortunate that we in Oakland have a mayor who’s willing to get out on the front line and to help us get some of these things moving.  Our EMS chief over there, Gene English, is very much on top of this.  We have the luxury of also having a registered nurse as well as our EMS chief.  So we get a lot of information that other folks wouldn’t necessarily have.  And Henry takes care of our Office of Emergency Services and helps to try to coordinate all of these agencies.


So, Senator Ortiz, thank you so much for all of the work that you do to help us.  That’s all of my comments.


MAYOR BROWN:  Any questions or anything further, Senator?  It looks like everybody is prepared.  Maybe.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mayor Brown, and representatives of Oakland.  We adjusted our schedule a bit to accommodate the flight schedules of our friends and leaders from the Oakland region, so I thank them for their testimony early on.  Thank you so much.


We are pretty much back on schedule, and I want to encourage members and participants that we want to strictly adhere to the time that’s laid out in the program.  I do want to feel free to make a few accommodations.  I understand one of our speakers on our first panel, which is an overview of bioterrorism, also has a flight schedule to adhere to.  So I’m going to ask Mr. Burton to please defer to Jon Fielding to go first because he has to catch a flight.  And with that, I would ask members to hold off on questions until after all the panelists have provided some testimony.  We’ve built in time for questions from members, and if we could do that, we might be able to move through the schedule a little more quickly.


Once again, I want to thank Senator Chesbro for joining us and Assemblymember Rob Pacheco, as well as Senator Romero, who has just joined us, from the Los Angeles area.  If they would not mind allowing Mr. Fielding to go first in order to catch his flight and then if they wanted they could make any opening comments after that.  Thank you all.


Mr. Fielding, please.  Welcome, and thank you.


DR. JONATHAN FIELDING:  Thank you very much, and I apologize for any disruption I’m causing.  Things are quite busy here.  

I’m the director of Public Health and health officer for Los Angeles County.  I’m in the Department of Health Services.  I’m pleased to be before you this morning to give you a very brief overview.


I think what’s important is, in terms of bioterrorism, that the realities of a bioterrorism event are different from other forms that I will call “lights and siren responses.”  In a bioterrorism event, as we’ve seen, there’s often delayed recognition.  The first responders are likely to be physicians in emergency rooms or in offices.  The first indication is likely to be a different pattern of disease or an unusual disease in somebody who has no history that would suggest that they should be susceptible to something which is very, very serious.  What we then have to do is an ongoing kind of public health and medical management.


Being prepared has a number of components.  One of the most important is education of the medical community.  We’ve been doing a lot in Los Angeles County to do that.  We’ve given rounds at about forty or fifty emergency rooms.  We’ve been talking with physicians through Los Angeles County Medical Association.  We’ve been working closely with the Hospital Association.  Yesterday I sent out a poster that has the major bioterrorism agent diseases, how you can identify them, what the differential diagnosis is, what you do as a result, and also has our 24/7 number on it for physicians to call us.  We have physician epidemiologists available twenty-four hours a day to answer those kind of concerns which obviously are growing.  


The good news is I think there’s a lot higher recognition in the medical community than there was ever before, particularly of anthrax.  Though, I want to point out we need to have our medical community prepared for any type of terrorism event, whether it’s bioterrorism or chemical terrorism or some other form which would be more of the traditional disaster response.


The second is education of the public, and I think we have a very strong responsibility to make sure that we’re giving them accurate, timely information.  It is difficult because the patterns change, as you see on the East Coast.  Here it’s been relatively easy to this point because we’ve had no cases, we’ve had no environmental samples test positive for anthrax, and that certainly is a reassuring message.  But, in the event that we have a situation, giving timely, accurate information, making sure everybody’s on the same page, is absolutely critical; one of the lessons I think we’ve learned, in part, the hard way from what’s gone on on the East Coast.


We’re training special response teams.  We have a very good emergency medical services system, and we have very close collaboration with the sheriff’s office, the FBI, LAPD, other local police and fire.  We work very closely together, and we have a Terrorism Early Warning Group that is meeting around the clock.  It’s under the aegis of the sheriff, and John Sullivan is the coordinator of that and I think is doing an excellent job.


We also are participating in exercises for various scenarios.  Realistically, it’s not possible to prepare for every scenario.  People always ask if we’re prepared.  My answer is:  We’re prepared better than most places.  We certainly have had the benefit of seeing what’s happened in other places that have had actual experience.


We’ve also had in Los Angeles County a spate of hoaxes, anthrax hoaxes, in 1998 that gave us real-time experience refining our protocols and really understanding the challenges when you have large numbers of people in a building.


So, I think we’ve made some progress.  We also are developing an improved communication system, but we need to continue to improve our communication systems with hospitals, with the physicians.  We, for example, don’t have a real-time way of getting to every physician.  If we need to alert all physicians in real time, we’ve worked with a lot of different means, but we couldn’t do it in five minutes, as we’d like.


A couple of the needs that we continue to have are – and I want to move to the challenges very quickly – we have a large geographic area with a mobile population, and we need to have real-time reporting and mapping applications.  We have, for example, a GIS, or mapping applications, for all the places in L.A. County:  community colleges, fire, police, schools, etc.  So if we needed to have distribution points, we have that kind of information.  But we need a real-time communication system for the medical community and hospital community as well.


Another problem is that in some situations there could be victims, or those that they infect could disperse before attack is recognized.  So the communication strategy, in terms of the broad media, is going to be very important in that kind of a scenario.


One of the likely situations is that if we have a problem, that victims would present at geographically dispersed medical offices and hospitals.  So we have to have very close relationships so that physicians there are able to respond.  One of the things we see in a number of disasters is people congregate at hospitals.  There are some scenarios here that may not be the best thing to do, but that certainly could.


Do you want me to stop?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I just was going to say, do you mean onsite decontamination, etc.?


DR. FIELDING:  Well, it depends on the scenario.  For some very communicable diseases for which there is not immediate therapy, a hospital may not be the best place.  We have some experience with quarantine in Los Angeles, and there is an enabling state statute.  That’s something that needs to be looked at carefully to make sure that it reflects the current range of possible situations.  We’d be happy to work with you on that issue because it is very important.  There’s so many different scenarios that it’s impossible to say the best thing is always for people to be at hospitals or not to be at hospitals or whatever.


As I say, we’re doing a lot with physician education.  Another issue is our laboratory.  We’ve increased significantly our laboratory capacity.  That’s going to need to be further increased, as will surveillance. 


What I think this point shows is the importance of general strengthening of the public health infrastructure.  We have a bioterrorism unit.  We’re the largest county health department in the country and the largest health department, other than the state health department, in California.  We have a large group of CDC trained epidemiologists.  Even so, we’re stretched.  People are working very, very hard, and we’ve had to bring resources to bear on this area, and so other things don’t get done.  We need to make sure that over time we have the infrastructure support – epidemiologist clerical support, communications support – because I’m afraid this is not going to be something that’s going to be over at a particular point in time.  We need to just understand this is part of the landscape, and we have to be prepared for it.


Just a couple more points.  One is that a lot of bioterrorism agents have flu-like symptoms.  Unfortunately, anthrax, plague, Q fever, tularemia, smallpox, all can present with a similar set of symptoms early on of fever, cough, malaise and headache.  And so, one of the important things is to work with physicians.  Physicians are really on the frontline, and we need to help and support them in trying to make decisions about this.  There are some ways to help distinguish, but there’s no easy answer to this.  A lot of it’s judgment and close supervision.  I think everybody needs to understand this is very difficult for the medical community, as it is for their parents who are calling them with a lot of anxiety, understandable anxiety.  But we also need to understand, the patients need to understand, the statistics and the fact that we haven’t had a single case here, and even if we had a few cases, again, what’s the likelihood that an individual would have that problem?


We are also trying novel surveillance method.  We’re using hospital diversion data.  When hospital emergency rooms close, we’re trying to get information on why they’re closing.  Could it be something that would suggest a bioterrorism problem?  We’re working closely with the medical examiner.  During the Democratic National Convention we did syndromic surveillance real time.  That is, we were looking for patterns of cases that were appearing at emergency rooms.  That’s a fairly intensive, person intensive, and computer intensive activity that nobody is doing on a real-time basis now, but it’s one of the things that I think is worth considering.


We’re looking at school absentee data.  We’re talking with the school systems on how we can get better data from them.


And then finally, animal disease surveillance.  There are a number of these agents that are present in animals, and we need to look at – well, look at West Nile.  That’s how we discovered West Nile – the birds.  So we need to realize that that has to be integrated as part of our surveillance system.


So the resources, I think, are those that increase our epidemiologists, that get better Web-based communication.  We need better infrastructure support.  We need wireless computer systems to be able to do real-time work out in the field, if we’re screening people, asking a bunch of questions.  And I think what’s critical is that we have the ability to strengthen the relationships between the local health departments, because there’s a lot of scenarios in which, if there’s a problem here, it’s not just a problem here.  If we have the first case of smallpox, it would be a national issue.  There would be the National Guard here.  There would be people from all over the place.  So we need to make sure that those linkages are very strong.


And finally, we need to continue to strengthen our laboratories.  We are the reference lab for this area.  We do the testing.  Again, our people are pretty flat out, and I want to make sure that we’re able to meet most of the possible contingencies.


So with that, let me stop and answer any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ: 
Thank you for your testimony.  It’s very, very valuable.  


I just want to, once again, welcome the new members who’ve joined us.  Senator Ed Vincent, Assemblymember Wyman, Senators Chesbro and Romero, and, of course, Assemblymember Robert Pacheco who was here earlier.


For those members who came after the testimony started, we’re asking to try to have all the panelists try to stay on a very strict timeline and then allow members, if they could, to please hold questions until after all the panelists have spoken.  I know we’ve probably staffed far too many speakers than we have time for, but it’s all very valuable information.  


But since Dr. Fielding is leaving, I want to give members an opportunity, if they want to direct any questions to Dr. Fielding, to do so now.


Assemblymember Pacheco and then Assemblymember Wyman.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  Sheriff Baca made reference the other day to the fact that there had been some, I think, he said, 175 calls regarding some suspected anthrax exposures.  Has your department responded to checking those out?  How extensively do you check the claim or complaint?  Because as we know, we’ve had some problems in New York and D.C. where the complaints were filed and then discounted as not being significant, and then later on we found out they were, in fact, significant.  So just how are you responding?


DR. FIELDING:  Decisions on whether there is a credible threat are made by the FBI and if they decide to turf this to local law enforcement, by local law enforcement, or HAZMAT if they’re on scene.  The fortunate part is that most of these – you know, going to a bakery; somebody found powder in a bakery, for example.  Fortunately, most are more easy to deal with, but everything has to be taken seriously.  We take our direction basically from intelligence and law enforcement in terms of which samples need to be tested, and in those we do a microscopic exam and then we do cultures.  It’s very important to have that funnel, otherwise we would, frankly, be overwhelmed.  But because we’re able to make sure that we only look at those that are deemed credible, we do that.


So that’s the procedure.  We do look at them carefully.  We have good technology to look at anthrax or other diseases that could be fomented through bioterrorism.  Is there a possibility of something being missed?  There’s always that possibility.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Wyman had a question and then Senator Chesbro, and then we’ll get to the other panelists.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PHIL WYMAN:  Just a preliminary question as you’re addressing these issues.  I did attend the Assemblymember Florez and Senator Costa hearing in Fresno.  We were talking about the water supply and the potential threats to the water supply, and the notion of laboratory – and not necessarily inadequate laboratory facilities but an inadequate linkage between private and public laboratories was important.  I’m hearing you say the same thing.


We had an event, as it was just discussed, at China Lake, which is the Navy’s facility in Ridgecrest.  Again, it called some judgment, and the commander had folks go home and they identified the substance.  But the laboratory testing and the ways in which--as a legislature working with the federal government--we can have those facilities available very quickly up on line, perhaps in rural areas as well as urban areas, is something that you began to address.  If you’d care to elaborate on that.  It was brought up at the earlier hearing that really dealt with terrorism that talked about the threat to the water supply.


DR. FIELDING:  Let me deal with those two issues, if I may.  The water supply, there is testing going on every day with respect to the water supply by the Department of Water and Power, Metropolitan Water District, and at fairly sophisticated facilities.  So that’s going on on a continuing basis.


As you probably are aware from having heard other experts on this, it is not easy to contaminate a large municipal water supply.  So that’s good news.  It takes tons and tons of materials, in many cases, for the most likely scenario.  So that combination of the less likelihood, plus the daily testing, is important, and we are in close communication with them.


With respect to overall capacity, one of the things that we’ve done is we’ve surveyed other laboratories, both public and private, to see if we had a surge.  Let’s say we had a situation where we needed to do a lot of testing to try and determine exposure patterns using nasal swabs when our capacity was exceeded.  We now have talked to a number of laboratories, and we could basically increase the capacity by about five-fold, using those relationships.  The same with environmental samples.  We have a limit on the number that we can do, and we’ve talked to others about the system.  


So we’ve tried to prepare for those contingencies, but again, I want to stress that there are so many possible scenarios, one can never feel confident that one is prepared for everything.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ: 
Thank you.  We have five more speakers on this panel that we have to get to before 10:15, so if there are questions directed to Dr. Fielding, that might be more appropriate, but the others also have critical testimony that may be relevant to questions.

Senator Chesbro, you had a question?  

I want to welcome Senator Kuehl for joining us.  Welcome.


Senator Chesbro, question for Dr. Fielding.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  Given the wide array of public health responsibilities that county health departments carried before September 11th and the onset of the anthrax attacks and threats, how sufficient is the public health infrastructure, both the physical plant and the equipment and the training, and anything else that you want to bring up that I may not have thought of, to have the dramatically expanded responsibility of trying to anticipate, besides anthrax, the other possible things?  The mayor mentioned earlier there’s many, many out there.  How capable is the system of responding sufficiently without significant new resources?


DR. FIELDING:  I think that the person who can answer that broadly for California, sitting down on my left, is Dr. Burton.  But with respect to Los Angeles, again, we’re fortunate.  We’re the largest health department.  We have more resources, and we are being stretched.  Fortunately, our board of supervisors have been very supportive, and we’ve gotten some additional – we’re ordering some additional laboratory equipment.  We’re getting other physicians to do training.  We have a training unit on chemical and other problems that has been set up.  So we’re getting increased resources.  But this is going to take, in my view anyway, a significant federal infusion to make sure that the infrastructure, which was already thin, gets shored up to the degree that it needs to.


So I think your question is well taken.  I don’t want to have any people burn out.  Now, remember, that we’re working very, very hard, and we haven’t had a particular problem here.  In the event that we have a problem, that will stretch things even further.  We get external resources but those come in and out.  So I agree fully with the sentiment that you expressed, Senator, which is we’re going to have to have more resources in the future, and I’ll leave it to Dr. Burton.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s a great transition segue to our next speaker.  Thank you for that setup.  


Let me welcome Dr. Richard Burton, who is the president of the California Conference of Local Health Officers.  Welcome.


DR. RICHARD BURTON:  Thank you very much.


I think it was an excellent point, and I think that the cities and county health services across the state vary from the depth and capacity that we’ve had in L.A. County.  The majority, I would say, probably of our county is where are the health officers, also the TB controller and SDB(?) controller, and medical record clinics and bioterrorism expert at this point?  The cross-responsibilities are very trying at all jurisdictions, to my knowledge, across the state.


What I’d like to focus on initially, though, is to offer at least I think is very positive news on what has happened in the past number of weeks in health jurisdictions across the state improving our preparedness.  A number of us, through sharing documents and work that had already been started, if not completed, prior to September 11th, have been able to share with our medical communities primers and compendiums of information on the management, identification, and reporting of communicable disease related to bioterrorism, also related to chemical terrorism and other aspects that are explosive terrorism.


We have collaborated and worked with our partners and first responders at the local level, the fire and EMS and HAZMAT.  We’ve coordinated with hospitals and medical societies and medical members in the community that aren’t members of medical societies.  I’m happy to report we’ve found outstanding cooperation from everyone that we’ve interfaced with.  


We’ve also found a number of different models that have worked to organize ourselves in these responses in different jurisdictions.  I know in our jurisdiction we happen to be using the OES model, the SEMS model (Standardized Emergency Management System).  I happen to be incident commander in management of the situation, and it works really well in our jurisdiction.  Other jurisdictions have other individuals as incident commanders that work well, and other jurisdictions are following other models, but all of us are finding the need to organize these responses, as Mayor Brown mentioned, in a systematic manner in order to be effective at preparing.  


At the state level we’ve been happy to be able to increasingly collaborate with the state Department of Health Services and advisory bodies, task forces that have come, such as these type of hearings, to report on preparedness.  We’ve been happy to participate – the director of Health Services at the state level has initiated weekly teleconferences, and we’ve been able, across the state, to gather together with state expertise to make sure that we’re all on the same page and coordinated.  


We spent all day yesterday as county and city health officials trained in bioterrorism, sharing best practices and lessons learned over the past few weeks, and it was very fruitful.  We also obtained training and will have available to us as a tool next week a very sophisticated information sharing system that’s in a secure environment that’s being developed at the state Department of Health Services, referred to as REACT, but it’s a unique tool that, to my knowledge, isn’t implemented statewide anywhere in the country; and yet, here in California we’re going to have access to that.  It will help jurisdictions to coordinate our responses and preparedness with the state.  


There are other modules to that program and software programming that could be available sooner than current timelines if more resources were identified, and that would be something that we would advocate for, as local health jurisdictions, as an essential part of increasing the tools that we have to manage the situation.


As you mentioned, in different jurisdictions across the state, certainly it’s in the thousands of actual calls that have come in to law enforcement, fire, public health jurisdictions from concerned citizens about either pieces of mail or substances that they’re concerned about.  Most of those are triaged and managed without having to sample any substances, but at many local levels, where there are level – or you’ve heard was Level A labs that are not the core reference labs that we have that the FBI uses in the state, but at these Level A labs, we’re finding it necessary to develop our capacity and provide testing even in a, quote, “noncredible” situation just in order to manage the local environment.  Again, Mayor Brown mentioned that these events occur at the local level.  


I know in my jurisdictions, we’ve had courthouses, we’ve had health and human service buildings, we’ve had schools, that have all been impacted by substances.  And by our local lab being able to do some initial testing and confirmation that, yes, it’s a noncredible threat, it, indeed, did not have any evidence of anthrax, parents were able to allow their kids to go to school and children were able to sleep at night as a result of the local public health infrastructure that was in place.


Now, what I would say is that all this points to the fact that we have an outstanding framework of public health infrastructure in this state.  We have great working relationships with our local colleagues and first responders.  We have great working relationships with the state.  What we need is more capacity.  We need a depth of capacity in order to sustain the vigilance that we’re all putting in place right now.  The norm is for public health officials.  I’m not referring to just health officers.  These are public health nurses, our laboratories.  Our epidemiologists, who we’re fortunate enough to have, are putting in twelve to sixteen hour days routinely for the past number of weeks.  This type of effort can’t sustain itself without burning people out, as Dr. Fielding mentioned, unless we can add to the capacity that we have at a local level.


So the things that we would be advocating for are the tools that can help us be more effective, like the REACT system that this state is developing, looking at the programming that Dr. Fielding mentioned that was modeled in the Democratic National Committee that looks at syndromes or similar type symptoms that people surface with.  That would address the issue the fire chief from Oakland mentioned as far as how do we tell when people from disparate aspects of the community surface with the same illnesses or symptoms?  How can we tell that they might be related?  It’s through enhanced intelligence gathering.


We know we’re all right now on a heightened state of alert.  I don’t know quite what that means, since we’re about as high at alert as we can be.  The reason we’re limited to that kind of vague heightened state of alert is our limited intelligence.  At a local public health level, we need to enhance our intelligence gathering capacity too so that we can serve the community in a more effective manner.  


So the things that we can do to modify and improve our surveillance, our intelligence gathering, our information sharing, and our capacity would be all the things that we’d like to address.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do we have any questions for Mr. Burton?


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Madam Chair?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  
Welcome, Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.  I do have a question, and I apologize also to Dr. Fielding for not being able to question him before he left.


It seems to me that everything we’ve heard so far really boils down to a massive infusion of support to our public health infrastructure in the state.  The chair of this committee has made heroic efforts, ever since I’ve been elected, I think, which seems like a long time ago, to get money, and it’s been vetoed and vetoed and vetoed or cut back, or whatever, in all the administrations.  And it’s the same story across the country.  We’ve seen in most of the proposed federal legislation lots of money for vaguely fighting bioterrorism, some of which theoretically is to go to public health.  


I wondered if the witnesses, yourself and those who follow, would assess for us the particular item or issue that we should support in contacting our federal representatives, because this state budget ain’t gonna do it.  If we got everything we wanted in the state budget, it wouldn’t be sufficient for all that you’re going to have to put into it.


There’s so much incredible waste and razing at the trough going on in the federal fields already for things that aren’t going to help us.  I went to law school on a national defense student loan, and I had nothing to do with national defense, I can assure you.  So what we really need is a national defense infusion of cash that builds up our public health infrastructure for the long term.


So if there are particular provisions, Madam Chair, and to the witnesses, that we should support immediately, one would be better than another, you know – if the Kennedy-Frist bill has more detail in it or whatever – I wonder if the witnesses could allude—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Kuehl, we actually have had Peter Hansel, with the Senate Office of Research, following very closely the three measures moving through Congress, and he’s part of this first panel.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Great.  I then apologize for jumping the gun.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, it’s an important question, and I think our health officers and the association included have lots of ideas about how much and whether it’s state versus federal or both.  If Mr. Burton wants to add to that comment, we can move then to the next speakers and get a little more detail.


DR. BURTON:  Just a very quick summary.  Under the leadership, Senator Ortiz, the health officers have identified prior to September 11 in excess of $20 million that were needed to shore up the infrastructure and make it as successful as possible.  In the last week we’ve done a reassessment based on the increased demands, and statewide there’s an estimate of about $70-80 million that are needed this year to be as effective, using the best practices that we know available, and an ongoing need of about $60 million a year, and this is just at the local level.  This isn’t addressing the state.


SENATOR KUEHL:  The question is:  How much of it would go to build the infrastructure for the future and not just, Oh yeah, let’s do everything we can to prepare for anthrax?


DR. BURTON:  Definitely a hundred percent would go to the infrastructure, would be the short answer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, I think all of it would go.  The numbers we were dealing with prior to September 11th were about $22 million for the local health/public health infrastructure across the state of California.  About $2½-3 million for the state surveillance piece to monitor and match and complement the local public health infrastructure, and that truly is disease surveillance even in good times.  Well, in times prior to September 11th, when the really incredible demands of disease surveillance – you know, TB, hepatitis C, chlamydia, which is incredibly alarming, all the mandated partner reporting requirements – there was a suggestion earlier that we may have to revisit that and look at expanded quarantine demands of our public health system – just those needs alone, the ongoing public health needs prior to September 11th, was about a $22 million price tag on the local level.  On the state level to match that, it was about $2½-3 million.  Again, it was prior to September 11th. 


What we now hear is it’s closer to, with the new demand and to come back to a good, sound system, about – $60 million?


DR. BURTON:  About $70-80 million this year and $60 million on an ongoing basis.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s incredible.  And it’s clear that this year in the state it’s going to be difficult, if not impossible, to draw that down.  The question is:  What are going to be our opportunities, whether it’s a state quarter-cent sales tax, as had been discussed and will come up in later testimony, and/or the various federal proposals?  I suspect and I think that we should as legislators consider all possibilities, particularly including the federal.


I am quite glad to hear in the federal discussion the public health infrastructure capacity building message, and now we’re adding some detail and texture to that.  That means epidemiologists, that means staff, that means upgrading the labs, equipment, communication systems, tracking systems.  Really, disease surveillance is a very key part of that.


With that—


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  Senator, I have one question.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, Assemblymember Rob Pacheco.  Are there others before we move to the next speaker that want to weigh in on this?  Okay, please.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  Recently it was announced that some – and I don’t know exactly what I’m describing – it’s a Washington system apparently for either biohazards or some kind of hazards that would apparently wash about, what, 2,000 people per day, or something like that?  I wasn’t quite sure, because it was a very expensive piece of equipment, and apparently there are two or three pieces of equipment that were purchased, or units that were purchased, and each cost them, I believe, $300,000, or something of that nature.  And yet, of all the instances that we have heard of, none of them seem to call for that type of action or that many people have to be completed all at once.  The bioterrorism we see is a different kind.


And so the question is:  As you begin to itemize the type of equipment and funding that you need, are you prioritizing?  And how are you allocating where your funding is going to go so that we don’t invest in equipment and things that perhaps might not meet the needs that we have right now?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you could quickly respond, the appropriate person, respond to that?


DR. BURTON:  I guess the only honest way I could respond is to my jurisdiction and how we responded to the survey that fed into this.  We did this as a team with all of our local responders – EMS, fire, law – and we said, “These are the scenarios we might face.  This is what we would need to do it.  Could we use it with bioterrorism?”  Because most of the time you don’t need fancy showers.  You can deal with it otherwise.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that brief response.  


If we can move to the next speaker.  We have Mr. Rabinovitz listed next, and hopefully, we can move quickly through the presentation and allow members time to ask questions.  I believe we have about ten minutes left for presentation and then questions also.  But if we could quickly go through the presentations, all critical, and, I think really great questions.


Please.


MR. GREGORY RABINOVITZ:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, and members of the committee.  I’ll get right to it.  My name’s Greg Rabinovitz.  I’m representing the Los Angeles Office of the FBI.  


We’re fortunate in Los Angeles in that this office has been at the forefront of the study and implementation of bioterrorism planning and research since probably early 1996.  While the specific circumstances of this threat are unique and unprecedented, we’re confident that through our longstanding relationship with local providers, police and fire departments, health departments, health services providers, that we’re prepared to respond to a bioterrorism incident in Southern California in a manner which will minimize the impacts on the citizens of the region and collect and preserve the evidence which may lead to the capture and prosecution of those responsible.


FBI Los Angeles maintains one of the nation’s largest standing law enforcement hazardous materials response teams, with seventeen trained hazardous materials technicians capable of downrange operations, seven HAZMAT support operators, and additional support staff.  Through its relationship with local fire department HAZMAT teams throughout the region, the team is capable of sustained operations both inside and outside urban areas.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Can I ask, is that – Madam Chair? – is that available for the whole state, or is that specific to the Los Angeles region?


MR. RABINOVITZ:  The Los Angeles field office serves seven counties, essentially in Southern California, as far north as San Luis Obispo County, into Santa Maria.  The other offices of the FBI share similar capacity, although smaller; the San Francisco office being the next largest team.  The office in Los Angeles is prepared to deploy anywhere in the nation, frankly, and certainly anywhere within California.


One of the reasons at the moment that the Los Angeles office is both so heavily staffed and not deployed to the East Coast is exactly that our headquarters in Washington is wont to maintain a presence and a capacity here on the West Coast.  So we are here, we are capable of responding in all areas of California, and would be supplemented by local teams too.


In addition, with a single telephone call we can reach back to nationally recognized experts on biological weapons and WMD operations.  If necessary, we can call for the deployment of substantial additional scientific and operational resources from headquarters there.


Our experience in both real responses and in training exercises through the nation has shown that our relationship with local first responders – fire, police, 

health – are our most valuable asset.  In Los Angeles, again, because we’ve been at this for a while, those relationships are extensive and longstanding.  With the Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department, the FBI is a founding member of the Terrorism Early Warning Group, which Dr. Fielding spoke about, an organization which serves as the regional communications hub for the collection, assessment, and dissemination of information both before, during, and in the aftermath of terrorism events.  The group has served as a model for other similar organizations throughout the nation and in the period since September 11th, has responded with the FBI, and been critical in the response to over 650 calls from the public, but largely from responders – fire departments and police departments – on the subject of anthrax and anthrax contamination and infection.


Agents of the FBI have been responsible for the implementation of the unified command system.  I heard Dr. Burton speak a little bit about incident command.  In terrorism response, this is kind of a new thing.  It was traditionally developed for major fire responses.  In California, again, there’s a lot of experience there because of the wild land fire responses.


We learned this from the fire department.  It works very well at these scenes.  It ensures that the command structure at a major incident is flexible enough to meet the kind of constantly changing nature of these terrorism crime scenes.  These are not like static crime scenes we’ve seen in the past or we deal with on more traditional types of crimes.


The unified command system is in place not just in the Los Angeles field office but throughout the FBI across the nation, and so it would be in place and functioning in San Francisco, Sacramento, San Diego divisions, or anywhere else in the nation for that matter.


In closing, I’d like to assure you that we are confident, we are prepared, and we are coordinated along with our local partners.  We are prepared to respond to a bioterrorism incident in Southern California in a manner which would minimize the impact on the citizens of the region and at that same time ensure that we collect and preserve the evidence which is going to be necessary and may lead to the capture and prosecution of the people responsible.


I’d just like to add one comment, because I’ve heard it echoed by members of the panel and on the committee, and that is I share concern for the notion that our response, while functioning at the moment, traditionally is one which is for a finite period of time:  we respond, we go back, and we recover.  We are, to a large degree, as representatives of the federal government, taxed locally in the same way that our local counterparts are.  We are capable of responding at the current level.  We are capable of responding at a greater level if need be but not for an indefinite period of time.  If what we see is a future which requires us to respond at this level over a very long period of time, or even continually, we’re going to have to either reallocate or add resources to be able to continue to do that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.  Let me ask members to hold off on questions until we get through the rest of the speakers.  We can then feel comfortable addressing questions to Mr. Rabinovitz and whomever else, but if we could quickly get through the testimony.  Thank you.


Welcome.


MR. JASON PATE:  Thank you, Senator, and thank you, members of the committee and other honored guests, for the opportunity to speak today.  In the interest of time, I will not repeat many of the points that my colleagues have made that I also wish to make.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Could you quickly identify yourself for the record?


MR. PATE:  I’m Jason Pate.  I’m manager of the WMD Terrorism Project at the Monterey Institute of International Studies, in Monterey.  


I think there are two critical issues that are going on when we’re talking about response to bioterrorism.  One is the response to the incident or the event itself.  I’ll talk about that first.  The second, however, is responding to the incident that is not announced.  And I think we really need to make the distinction of having the capacity to deal with both.


The first point, responding to the incidents, we have a lot of experience doing that.  We’ve been dealing with anthrax hoaxes for the past three years.  There’ve been over 2,500 false alarms in the last few weeks, at least another 160 hoaxes in the last few weeks, in addition to the actual attacks.  We’ve been very, very lucky that bioterrorism has manifested as it has.  The historical record shows a low technology, sort of low-end threat, and that is still the case with the anthrax attacks.  It’s a quantum leap in the type of agent that’s used, but we’re very lucky that not only have the attacks been announced in a threat letter, but the agent has been identified in the threat letter.  Clearly, the desire here is not to kill a large number of people, unless the perpetrators are very, very ignorant of the effects of their attack, which I do not believe.


The critical issue then is responding to the type of incident that is a nonincident, in a way:  being able to detect that there has been a covert release of a biological agent.  That is the type of capacity that we need to have in public health.  The other issue is it’s part public health, it’s part hazardous materials, it’s part law enforcement; and there are, as has been stated, a lot of mechanisms.  California’s uniquely positioned for that type of incident because we sort of live under the threat of imminent natural disaster at any moment.  Another state – Florida, for example – also has similar types of plans.  We’re very lucky to have those types of response mechanisms in place.


What we don’t have, and it’s because we’ve allowed the public health system to deteriorate, is the ground level surveillance detection.  As Senator Kuehl was asking what to focus on when talking about federal and state initiatives, I say focus on the emergency rooms, the public health system at that level, so that physicians, nurses, and other health professionals recognize immediately that there’s something suspicious going on.  It was only due to a very alert physician that the West Nile Virus was picked up on.  It’s really that level that I would focus on.


And in addition, at the same time that we’re talking about the bioterrorist threat, we need to be careful not to forget that there is a continuing conventional threat of terrorism both from abroad and from domestic extremists in the country.  So we don’t want to shift out resources away from that type of response, but we need to add as best we can.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that brief, but concise, testimony.  I’m sure there will be questions afterwards.  Thank you.


Our not quite final but second to the final speaker is Mr. Reingold please.  Welcome.


DR. ARTHUR REINGOLD:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.  Good morning.  Rather than read the remarks I submitted, I think I’ll just elaborate on a few things in the interest of saving time, because certainly a number of the previous speakers have said things similar to what I think are important priorities.


First let me say that I come from the School of Public Health at the University of California at Berkeley.  But before becoming an academic, I did work at the Centers for Disease Control for eight years and have worked in state and local health departments as well as internationally.  So my perspective on this is, in part, formed by twenty years of working in infectious disease epidemiology and in part by the fact that I have a wife who works for the California Department of Health Services.  


I think that if I were to just make several key comments, they would be the following.


The first is I would certainly echo the fact that the single greatest need in order to improve readiness for bioterrorism is a much stronger surveillance system to detect infectious diseases in general, and that given the limited resources we have available for anything, one of the good aspects of that is that it has dual use.  That is, that it will be of use to us as a state and as a society, even if we are never attacked by a bioterrorist threat, and it is important in a variety of other ways.  So it will not be money wasted, even if we are lucky enough to escape such attacks.


I would caution against relying on the federal government to provide these resources.  I co-direct with Dr. Vugia from the California Department of Health Services, the California Emergent Infections Program.  We receive about $2½ million a year for greatly enhanced surveillance for infectious diseases in three Bay Area counties, working with those counties:  Alameda, Contra Costa, and San Francisco.  It is a wonderful project.  It brings badly needed federal resources to infectious disease surveillance in the Bay Area counties that are involved, but it is a research project, and it’s funded for three-, four-, five-year blocks at a time, and there’s no guarantee that those resources will continue.


I think if you want a strong public health infrastructure in California or in any state, it’s state and local resources that ultimately need to pay for the well-trained individuals on the ground who are going to be collecting the data, analyzing the data, and deciding when a response is appropriate.  I think relying on federal dollars will be helpful for some things, and I’ll give you one example, but I’m not sure it’s the best way to improve our ongoing readiness in public health.  


One area where I think perhaps – in answer to your question about where could we ask for more federal dollars – it would be helpful, I think many people in the room know that CDC has recently been working very hard to develop what’s called the platform for complete electronic surveillance, which will take the paper out of disease reporting and make it all electronic, using materials and software and hardware that have been available for a number of years but simply haven’t been affordable by public health.


The implementation of that at a state and local level, however, at the moment is largely envisioned to be paid for by state and local resources.  That is, the software, the hardware, and the training needed to implement that at the moment is going to have to come from the local level.  Once that system’s in place, of course, it’ll be maintainable at a much lower cost.  But I think if you wanted to emphasize one area where perhaps you could ask for additional federal resources, it would be in the area of actually implementing complete electronic disease surveillance at the local and state level.  And I think that would be a substantial contribution.


I just want to make two other points.  One is, we are lucky, as a number of the speakers have already said, to have quite good local and state health departments with many dedicated, excellent employees.  But those departments are understaffed and have been for a long time.  They are underpaid, making it very difficult to hire and retain top quality people.  And those are state and local issues.  You cannot expect to attract top quality people to help the public health if you don’t pay salaries that are competitive, if you don’t give them opportunities for continuing education, if you don’t give them reasonable spaces in which to work, reasonable staff support, and other things.  There are other things that those really good people could be doing and being better paid for.


And finally, I’d like to comment on something that the other panelists haven’t spoken to which has to do with training in public health, because I sit in an academic institution that does have responsibility for training new public health people, as well as an unmet need for continuing education of people who are working in public health now.  Given that there is only one school of public health west of Oklahoma City that is not in the state of California, and that’s the University of Washington, I think we as a state need to look very carefully at whether we have an adequate educational program in place to train people in public health.  I think it’s of public record that UCLA a few years ago tried to close its School of Public Health because it decided that it was not a high enough priority, and that effort was defeated only be a concerted effort on the part of public health advocates here in California.  


I’m sorry to say at Berkeley at the moment, that the School of Public Health is in a building which is seismically challenged.  The Health Sciences Initiative at Berkeley, which is an innovative effort to raise $400 million for health science research, focuses on public health as one of its key components but includes almost no resources for public health.  In fact, the current plan calls for the demolition of the School of Public Health and in its place a building of the neurosciences research laboratory building.  Where the School of Public Health will be put is under discussion at the moment, but it’s been made clear to us that what facility will be available is going to be limited by the lack of capital funds for a building, lack of interest on the part of private donors in public health, and the fact that the campus simultaneously needs to meet the surge in undergraduate enrollment.


So I would suggest that as a state, not just individual purposes but as a state, we need to look to see what capacity we need for training people in public health and to assure that that capacity is there.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  We’re six minutes behind the conclusion of this panel but I think the really important testimony, and I don’t want to have Mr. Hansel believe that we are rushing him at all, but I do want to allow members to ask questions of any of the speakers.  I think the question is:  Where do we find the money?


Welcome.


MR. PETER HANSEL:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members.  That is a good question indeed.  


I’ve been asked to give you an overview of the federal proposals that are shaping up that would provide funding for bioterrorism response and public health improvements, of which there are many.  I won’t go through them in detail.  There is an outline, I think, in your packet that we’ve prepared that’s current as of a few days ago that goes through them in detail.


Basically, I think there’s a good news/bad news message based on our assessment of the proposals that are taking shape.  The good news is there is a lot of activity going on.  There’s been a lot of debate and a lot of hearings at the congressional level.  There’s also, I think, general agreement that a good chunk of the Emergency Supplemental Appropriation funding that Congress has approved ought to go into bioterrorism response and public health improvements, perhaps $2 billion or more.  So that’s good news.


The bad news is Congress is very much in a state of flux.  They’re very much reacting, as was pointed out, to issues of the moment.  Things are changing very rapidly and they’re kind of learning as they go and, yet, tending a very large pot of money at the same time.


So, in essence, we really can’t say at this point how much is likely to come our way and for what purposes at this particular point in time.  


We count at the moment six Senate proposals, three more than the three you mentioned.  Actually, there are dozens of bioterrorism related proposals that have been introduced, but there are about six in the Senate that we’ve identified that actually earmarked some portion of their funds to state and local governments.  So we focused on those in our outline.  There are two proposals in the House, including a large proposal before it by the House Democratic Caucus a few weeks ago.  And then the President has weighed in with his own proposal a couple of weeks ago as well.


Generally, the Senate proposals, including the three core proposals – the Kennedy-Frist bill, the Edwards-Hagel bill, and the Bayh proposal, which is backed by a coalition of ex-governors – all provide about $500 million to a billion for state bioterrorism response and public health functions.  The Kennedy-Frist bill currently is at the upper end of that range at about a billion dollars.  That’s on page 1 of your outline, if you’re interested.  Edwards-Hagel and the Bayh proposals are in the 

$500 million range, and those are on the second page.  I won’t go through how they outline the purposes of that funding, but we can go into that if you want.


Also encouraging, as I mentioned, is the Bush Administration has stepped forward.  After initial comments from Secretary Thompson that things were under control, the Administration has actually come back with a proposal to put more resources than people expected, I think, into this area.  They’ve currently earmark about $2.2 billion for bioterrorism and public health improvements, although the proposal is very heavily skewed towards vaccine stockpiling and relatively less focused on state and local capabilities.  About $175 million of the $2.2 billion actually would go to state and local functions, and about $1.1 billion to vaccine stockpiling.


At this point, the Senate is definitely taking the lead in terms of the process.  We’re told the Senate is working quickly to try to coalesce the various proposals into one or two proposals and move those into committee markups in the next week or two.  We don’t know yet whether that’ll be a single proposal or perhaps a few alternative proposals.  Once that happens, we’re told the House is likely to start moving more quickly.


In essence, Congress is trying to sort out relative priorities of how much money to put into vaccine stockpiling, into the national stockpile effort, both for anthrax and smallpox vaccinations.  There are national goals that have been mentioned in those areas.  They’re very concerned about food safety and the agricultural food production system.  They’re very concerned about streamlining the drug approval process, getting more drugs into usage or new applications of drugs that are currently on the market that can be used, in essence, to enhance the number of weapons in the arsenal.  They are, at the same time, very much talking about impproving state and local capabilities.  I think they are going through a learning process and getting a lot of testimony about how badly funded the system is and how much they really need to put money into core public health infrastructure.  So we’re encouraged on that score.


They also have identified hospital capacity as a funding priority, the need for surge capacity at the ER level and hospital level, and equipment and training of hospital personnel.  And they’ve also recognized the need for emergency first response enhancement, including training and additional staffing, perhaps in the first responder entities that might be called into play.


I guess, in conclusion, there are a number of issues to keep an eye on with the federal proposals.  One is obviously the overall size of the proposal that comes forward to the relative allocation of the resources among the various priorities that I mentioned.  Another, is how much flexibility the state has as a result of the funding.  At this point, some of the proposals use more of a categorical funding approach, which are more restrictive, and others use more open-ended block grants based on population and presumably to address the kind of needs that are being voiced at the local level.  The state’s interest would be in having a more flexible design of plan itself.


At any rate, we will continue to monitor and keep the committee informed of the proposals as they develop.  We work closely with Vienna Gregor and Associates in Washington, which is the Senate’s contract lobbyist in Washington.  We actually manage the contract with them.  And we’re available to assist the committee in further developing and at some point forwarding recommendations, if that’s your interest.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It will be our interest, and I thank you for that.  And I encourage members to certainly ask Senate Office of Research to keep us informed directly.  We’re going to anxiously follow the federal funding opportunities and hopefully stand poised on a state level if there’s a need to do implementing legislation or draw down matching legislation.  I know there’s some discussion about generating some potential state dollars.  I don’t know if our other witnesses later on are going to address that, but that is something we will be watching closely as well.


We’re are about fifteen minutes behind our second panel starting, but I do want to allow members the opportunity to ask questions of any of the panel participants at this first part of our hearing today, if they would like to do so.


Mr. Wyman.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  Thank you.  This is a process question, and it’s one that I raise in a sensitive way.  But at the hearing I attended earlier in Fresno, Alex Jones was supposed to be releasing a report as the chair of the State Strategic Committee on Terrorism.  I’ve been trying to find out the status of that and just actually, from one of Dr. Fielding’s staff, found out that the report had not been delivered, apparently, to the Governor’s office until yesterday, which was a day late; and in fact, it’s not available.  She referenced, and I’m very sensitive to the issue of the release of sensitive information, but in the executive order – and I think very helpful to this hearing as we continue – is the notion of hospitals, emergency medical supplies, and other health facilities and systems that are crucial to our ability to rescue and administer those who may be infected by terrorist acts.  This is kind of one of the calls of this hearing, and I’m disappointed that that report, which was supposed to have been released yesterday, isn’t before us.  I think that we need to maybe ask Peter—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We do have speakers later on in the program.  Mr. Guerin, I believe, is here.  We have panels broken up into expertise for various sub-areas.  We do have, I understand, Mr. Guerin here from the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services.  He is the executive officer of the State Strategic Committee on Terrorism.  So hopefully that question can be directed to him at the appropriate time.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  All right.  My only point is that this report was to be made available so that the work and the background for this committee and others could be done.  We don’t want to have anything released that shouldn’t be released, but as I look at the executive order, there’s some just nuts and bolts kinds of things that I think would have been valuable for our preparation and to discuss it at the hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect we’re going to hear that from the subsequent panels.  I think that’s certainly a significant comment.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Kuehl, you have a question for our panelists?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Just very quickly because it’s a very ambitious, obviously, speaker’s agenda today.


To Mr. Hansel, my question would be some analysis, if possible, from SOR, because as I heard you present it, and as I looked at the proposals for federal funding, we seem to have a tradeoff between getting more money and having it be designated by the feds or something.  My experience as the executive director of a couple of 501c3s is give me a lot more money and then if you designate where it’s first to be spent, I’ll make it fit.  But often, the flexibility that might be built into a block grant causes two problems for us.  One, it’s about half as much money as we get the other way; and the other is we dicker endlessly about what the block grant should go for.


So I wonder if you can give some analysis about whether my thought is correct, that we could get more money if we had categoricals.


MR. HANSEL:  Just off the top of my head, I think you’re on the right track.  So far the larger proposals are more categorically oriented.


SENATOR KUEHL:  It’s usually easier to sell to us, too, when I see a list of things; you know, this is getting a dollar and that’s getting a dollar.  I feel like I’m voting for something I can tell my constituents, “Here’s exactly what we bought.”  If that’s the way the feds are going, I’d be interested to hear from Dr. Bontá and others whether we might be able to use more money even if it was categorically listed.


MR. HANSEL:  Good point.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just ask a question of any of the panelists.  Oh, I’m sorry.  Senator Romero.  Question?


SENATOR GLORIA ROMERO:  Thank you.  And again, let me commend the chair for calling this very important hearing together.


I’m going to go ahead and ask the question.  I don’t know if it’s the appropriate panel, but I’d like other panelists to think about it as well.  I get calls into the office; I get asked about the warnings that are going forward, very sort of abstract warnings that there may be some type of attack.  What I’m hearing, of course, is anthrax.  That’s what people are thinking about.  There’s discussion and debate about whether or not that is wise, what type of warning we give, whether or not we should start leveling it, say, Level 1 to Level 4, and other issues.  


I’d like to hear your response as to what role should we play, what role by California implementing some type of a warning system.  How do we begin to respond to a serious concern without, at the same time, creating unnecessary cause for alarm and anxiety that I don’t think is good for California or good for public health either?  Can you begin to give us some direction as to what we might think about in some type of an advisory or warning system?


MR. RABINOVITZ:  Just quickly from the federal perspective, I can tell you that same debate is going on at our headquarters in Washington when they decide each day about what to make public and what not; in fact, what information they have and don’t and what would be beneficial and harmful.  My best suggestion would be that we make sure that someone from your office or the panel here, the committee here, is in touch with the people who are having that same debate in Washington so that to some degree the federal and state decisions about what’s distributed are coordinated.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me quickly share, the next panel, Senator Romero and other members, is really the panel that we’ve broken up on that very question, focusing on first responders to emergencies and disasters.  We’ve broken that up by three categories:  the public health first responders, the emergency service first responders, and then the fire and law enforcement.  So I think every panel obviously has a role in that, but we’re trying to focus a little more clearly on those true first responders in this new era that we’re living in.  


I would encourage those members, as they come forward for the next panel, to keep in mind Senator Romero’s question because it is one that we get in our offices, we get called.  It’s the one that we face everyday, and it’s really difficult to balance sort of the message not to panic and put a lot of information and education out there but also to be well informed, so that if and when such occurrences actually arise, that we are informed and we know how to address the concerns of our constituents and the public.


Rather than phrase a question, I want to just quickly close this panel on a response.  What I’d hoped to gather out of the testimony here and the presentation here was sort of the reality of the ongoing demands on our public health system that have gone unmet and have been underfunded and have exceeded capacity for some time.  But also to reiterate in this time of lots of calls and concern that there are very important public health functions that are being left unattended.  This probably is going to increase.  It’s not going to go away, the really important tracking of communicable diseases, the quarantine mandates and functions, the partner reporting requirements of public health, the disease surveillance.  When you have an outbreak of salmonella or E. coli in a rural community, you can’t quickly trace what the source is, in a school or in a grocery store.  


Those are the ongoing things that we have not attended to and are going to be less attended to as these providers are responding to extreme and heightened and, as of today, still unfounded concerns about anthrax in California.  This is not going to go away.  We are living in a new era of heightened concern and fear, and I suspect that this is going to be with us for a number of years.  What we do in that time to prepare well is these are the individuals that are going to guide us through that process.


But with that, I would like to ask my colleagues’ indulgence to have us move into the next set of panelists and thank the first panel for all of your testimony and encourage you to stay.  Thank you once again for the hard work you do.


We’re now moving to the second panel which deals with the first responders of emergencies and disasters.  We divided that agenda into three subpanels:  public health, emergency services, fire and law enforcement.  So let me welcome our director of Health Services, Dr. Diana Bontá, Mr. Steve Rottman, Mr. Michael Ascher, Sydney Harvey, and Mr. Ross – I don’t know if I’ve seen Bob join us – from the California Endowment.


Welcome, members.  I apologize, we’re a bit behind on time.  So if you could have your presentation be brief but, as always, significant, and then if members could hold off their questions, maybe we can catch up on the time.


But welcome to all of you, and welcome, Director Bontá, and thank you for accommodating us in your busy schedule.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  Madam Chair?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Pacheco.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  I would just make the point, and perhaps the panelists, if they discuss it, that might avoid then some questions on my part.  I know we want to get on and stay on time, but I did have a question from this panel and they might be able to address this.


What are the real response capabilities to the various state testing and screening laboratories, and what will it take to get the state in a position to respond?  If everybody says they have a program, what are the real capabilities?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s a good question.  Welcome, Dr. Bontá.


DR. DIANA BONTÁ:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair and members, for inviting me to testify on this very critical issue.  I appreciate the committee’s ongoing interest and certainly support of public health programs throughout the state of California.


Let me just briefly say that certainly we have been very concerned in California.  There have been a number of actions first taken by the state.  Governor Gray Davis has led the creation of the California Anti-Terrorism Center which enables all law enforcement agencies to share information on terrorist threats and activities.  Additionally, the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services coordinates and responds to all types of hazards, including the biological or chemical terrorism event, and I know they are here to testify later.


Let me turn my attention certainly to the area of public health.  As you know, traditional public health activities have focused on preventing the spread of communicable diseases and ensuring the safety of the air that we breathe, the water that we drink, and the food that we eat.  Most recently, public health efforts have expanded to include disease prevention activities to promote longer and healthier lives.


Certainly we are faced right now with an extreme challenge.  In recent years, the public health systems in the nation’s largest cities have become more involved in terrorism planning and preparedness, using funds that were appropriated by federal legislation.  Under this program, the nation’s largest 120 cities, including eighteen in California, have received funds for training, exercises, and equipment to enhance their capacity to respond to incidences involving weapons of mass destruction, including biological or chemical terrorism.  The program does train local first responders, firefighters, police, emergency management teams, and medical personnel who will be on the front lines in the event of any events that occur in a U.S. city.


In addition, this effort has been enhanced over the past several years by funding from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, allowing for the development of the Metropolitan Medical Response System in several California cities.  Last month, HHS awarded first-year contracts to three additional cities in the state, bringing California to a total of fourteen.  These funds have provided an essential first step for developing a coordinated response to bioterrorism that involves law enforcement, public health, and the medical community.


In 1999, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention developed the Chemical and Biological Terrorism Response and Preparedness Program.  California and other states and large cities were awarded five-year funding to help develop responses and preparedness plans.  We have been concentrating on five areas that we’ve been funded for, and those include preparedness, planning, and readiness assessment; surveillance; epidemiology capacity; laboratory capacity, both for biological agents and for chemical agents; and a health alert network training system.  These grants were intended to kick-start bioterrorism preparedness at the state level and also at the local health department level.


We received about $2.5 million per year to develop the program over the five years, and we were the only applicant in the country to receive money in all five areas.  Los Angeles County, in addition, received close to a million dollars in a separate award for focus in three areas.


Since the start of the Centers for Disease Control program, California has made great strides in biological and chemical terrorism preparedness.  The state has begun expanding and developing new disease surveillance tools to detect evidence of terrorism as early as possible.  And using this network of state and local laboratories – and Dr. Ascher will address this further on – California has strengthened its public health system to provide diagnostic services for all major bacteriological bioterrorism agents.  Fortunately, ten years ago in the planning stages was a new public health laboratory for the state of California, and that opened the first phase of the statewide lab.  It opened just this year.


Under the Governor’s leadership, California has also built a strong partnership with state, local, and federal agencies.  Federal funds have been used for developing the communications network for early notification and response.  Improved planning and the coordination of efforts has been a significant achievement.  And as I mentioned, the state Emergency Management System has been the backbone for developing biological and chemical terrorism emergency response strategies.  


The state’s response and preparedness programs are tested on a regular basis, and I think this is very important.  We had a major exercise involving a simulated incident that was completed last month in the Bay Area.  We have had a series of hospital response meetings that were held last month – three of them – dealing with hospital biological and chemical terrorism response.  We’ve also been participating as well with our colleagues in the hospital community in planning for an exercise which will take place in November on a statewide basis.


In recent weeks the department has been active on several subcommittees.  The subcommittees are part of the Governor’s State Strategic Committee on Terrorism.  The Governor asked me to co-chair the Subcommittee on the Protection of Public Health.  The other co-chair was Dr. Michael Drake, vice president for Health Affairs at the University of California.  And last month we convened a meeting of the subcommittee to discuss the state of readiness to prevent or respond to a potential terrorist attack.  The subcommittee membership spans a very large array of our areas of public health, private healthcare, emergency response, and it includes partners from health and human services’ agencies at both the state and at the local levels.  And in addition, the department’s staff has also co-chaired several other subcommittees, including the Subcommittee on Food and Agriculture Security, and actively collaborated on the Cyberterrorism, Radiological Health, and Infrastructure subcommittees as well.


We continue to have quite a number of events that are hoaxes in California which has really placed a severe strain on all of our systems throughout California, as you know.  We’re in communication with local health departments.  We have had a number of telephone conference calls, at least three or four of them, in recent weeks so that we’re communicating on an ongoing basis.  I’d really like to commend Dr. Richard Burton and certainly all of the membership with the California Conference of Local Health Officers because they’ve been such an integral part of this network of guidance.


I have had two telephone calls as well with all of our other states in the country.  Tommy Thompson, Secretary Thompson, participated in these telephone calls, as well as the head of the Centers for Disease Control, Dr. Jeff Copeland.  I’m also a member of the advisory committee to the director, Jeff Copeland, and we’ve been meeting ongoing to these terrorist events at least twice to three times a year in terms of planning for major public health activities, including this area of bioterrorism as well.


I’d like to end by letting you know that the department has extensive expertise to address the threat of biological and chemical terrorism.  You might say, “What does that include?”  It includes microbiologists; chemists; aerosol physicists with extensive diagnostic laboratory expertise in the Department of Public Health laboratories; drinking water engineers and chemists that are responsible for oversight of the state’s drinking water systems; physicians who not only serve as public information officers but they’re joined by epidemiologists with medical expertise that provides the investigative training to track infectious diseases.  We also have public health and safety peace officers that are actually considered quite a corps of peace officers designated in the Health Department that are in charge of regulating the food facilities throughout California, drugs and medical device manufacturing.  We also have health physicists to address radiation safety as well, and a professional staff certainly trained in the use of biosafety Level 3 personnel protective gear.  It’s all part of our system of protection at the state level in terms of our state personnel, and certainly that’s joined as well on the local level with assistance from the federal government in the event of an incident that would tap our resources here in California.


I’d like to conclude and certainly be available for questions, and Dr. Michael Ascher, chief of our Viral and Ricksettial Labs, is here as well to address in detail some of the capacity of the California laboratory systems.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  Let me ask members to please jot down their questions and reserve those for the conclusion of all the speakers’ presentation.  Let me remind the speakers to please identify yourselves for the record.  I’m reminded by the sergeants that we need to do that.


The next speaker is – Dr. Ascher is next or is Mr. Rottman next?


DR. STEVE ROTTMAN:  I’m Rottman, and I’m listed.  But if you want Ascher, you can have him.


SENATOR ORTIZ: 
Okay, then you go ahead and proceed.


DR. ROTTMAN:  Okay.  I’m Dr. Steven Rottman.  I direct the UCLA Center for Public Health and Disasters.  I’m a faculty member in the Emergency Department at UCLA, and I also hold a position on the faculty in the School of Public Health.


I have been happy, listening to the proceedings, to hear so many people, both on the panel and up on the stage, mention that this is not only a bioterrorism problem, and I think that’s important to know.  The total public health system infrastructure involves preparedness for all types of disasters, whether they’re natural or whether they are unnatural, but we sense a lot of urgency now to proceed along a biological track because that’s what’s happening on the eastern half of the United States.


We have had natural disasters.  California is probably the ranking authority in this country on natural disasters, and certainly in the decade of the ’90s we were well-endowed.  The federal government was spending about a billion dollars a week in natural disaster relief alone, and that was as of a couple of years ago.  So this is a big problem.  We’ll always have those.  They’re always going to challenge our public health responses in many of the areas that Dr. Bontá identified in terms of environmental health and care of our populations.


We think that public health preparedness can result in a dual system type of planning that doesn’t necessarily have to be all natural hazards or all bioterrorism but perhaps can integrate elements of the core public health functions that will be differentially impacted, depending upon what the hazard is.  And that’s kind of the approach that we have taken in our programs that we’re working on at the university in collaboration with some of our partners in the public health community.  Certain disasters might very well impact environmental health issues, clean water, proper sanitation, displaced populations, community health programs.  Those are common challenges in a natural disaster.  Whereas, the critical needs of epidemiology, surveillance, laboratory function, crucial communications between all these agencies, any involvement now of law enforcement and federal law enforcement for a biological issue, especially one by intention, will stress other parts of the public health system. 


So we think that all of these things are in need of development so that they can be ramped up and perhaps focused on as the hazards present themselves.  And I think perhaps by not attending to the development of all of these on block, we find ourselves in a natural posture where we have an outbreak of an infectious disease that we’re playing catch-up with.  And I think had we been moving along in those directions all along, we would have been in a better position.  Certainly, we have in this state, because we’ve been funded and we have been planning and anticipating what would happen in California were there to be a biological incident – we anticipated it, we’ve been planning for it – I just don’t think we expected it to happen three weeks ago.  And that’s sort of the nature of the beast.


The other issue I think that I would highlight is really in reference to what Dr. Reingold mentioned in terms of the state of public health education basically in the western United States and specifically here in California.  In 1995, I believe, the Association of Schools of Public Health began convening a series of three meetings to try and figure out a way that they could introduce more emergency and disaster public health education curriculum into schools of public health in this country, recognizing the fact that there is a lot of public health involved, and, at the time, natural disasters, and thinking forward into biological disasters.  Again, whether those are terrorist or whether we’re saddled with a large-scale influenza epidemic, for example, it doesn’t have to be on purpose.  


Being part of those proceedings for the times that they met, I found it interesting that there were a number of people and deans who said, “We would be interested in this but we have no funding to support it.”  A given faculty member might say, “Even if I wanted to do this, it would be on top of my additional load.  We don’t have the capacity and we don’t have resources.”  It’s kind of the same song that you’ve been hearing for the part of the day that involves every other element within the public health infrastructure.


We took this to heart, at least at our institution at UCLA, and we developed a series of courses, trying to prepare the master students who were going to be the public health professionals in the future to understand how disasters impact populations and what their roles in public health will be.  Having established the center four years ago, we are now in a position where we have, through unbelievable clawing and scratching at soft money, able to offer a six-course curriculum that deals specifically with issues of disasters in public health, and two of those are specific in the area of infectious diseases and epidemiology.  


So we’re there.  Our programs are not only open to our master students, we opened them to the community so we can have people who are public health practitioners sit in the classroom and sort of cement academic concepts with best field practices.


And I think, just to echo what Dr. Reingold said, there needs to be some commitment from somewhere to sustain the core functions of academic public health in many areas but certainly in these areas, and whether that involves finding a building to house the School of Public Health at UC Berkeley or keeping the School of Public Health viable at UCLA, all of these things, I think need to be built into the long-term planning.  These are not quick fixes.  There’s a great urgency to have a quick fix, and there’s a lot of energy going there, and I think appropriately, given how far behind we’ve been.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I need to ask you to please wrap up your comments.  It is important, but I do want to get to the other speakers and allow time for questions.


DR. ROTTMAN:  I think for the long-haul planning, that’ll take time, and those underpinnings have to be set in place.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, and it’s a message that I want to continue to hear.  It’s music to my ears.  Unfortunately, it was brought about by this national crisis.


Welcome, Dr. Ascher.  If you could please state your name and title for the record.


DR. MICHAEL ASCHER:  Yes, I’m Dr. Michael Ascher, chief of the Viral and Ricksettial Disease Laboratory of the Department of Health Services.  I’ve also been recently designated as the lead medical officer for bioterrorism in the department.  I bring to the problem 28 years experience, starting with an active duty assignment at the now renowned United States Army Medical Research Institute on Infectious Disease as the chief of medicine there and investigator in bacteriology, which is certainly relevant to one of the agents here.  And I’m also the principal investigator on the grant that Dr. Bontá mentioned with the CDC.


I thank you for inviting me to testify.  Many of my remarks will echo what you’ve already heard from several speakers, and I’ll try to focus in on a few of the details, particularly in reference to the anthrax, the “fashionable organism of the day” as it were.


Interestingly, California has had some experiences that are really helpful.  We had a trial by fire at the end of ’98 with a huge number of anthrax hoaxes.  You probably remember them down here.  At the time, members of our department got in a proactive relationship with law enforcement at the federal and local level and came up with a plan for how to respond and what not to do in those incidences of hoaxes.  Clearly, you can figure out what happened over time.  But this plan was actually adopted as the national model for such a response plan.


Through these partnerships and this proactive planning, you might be interested in knowing that the first arrest of a perpetrator of a hoax was made in Northern California in the United States.


The first goal of public health, therefore, is prevention, and this experience in our preparedness planning had a major role in lessening and stopping the hoaxes in 1998 and, I feel, lessening the impact of hoaxes around the events since October.  I think we had a fairly moderated response compared to what happened in other places.


Part of the successful response model – and this is the one thing if you take nothing else away from this talk, take this point – was helping the first responders, the HAZMAT and police and fire, understand that in contrast to a chemical event where people fall over right now, a biological event will present as the occurrence of disease in the community.  This lessens the burden on the first responders, but it places the burden fully on the shoulders of the public health community.


This distinction was not made clear in the early federal planning, as you can probably see from the sequence.  What have we done directly into this area?  We heard a minute ago about some of the surveillance activities that are very clear.  We have several full-time surveillance and epidemiologic response staff.  This group has worked tirelessly to develop detailed response documents, met frequently with local communicable disease staff and health officers, and have just this week begun intense planning for an operational strike force in this focus area targeted at anthrax.


Although an astute clinician would ideally recognize the occurrence of a biothreat disease, it is equally likely that a laboratory result will be the red flag for a case.  The anthrax patient in Florida had a very unusual finding in his spinal fluid that led to the diagnosis of anthrax.  Because most local clinical and hospital laboratories do not have the capability to confirm biothreat microorganisms, a laboratory response network was set up in collaboration with CDC that provides rapid confirmatory testing support to a local laboratory.  A lab component worked the best of all parts in the response in Florida and obviously was critical in providing the alert for the occurrence of anthrax.  


Interestingly, as in the case of the national protocol for a proper response to a biothreat hoax, the national network is modeled on the California Local Public Health Laboratory System.  Through a program of cooperation and rapid communication, our thirty-eight local public health laboratories have banded together to provide mutual support for unusual diseases and specialization.  As part of the CDC program, three major local public health laboratories have been funded to provide confirmatory testing support to the local jurisdictions or regions.  This is in addition to the central laboratories in Berkeley and Richmond and Los Angeles, as was mentioned.


Activation of this network recently to deal with the flurry of letters and powders has been largely successful, and further plans are being developed to enhance this capacity and performance.  One cannot underestimate the power of this network approach in responding to an event compared to other states that have only one laboratory with such capacity.  I will also enlarge on that answer in the question period for this specific issue.


Another key element of the response highlighted by the anthrax attacks is the delivery of appropriate antibiotic treatment to at-risk individuals.  We’ve had recent practice in this area with mass prophylaxis surrounding meningitis cases but certainly not of the scale required by a bioterrorism attack.


Several months prior to the events of September 11th, the department convened a working group to develop logistical plans to deal with the pharmaceutical stockpile and deliver appropriate medications as needed.  These plans have identified the key players that may be required, and we are attempting to fill gaps in the program.  In my recent experience in this area, I’ve learned the term that “all emergencies are local.”  This means that in spite of the best design federal or state response plans, the first twenty-four to forty-eight hours of response to any event will succeed or fail based on the actions of the local health jurisdictions.  California’s health officers have been acutely aware of this fact and are working intensely to organize and inform their peers in a manner that would allow them to handle the early part of an event.  The state role in this is that we have developed a secure Web system to allow rapid alerts and communication with local health jurisdictions to provide the most accurate information to the extended California network.  


I said one point to take home.  Let’s take a second one, please.  As an example, it would be absolutely critical during an event that health officers provide consistent messages to the press and public.  Most experts in the field agree with me that between ninety-five to ninety-nine percent of the success of our public health responses to bioterrorism is dependent on what we tell the public.  In a noncritical period, the department can provide valuable educational materials and links to other information sources through this Web-based training network.


I hope I have left you with a feeling, as reflected in the remarks of the Governor a couple of weeks ago in Los Angeles, that California is probably the best prepared state in the nation.


Thank you for your invitation and attention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Ascher.


We have two more speakers.  I’d like to welcome Senator Escutia who has joined us.  We are trying to move quickly through a lot of very valuable testimony, and I’ve asked members to hold questions until the end of each of the panel presentations.  Thank you, all.  I certainly have questions for Director Bontá and Dr. Ascher.


Our next speaker is Sydney Harvey, if you could please identify yourself for the record.  And welcome.


DR. SYDNEY HARVEY:  My name is Dr. Sydney Harvey.  I’m the laboratory director for the Los Angeles County Public Health Laboratory.  And thanks to you, Senator … (end of tape)


… in the event of a bioterrorism attack was that the laboratories would be a support group and know that the surveillance mechanism would be primary and the laboratories would be back there, helping out, if needed.  As it turns out, of course, as Dr. Ascher has pointed out, the laboratories have been key in this, and it’s been very stressful.  I’m going to be a little more bleak in my remarks perhaps than other people, and I regret that, but this is an opportunity for us to be heard, and I want to be as candid as possible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We need to hear honest testimony.  Thank you for that candor.


DR. HARVEY:  Let me give you a quick historical perspective.  Over the last several decades, there seems to be a growing perception that public health laboratories are not a necessary organization.  I think personally that this has come about because of two reasons.  One being the idea that infectious disease has been conquered.  In fact, in 1979 our then-surgeon general stated that infectious disease was conquered, and we should now turn our attention to chronic diseases like cancer.  


The second reason I think that public health laboratories have been felt to be perhaps obsolete is that there’s been a proliferation of clinical laboratories – private clinical laboratories, hospital clinical laboratories.  It is surprising to me how many health professionals, let alone the public, do not know the difference in the types of services that are provided by a public health laboratory as opposed to a clinical laboratory.  I spent the greater part of my professional career in what is now the largest clinical laboratory in the United States, so I can speak from both sides.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you quickly provide that distinction?


DR. HARVEY:  Yes.  Clinical laboratories are paralyzed if they get a specimen for rabies.  They don’t know what to do with it.  They don’t handle food-borne diseases.  They don’t know what to do with a food specimen.  They don’t do water analysis.  Public health laboratories are the only laboratories that provide these services to protect the community:  to look for water-borne disease, food-borne disease, protection from animal transmitted diseases.  So there is an important distinction.  Clinical laboratories treat personal problems, personal diagnostic testing.  Public health laboratories support the programs in protecting the community against a variety of diseases or environmental hazards.  Very different focus.


Now, because of the decades of underfunding because of this perception that public health laboratories were no longer necessary, the capability of all public health laboratories to respond to routine emergencies has been severely reduced.  None has the surge capacity needed when confronted with an emergency of the magnitude we are now experiencing.  A fact consistently overlooked by health professionals, as I just mentioned, as well as the public is that public health laboratories are really the bulwark of all health departments, ensuring, as I mentioned, that the community is protected from these types of diseases transmitted through agents or water that everyone in the community is subject to.


There’s been the feeling that public health laboratories only work with the indigent.  You know, that they’re the testing laboratories for the unfortunate individuals that have no money, and these are the only people who are at risk of infectious disease.  This is completely untrue.  All of us here are being protected through the testing service of the public health laboratories.  We test the water, we test the things that everybody comes into contact with everyday.


One of the very unfortunate things that I discovered when I came to Los Angeles in 1994 was public health laboratories were not only being downsized or, as they called it, restructured, but in many cases, here in Los Angeles there was an active movement to break up the Los Angeles County Public Health Laboratory and disperse various parts of it to the hospital laboratories.  In fact, part of that had already happened.  The Environmental Chemistry Section of the Los Angeles County Public Health Laboratory was removed before I came here and transferred to another county facility.  Now, maybe that doesn’t sound terribly important, but the impact that has on Los Angeles County is that the Public Health Laboratory does not have any personnel or any analytical chemistry equipment that would allow us to respond to a chemical terrorism act.  And there is no facility in Los Angeles County that could analyze human specimens for any of the proposed chemical agents.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So what would we do in an instant like—?


DR. HARVEY:  That’s a very good question.  The sheriff’s department has said that they have the capability of analyzing environmental specimens.  But human specimens – and Mike Ascher can perhaps help me here – my understanding is that any human specimens that need to be analyzed for these agents have to go to the CDC in Atlanta.  Correct?  Correct, okay.


So, the public health laboratory directors in California are not optimistic – maybe that’s a better way to put it – about the present or the future unless there are reversals made in terms of funding, staffing, and facilities.  Here in Los Angeles County, we’re in the Department of Health Services’ building on the top two floors, which is not a clever place to put a laboratory.  And it was built in 1950.  It’s not an efficient facility.  And this is not the only laboratory that’s existing in outmoded facilities in California.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That’s an understatement.


DR. HARVEY:  Yes.  And again, as Dr. Bontá and Dr. Ascher have said, California has the opportunity to have the strongest public health laboratory system in the nation because we do have this network of – I counted forty, although Dr. Ascher said thirty-eight.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Left out you and me.  (Laughter.)


DR. HARVEY:  Oh, okay.  So there are forty local public health laboratories.  We work together extremely well, but all of these laboratories are presently struggling to just meet the routine disease prevention demands.  None can sustain responding to emergencies for any length of time.  Because of the present situation, staff is being redirected to confront the threat of anthrax.  Where is the surge capacity in the event of another kind of threat?  West Nile Virus, which has killed more people than anthrax, is moving west at a steady pace.  The public health laboratories are the only labs working with the CDC to implement detection technologies for this virus.  Will we be ready?


Contaminated foods of foreign or domestic origin, and Senator Ortiz has already mentioned the agents – E. coli, salmonella, shigella, vibrio, etc., parasites – these are ongoing threats.  Would we be able to continue to protect the food supply, or will even greater numbers of people die from food-borne disease?  Will people contract plague or rabies because of inadequate surveillance testing of animals?  Will another, more subtle bioterrorism agent be introduced?  And will we have the necessary laboratory resources to detect and identify it?


Public health laboratories should be the jewels of every public health system.  End of statement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that really important testimony.  I know that there will be questions.  I certainly have some, but I want to allow Dr. Ross to close this subpanel.  But before Dr. Ross introduces himself for the record, let me just remind members we are not taking a break today.  I apologize.  We have put in a number of speakers, all very important, and that’s why I’m going to be a bit of a task master on time.  Accommodations have been made for members to have a lunch outside in another location.  If you have any questions about where that is, certainly chat with some of the sergeants.  So as you need to take breaks, do so, and thank you for being patient.


Welcome, Dr. Ross.


DR. ROBERT ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My name’s Dr. Bob Ross.  I’m the president and CEO of the California Endowment Foundation, California’s largest healthcare foundation committed to improving the health of Californians and meeting the health needs of the underserved.  I’m a bit of an odd duck here today admittedly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because you do have money.  (Laughter.)


DR. ROSS:  That may be one reason.  In addition to that reason, I had a most recent role, a professional role:  public health director of San Diego County for seven years, and everything I’ve heard today about public health infrastructure I would absolutely underscore in triplicate.  It is just incredible the risk that we are at as Californians and as Americans in trying to manage this emerging threat with the existing public health threats with the public health infrastructure that is now in tow.


Let me just direct my remarks to really the bottom line, I think, for your question today, Senator, and that is:  How do we get more federal, state, local resources into shoring up public health infrastructure?  I don’t have the answer to that, but I do want to bring up a point that perhaps has not been addressed today, and that is that we in public health, to a large extent, we’re victims of our own quiet effectiveness.  Most public health departments and officials kind of quietly work behind the scenes, behind the curtain, investigating hepatitis and tuberculosis and food operates and doing it pretty quietly and fairly effectively so that in rare cases do you see your public health director on television or in the newspaper saying something terrible has happened or about to happen in their community.  We don’t wear uniforms.  We don’t wear shiny badges.  We don’t carry guns.  We don’t drive around, particularly, in cars that are noticeable.  


So your public health leadership is pretty quietly working behind the scenes, and we’ve done a very good job in this past century protecting the public from communicable diseases and disease threats.  So much so that when the budget cuts come, we’re sitting as a sitting duck awaiting to be hit.


Perhaps the opportunity here, and I think this is why you’re convening these hearings, Madam Chair, is that there is an opportunity not just because it’s anthrax and not just because it’s bioterrorism but to look at a much broader physique, and that is the ailing public health infrastructure, particularly at the local level but certainly at the state level.  Hopefully, the bioterrorist and anthrax situation can shed some light on that.  


I very much resonated with the comments of my colleague to the right in the Public Health Laboratory.  I’ve seen their budgets cut time after time, certainly when I was in San Diego County.  The answer is in moving public will; educating the public about the importance of public health infrastructure in two things.  Number one, it is part of our national defense – it really is defense - and you mentioned it – it is now part of our national defense, and this is not a five- or six-week or six- or eight-month phenomena.  We’re going to be in this posture with public health on the front lines of protecting our community, as important as the Army or Navy or B1 bomber or as anything else.


One of my favorite bumper stickers that I’ve seen on occasion over the years – I wish we had a similar one for public health – was “I would like to see the day that schools get all the money they need but the Air Force has to have a bake sale.”  It felt that way about public health.  So we’ve quietly been trying to protect the public behind the scenes, but at some point we’re going to see big holes in the safety net.  


And in moving public will, I’m hoping, and I’m here in part, too, as one member of one philanthropy of a larger private sector, please engage the private sector and philanthropy in trying to educate and enlighten the public on moving this issue.  I think we can play a role there.  I certainly would not want to see our resources in replacing what ought to be governmental resources but in terms of enlightening the public and enlightening the business sector and the business community about the importance of investing in public health infrastructure.  What would happen if, over the next two weeks, we had an anthrax scare at a movie theater and a smallpox exposure at a theme park in the state of California?  What would the impact be on the already devastating economic circumstances that we’re dealing with in California?


This really is an issue of economic vitality and an issue of national defense.  And public health infrastructure and its support has never been seen in that kind of context, and now is the time to raise it.  So we would like to play a role in somehow looking at enlightening and educating, not frightening, but enlightening and educating the public about needing to move federal, state, and local investment and resources into shoring up local public health infrastructure.


And I don’t have much to add in terms of the experts that were here on the mechanics that need to be done with the resources, but certainly how we get the public to understand the importance of this, and not just because we’re scaring them this week with anthrax but as an ongoing national defense, community health, and economic vitality investment issue, is why we’re here today.  And we remain open to ideas that may come our way about how we can be of some support and participate in that kind of a scenario.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Ross, for that really eloquent reminder of the same things we’ve been hearing throughout the morning.  There are a number of questions for panelists from members up here of the panel.  I want to start with Senator Kuehl.  Let’s see, who else is in line here?  Assemblymember Pacheco.  Others who have questions?  Senator Chesbro.  And then I’ll hold off on my questions until the end if there are other members.


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have three questions but they’re really woven together in terms of this response and the public’s confidence, so let me just phrase them and then indicate the various pieces to the speakers.


When we were having a problem in my community at getting any response from the federal government about AIDS, there was a very unprecedented gathering of health officials in California, and political figures, to come to the decision that we would fast-track approval of certain antiviral drugs before the FDA cranked along and did it for California.  We read in the Times this morning that people are not getting consistent messages about what to do even about anthrax, much less about other things.  Dr. Ascher said what we really need are consistent messages from public health officers.  We have the opportunity to do something that’s really “Californian” about this, but I don’t know whether I have confidence about our ability and will to advise even my constituents or all the people of California about what to do consistently both for prevention and treatment in any of this stuff.  Supposing it was a post office in West L.A. and not in Washington, D.C.?


The second thing is probably to Dr. Harvey.  Not only private clinical labs but notice advertisements in the paper for people to have, for instance, full body scans.  No warning about what the radiation does to people, etc.  I can imagine that people would be very entrepreneurial about having people come in and be tested for anthrax or smallpox, or whatever, outside of the system of their own doctor and certainly public health labs.  And that’s of concern.


And my final question is to Dr. Ross.  We had a conversation last year in which I complained to you, really, about the fact that there’s very little coordination between and among the Endowment, Wellness, and our state agency about who’s spending money on what.  I assume that the Endowment, in addition to public education, may actually be looking at grants – I don’t know – people who want to do something about this.  Everybody’s going to jump on a bandwagon sending a proposal to you now in the interest of national defense.  So my question is one of coordination.  Where is the consistent message, how to make certain phony labs don’t exploit people’s fears, and what will be the coordination even with private endowments?


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Response to some of those questions?


DR. BONTÁ:  Maybe just to start out a bit about the messages to the public, and I would agree, Senator Kuehl, that it’s a difficult area, especially on this anthrax, in a situation because the public health officials – for instance, right now on the East Coast, they are getting evolving information.  They work with the best information that they have at the time, and as things progress, sometimes they’ve had to change in the messages that they’re giving the public.  I think the public is very hungry to hear a consistent message of what is it that they should do, but unfortunately, we really do need to rely on what the situation presents at that time in order to provide the best advice.  So, for instance, when it comes to medication, it has to be dependent upon the situation and what would be the best treatment, modality, the best antibiotic to use, and under what circumstances, whether it’s ten days or whether it’s sixty days.


I know that we had talked about the need for public health to be there and to be very strong, and the fact that the systems are there, they’re frequently very hidden, and we have not had sometimes the opportunity to be in front of the public on other issues to build up that confidence.  So I would agree with you that perhaps part of the take-haul(?) is for us to do that in a more constructive fashion and in a better organized fashion so that it is the state as well as the local jurisdictions jointly saying the same thing.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Because we read on page 24 and paragraph 36, that if you take antibiotics before you have the need to, not only does it not help you, it might interfere with your birth control maybe, although we don’t know if that’s an early legend or a scientific fact.  But I know that people do not want to take the treatment – I’ve heard in terms of two people who were infected in the East because it might interfere with birth control – as a prevention measure.  And also, we hear that it’s going to make the strains more resistant.  But the public doesn’t understand that.  If they don’t have it and they take antibiotics, how can they make a strain more resistant?  


So I think that information, which actually is the case, could be very helpful for that to be out.


DR. ROTTMAN:  One other comment just to follow on.  You can be pretty clear about certain things, but in this case there have been a number of surprises.  But what we have learned is that the information that is confusing people is something that shouldn’t be happening.  It’s people breaking the covenant of the laboratory results that are only reported when they’re confirmed by the public health laboratory network.  We see first responders running around with these hand-held assays.  We see false positives being released from Governor Pataki’s office which reverberated all over the country, and those are things that are not supposed to happen.  That’s a failure of, I think, I’m not sure, it may be education in terms of the media understanding what a false positive is and the impact.  And so those issues all fall back on the laboratory ground truth which has got to be key.  


And I sure hope we don’t do this in California, where we report preliminary results.  We’ve already had false positives with hand-held assays.  We jumped on them and kept them quiet.  But right now at this point we’ve had specimens that, on the basis of what was done in Pataki’s office, would have been called positive in the Bay Area.  I’m not going to tell you where, but you can just see what would have happened.  We’re on top of this, but that’s really important.  I think the public might need to know a little bit about that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Harvey, please?


DR. HARVEY:  Well, I think Mike Ascher has addressed a lot of the issues of your very perceptive question.  To me, one of the problems is that the laboratories do not usually have a voice.  This is why Senator Ortiz asked me to come here.  It is, to me, quite a unique opportunity.  There isn’t a sense among even physicians outside of the public health community of what clinical laboratories can do and what they can’t do.  Now, the public health laboratories, of course, work with CDC and the State Health Department, and we have the proper protocols, but there’s a sense that a laboratory is a laboratory is a laboratory.  And so, if you send a specimen to Laboratory Y, you’re going to get just the same result you would get if you sent it to the public health laboratory.  


So I would back what Dr. Ascher has said:  Education is the key, and not just education of the public but more importantly education of the physician community.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But do we need to regulate some way perhaps in advance?  Maybe I’m thinking of things that aren’t going to happen, but I’ve been really worried about these health fairs where you get, like, full body scans and they say to you, “There might be something here.  Go see your doctor.”  But you’ve paid for this test, and it’s really just – I mean, I could do it.  It’s just entrepreneurial.  And I’m really worried that with people being this scared, that we’re going to start to see ads – and if there’s no law against it, I guess, and I don’t even know if there is – for doing tests for you to see if you’re infected with anthrax.


DR. HARVEY:  It’s being done right now, but there are no laws against it.  If a laboratory is licensed, they can test for anything that’s within their license.  So whether they know how to do it correctly or not is something that the public health laboratory has no control over.  


Now, Laboratory Field Services, which is a state regulatory agency, does have this control.  But my understanding from them, and again, we come to a resource issue, is that they do not have the staff to police the private laboratories in the way that they should.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If we could maybe have – I don’t know if Dr. Ross wants to address the final question.  We have three other members who want to raise issues.


DR. ROSS:  I could do it in thirty seconds.


The health foundation leadership across the state does meet on a regular basis.  We do meet quarterly.  What we haven’t done is target a specific topic that we would all, or probably we would all work on.  Right now, the hot one for the day, you should know, Assemblymember, is access to healthcare.  The Wellness Foundation, the California HealthCare Foundation, Endowment, Archstone, Alliance Healthcare Foundation, UniHealth, we have been meeting, and in fact, for our next meeting, the topic of the day is access to healthcare and – Senator Ortiz, you will be happy to hear this – effective use of the existing Healthy Families and Medi-Cal programs and retention issues.  Right now that’s the front burner issue for us, and hopefully you will hear something coming from us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Maybe a million dollars for the implementation would help.  But thank you for keeping access on the front burner because it really is, I think, the biggest issue.


DR. ROSS:  But I don’t want to see any proposals for bioterrorism detecting equipment.  (Laughter.)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, maybe you’re a little too late.


Let me just invite Assemblymember Pacheco, who’s got a question or questions, Senator Chesbro, and then I do have a question.  But I want to remind you we’re a half an hour behind and moving to the second panel, so please work with me to try to move through these questions a little more succinctly.


Assemblymember Pacheco.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  Thank you very much.


I think it’s more of a comment than a question because I earlier posed the question to you.  Quite frankly, and please forgive me if it sounds critical but it’s intended to be critical.  I did not hear a response to my question until we got to Dr. Harvey, and then that was a partial response.  I think that we are entitled to hear honestly what the state of the response from the various organizations are for Californians.  And I know there are a lot of programs, and I know I heard of all the different programs you announced, but what we don’t really know is what is the state of our preparedness.  Quite frankly, I got the impression from Dr. Harvey that if we had an emergency strike in California, we’d be out of luck right now.  That was the bottom line, which is different than what I heard at the other end of the table.  We just want to hear and I think the public wants to know.


DR. ASCHER:  I apologize.  I specifically didn’t digress from my prepared remarks but said I would help answer your question in this period.


The issue of capacity of laboratories is a tricky one, because when you’re dealing with hoaxes, which you really don’t take that seriously anyway, do you really want to invest a lot of energy in your laboratory system to deal with hoaxes?  So we have a short-term problem with getting rid of all the powders and envelopes at the same time as any clever terrorist is going to do something that’s behind our back that we haven’t thought of.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That we want stated on the record for the public to hear it.


DR. ASCHER:  Correct.  And I just got a fortune cookie – if it’s all right to enter that in the record – that says, “The smart thing is to prepare for the unexpected.”  So the dimension that Dr. Reingold gave you, where this project is looking at unknown illnesses on a laboratory and epidemiological basis, is very important because they’re going to come up with a disease that’s not on our list.  We’ve got to keep that in mind.


So capacity has many dimensions, and I think it’s very clear that real illness – I mean, right now we have hoaxes.  We have capacity needs for them, we have capacity needs for a post office, but anyone who’s thought about this for five minutes knows that the terrorist has the ability to do a large-scale release.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Ascher, let me ask you more directly.  Is the state of California prepared, in the Viral and Ricksettial Disease Lab, Communicable Disease Branch of the Department of Health Services, to respond to the ongoing public health needs and the new demand that we’ll probably be living with for some time should there be a minimal outbreak of Nile Virus or anthrax or smallpox?  Are we prepared on a state level?


DR. ASCHER:  Well, that’s the issue that we talk about all the time.  At the same time, no.  Many times we’ve had the luxury of going from problem to problem.  Where a new one comes up, the old one goes away, and we can jump from one to the other.  A lot of the problems we’ve been dealing with in recent years aren’t going 

away – AIDS, encephalitis – so we’ve ended up accumulating core functions that you can’t manage in that manner, and that is a problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Did you have another question, Assemblymember Pacheco?  Wonderful.  Senator Chesbro.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Director Bontá, you made reference to the fourteen cities that had been funded.  In my ongoing quest to try to figure out how we try to fairly and evenly spread services in response around the state and the complexities of this huge state, do those jurisdictions, have they been funded for regional responsibilities beyond their borders, or are they more like pilot projects or demonstration projects to do a job specifically within their jurisdictional boundaries?


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator, the cities, as I believe, that were funded mainly for their areas for looking at a response, they were identified by the federal government as having more potential for incidences; though, certainly, one can’t predict where an incident could take place.  But there was an assessment done at the federal level of which cities they would do as the preliminary cities for training, not ruling out that they might extend it to other cities.


Certainly, when we’ve had discussions with all the federal agencies on behalf of California, we have pushed for ongoing training of all jurisdictions.  When we look at our sixty-one local health departments, there’s not any one of them that I don’t want to have training.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That’s my point.


DR. BONTÁ:  So we are very much with you in concerns about that in trying to provide the resources to do training.  Certainly, we want all physicians, clinicians throughout the state to be able to recognize signs and symptoms of diseases that they haven’t had any experience with in the last twenty-four years, or never in their medical careers, and we want to be able to provide that assistance throughout the state.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, in the interim, until we get there, where all the jurisdictions have gotten sufficient training, we might want to look at those fourteen from the standpoint of their being available to back up, if the terrorists figure out how to not be where we predict they’re going to be, in terms of which community their issues pop up in.


DR. ASCHER:  I just want to annotate that for a minute.  A bump in the road of that program is that was all basically chemical preparedness to overt events and had really very little relevance to the problem of bioterrorism.  It took about two more years and some very strong activities at the federal level to get the CDC-based program that comes at it from the other direction.  But there still is the issue of how do you approach bioterrorism?  Is it a first responder problem or is it a public health problem?  And I told you that’s one thing I wanted you to take away, and I keep repeating it because people have to remember that.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you.


DR. BONTÁ:  I just want to add that the question had come up – Are we prepared or are we not? – and I think it’s very difficult to give an answer of “yes” or “no,” I think for all of us.  I testified at a congressional hearing as well, and I think what came out from many of the responders is “in degrees, dependent upon the situation.”  Do we want to strengthen what we have?  Absolutely.  Is there more work to be done?  Absolutely.  But I don’t want to walk away from this hearing with the sense that there isn’t preparedness going on in California, because certainly there is preparedness for events in California.  We are learning from this experience about how to do even better.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to weigh in now, Dr. Bontá, and then a question regarding the labs for Dr. Harvey.


I have the utmost respect for you, but I need to ask you to weigh in and offer to the degree possible an opinion as to whether or not the figures that have been stated earlier in the hearing – at a minimum, a need for $22 million, and with revised figures post-September 11th, possibly as high as $70 million of the demand – is it your opinion that those figures or the cost of building our public health infrastructure capacity at the local level are accurate?  One.  And two, is it your opinion that roughly two-and-a-half to three million dollars is needed for the state surveillance component of communicating, sharing information, complementing the local public health infrastructure capacity needs?  Are those figures accurate, and if they are, what’s the likelihood of drawing down either federal or state endowment dollars to meet those needs?


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator, I think the best way to answer it is recently we were joined by colleagues in our other states of really trying to do an assessment of what is the need in a local-state area for public health in responding to bioterrorism events.  The range for the responses was 5 million to 25 to 30 million dollars, dependent upon the size of the state.  So California being one of the largest states in the country would be in the range of 25 to 30 million dollars.  And so, that is similar to what some of the testimony has been in terms of the needs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You should know that Mr. Burton said that that figure was accurate prior to September 11th, but since September 11th, the figure is actually closer to 70 million.


DR. BONTÁ:  I think it depends on what you add to that, because certainly, as we have seen these incidences unfold, we have then identified other needs, be it chemical responses, laboratory capacity, surge capacity in hospitals, training of personnel, abilities to allocate supplies, and equipment.  The numbers are hard to determine in terms that it depends on what level you’re able to layer the responses, depending upon what we’re facing.  But certainly, when you were looking at the figures of, you know, for instance, communication – we have identified, for instance, to enhance our capability to communicate with local jurisdictions – you would be talking at least a million dollars on the low side, probably closer to 3 million on the higher side, depending upon what you need.  


These are not gadgets that are not of consequence to public health, because certainly, we’ve had testimony that the kinds of things that we add to public health help in identification of other illnesses as well, be they in identifying food-borne illnesses or in identification of Hanta virus or other emerging infectious diseases.  This gives us opportunities to expand our disease surveillance, to expand our capacity at the level and at the training and at the resources in the state.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Possibilities for funding.


DR. BONTÁ:  Yes.  And we have certainly been supplying our associations, our offices in Washington, our congressional members as well, information about what we would potentially need here in California to augment what we’re currently doing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What’s the likelihood of state funding?


DR. BONTÁ:  I think it’s a very difficult time.  We are certainly seeing the difficulty with the state budget.  As a department, we were responding to a request to look at a 15 percent reduction in our funds in the department.  Our Department of Health Services has a budget of close to $30 billion.  Fifteen percent is a very high amount.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a question that I have said in the beginning as we’ve discussed this, and it’s been interwoven throughout the testimony, that I believe our police and our fire clearly are regarded as public safety.  I’ve also said that I believe our public health function today more than ever is also part of our public safety system.  And in that light, I understand certainly the department – well, certainly the administration, the Governor – has indicated that public safety should be spared from that 15 percent cut, as each department goes through that budget process.  I would hope, and I’m going to continue to ask that the message be conveyed and that others join me in that message, that we ask the Governor to regard public health as part of our public safety system that ought to be spared from that 15 percent cut, particularly when it comes to the kind of issues that we’re facing here. 


So, I don’t know if you want to respond to that, but I will let you know that that will be something which I think is important for all of us to bear in mind.


DR. BONTÁ:  Certainly, when there was an imposition of a hiring freeze for state government, the Governor did exclude public health for the first time in the history of California from the hiring freeze.  So that has been a very positive piece, and we are having opportunities, certainly, to discuss the needs here in California specific to public health.  So I’m optimistic about the ability to present our needs at least.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I thank the Governor for that publicly.


Senator Vincent, did you have a question?


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  No, I just was listening.  I listened to a program on the radio, it’s 7.90, and also on television – you know, we have FOX station – and they all say, “The more you listen the more you know.”  I’ve been listening, and I don’t know anything more than I knew when I first came in here.  


But I do want to thank the chair for what you’ve done, and I’ve read your analysis.  It really shocks me at some of the vetoes that came up before 9/11.  Hopefully, these things may not happen after 9/11.  And I was certainly impressed with Dr. Sydney Harvey’s statement about the public health laboratories, because people are very – I mean, there’s more eclectic in this approach and a lot of specificity, and those things need to be done.


But what I’ m really going back to is what Senator Kuehl was saying, what Senator Romero was saying, and also what Senator Chesbro was saying, and Assemblyman Pacheco:  What we need to know is what to tell our constituents.  For instance, it says first responders, then it says emergency panels, and then all of a sudden emergency services.  We have a Medical Services Authority.  We have a medical services system.  I mean, not only is it confusing to me, it’d be very confusing to constituents.


So it seems like, to me, we need to get something that we can tell our constituents.  I mean, what do we say to our constituents?  I think Senator Romero requested that, and Senator Kuehl alluded to it.  A lot of times my good friend here, Assemblyman Pacheco, has indicated that we haven’t gotten the kind of answers we really want.  What I’ m saying, when these answers come up, what do we tell our constituents as it relates to the situation?  


As you know, we watch television.  One week John Ashcroft says one thing, then Rumsfield says another thing, then the President says another thing.  Then – what’s his name from Wisconsin?  Tommy Thompson.  He says another thing.  So, can we all say one thing so we can say something to our constituents when they come to us for advice?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think I’m hearing nobody knows what that message is.


Dr. Ross.


DR. ROSS:  I’ll tell you what the rub is, and your question is poignant in its clarity.  Here’s the rub.  The rub is, in my former job as a public health official in San Diego County, if I were to speak candidly and honestly and forthrightly about whether we are ready to protect the public today based on the resources we have, that answer is a resounding, unequivocal “no.”  If you assume that we are now at war with a new threat – quite frankly, public health has dealt with anthrax as a wool sorter’s and sheep herder’s disease – public health has not dealt with anthrax in the hands of evildoers who are conducting a war.  That is a new threat.  And when you hear public health folks say, “We’re learning everyday,” they’re not kidding.  They are really learning everyday about anthrax as a bioterrorist threat and smallpox as a bioterrorist threat, as opposed to anthrax in its former public health threat.


So, I would hope that the message to constituents, and it’s a difficult message to illuminate, is that we do need a significant investment in our public health infrastructure including but not limited to bioterrorism if, in fact, you want your community to be safe.  And that, in fact, really is the bottom line because public health does not have the resources today to wage a war where we can equivocally, comfortably, look the public in the eye and say, “Your community is safe.”  


We have seen things happen in the last two weeks that are new for public health in terms of how anthrax can be spread, and that’s not going to stop.  We may have one of those a month for the next two years.  But in order to be ahead of the curve and on top of it, we are going to need – and quite frankly, I think this is primarily a federal, national defense issue.  We are waging a war.  We need to behave as if we are waging a war.  And right now the resources are not coming into public health infrastructure as if we are waging a war, protecting our communities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR VINCENT:  When we first started with the first panel – now, I want everybody to understand this panel represents the state of California, not just Los Angeles County.  Senator Chesbro is here from the north.  As a matter of fact, the chair is from Sacramento, but we’re having the meeting here.  When I heard Dr. Burton indicate that he was president of California Local Health Officers, then we had Dr. Fielding who indicated he was the director of public services in L.A. County, and they were talking about testing – let’s assume, God forbid, let’s assume something did happen – so, he was indicating that if something did happen, that they would do all of the testing.  What if you lived in San Francisco?  What if you lived in San Diego?  What if you lived in Eureka?  Who would do the testing then?


DR. BONTÁ:  There are local health departments that would be doing the testing.  I think Dr. Fielding was referring to the fact as the health officer for the county of Los Angeles that they would be doing the testing here.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Right.  But are they prepared to do the testing in other places?


UNIDENTIFIED:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let’s hear from the lab.


DR. HARVEY:  What I was going to add to Dr. Fielding’s comments that maybe he didn’t make clear, but also perhaps gives you a better sense of what resources are necessary, Los Angeles County Public Health Laboratory is responsible for most of Southern California in terms of this response to bioterrorism.


SENATOR VINCENT:  He didn’t say that.


DR. HARVEY:  No, I know he didn’t.  That’s why I just wanted to let you know that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me wrap up this panel.  I really, really want to thank all of the speakers on this panel because I think it sets the foundation for the subsequent emergency first responder panels that are coming.  I would encourage you to take the time if members want to chat with you as a sidebar.  You may not want to.  But members, I would encourage you to certainly, with all those participants, follow up with the testimony they provided.  It’s vital.  It really is the foundation of what we’re attempting to do.  And thank you very much for the difficult questions and the hard work you do.  Thank you.


Members, let me just remind you, we’re about an hour behind where we are supposed to be.  I will ask the next subpanel on “Emergency Services,” which is essentially the emergency services first responders outside of the public health function, to join us.  Please try to keep your testimony to three or five minutes.  I apologize.  There will be lots of questions afterwards, and I would encourage members to try to help us get back on schedule.


Welcome.  Stan Roberts, rather than Michael Guerin, is our first speaker.  Daniel Smiley and then Virginia Hastings.  Please identify yourselves for the record.


MR. STAN ROBERTS:  My name is Stan Roberts.  I’m the Law Enforcement Mutual Aid coordinator for Region 1, which takes in Los Angeles and Orange counties, on up to San Luis Obispo.  Chief Guerin couldn’t be here this morning.  He asked if I would relay his remarks to you, so I’ll get right to it.  


The Governor’s Office of Emergency Services has an overall coordination facilitation, and not a management position but a facilitation position, when it comes to terrorism planning, response, and recovery.  We have a longstanding reputation not only as the Governor’s representatives when it comes to emergencies, but more specifically in working for the best interests of state agencies and local government.  In this specific arena of bioterrorism, OES considers itself to be a full partner with the Department of Health Services and the state Emergency Medical Services Authority.  Each brings valued expertise and resources to the table.  OES facilitates the work to ensure that the result is a unified, overarching state emergency plan.  This plan includes a state Terrorism Annex which is constantly updated.


OES has also been working to ensure that throughout our terrorism planning, we’ve included a focus on health needs associated with a bioterrorism event.  Our plan has been coordinated with our partners at DHS and EMSA, and with the advent of additional plans from these agencies, such as the new hospital plan from DHS, we will continue to update the state plan.  We’ve adapted a version of the Terrorism Annex for use by local governments as they develop their own terrorism response plans.  This document is a template that even the smallest community can use to write or update their local plan.  It includes health issues and concerns.


The state Strategic Committee on Terrorism, California’s coordinating body for terrorism planning, is chaired by the director of OES.  One of the key subcommittees in the S-COT is the Public Health Subcommittee chaired by Director Bontá.  This group and the other S-COT subcommittees have just completed drafting an initial report to the Governor, as directed in his recent executive order.  Our California Specialized Training Institute, the premiere training emergency management facility in the country, has long included public health issues in their courses.


We co-sponsor with local governments and the FBI local terrorism working groups.  These are planning forums that include all disciplines – health as well – to ensure formation, context, protocols, and training.  Successful terrorism working groups exist in the Bay Area, Los Angeles, the Inland Empire, San Diego, Fresno, Sacramento, and other counties.  


When an event occurs or is suspected, OES also chairs the State Threat Advisory Committee.  S-TAC, as it is known, is a secure conference call for a few specific key players in the federal-state government, meeting to discuss the incident or the threat.  Participants include the FBI, the California Highway Patrol, the Department of Justice, Department of Health Services, and EMSA.  Based on what is discussed in the secure call, a consensus threat assessment is presented to the Governor through the director of OES, and the consensus reflects what is the threat or incident:  What does it mean for the state at that time?  Initially, S-TAC met on September 11th when – excuse me, first met the night that the diesel truck crashed into California’s Capitol in January.


After an event, should California suffer a tragic attack, OES will use a similar process to that which we use in other disasters – earthquakes, fires, or floods – to look after the needs of the victims and others that are affected.  Again, our partnership with DHS, EMSA, and the local health officers is key.  


What are some of the issues from our standpoint that could affect the deliberations of this committee?  We must all realize that local health officers, hospitals, and pre-hospital providers are first responders just as much as is the fire service and law enforcement.  We must provide them with information tools and funding they need to do their jobs consistent with available resources.  DHS, EMSA, and local health officers need to work with their colleagues to ensure bioterrorism is a priority of the highest order.


One of the things that needs to be looked at is the legal authorities that come into play.  For example, only local health officers can issue quarantines.  These legal issues need to be addressed from the standpoint of emerging bioterrorist threats.


One thing I’d like to say is that, in all incidents, the one single factor that is most important is the rescue and the medical response to the lives of our family members and friends that may have been affected by the disaster.  Whether it’s bioterrorism or a plain ordinary bomb or a chemical incident, that receives the nation’s focus when there’s response to an event.  The medical community needs to be able to respond in the best fashion possible.  They may have been performing in a low-key manner up to this point in time, but September 11th changed all that.  We’ve faced a paradigm shift in how we’re dealing with everything now, and the medical community needs to be able to deal with not only bioterrorism but chemical and possibly nuclear as well.  Whatever it takes to make it possible for them to do that, it is critical.


We in law enforcement right now are faced with a shortage of law enforcement officers for all of the security needs that have come forward.  And I see that in the medical field, there is a strong need to build up a resource of health officers and people that could be called upon to staff these needs; otherwise, they’ll be faced with shortages just as we are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I do appreciate your testimony.  I’m sure there will be questions.  I thank you for adhering to the time constraints we’re facing.


Welcome, Mr. Smiley.  If you could please identify yourself for the record and try and stay between three and five minutes.  


Thank you.


MR. DANIEL SMILEY:  Thank you, Madam Chairperson.  I’m Daniel Smiley, chief deputy director of the state of California’s Emergency Medical Services Authority.  The EMS Authority is mandated in authorizing legislation and in the state Office of Emergency Services’ administrative order to prepare for and, if necessary, manage the state’s medical response to a disaster.  In addition, the Authority is responsible for developing effective, standardized local and regional EMS systems throughout California and working with our local EMS agency partners, such as L.A. County, who you’ll hear from later, to ensure that we have effective preparation.


To this end, the Authority writes regulations for EMS pre-hospital personnel, licenses paramedics, develops guidelines for EMS systems, including trauma centers and poison control centers, and sets the standards for first aid and CPR training for firefighters, peace officers, lifeguards, bus drivers, and even daycare center workers.

While the focus of today's hearings are prompted because of the tragic events of September 11th and the subsequent biological terrorism episodes, we at the EMS Authority engage in an all-hazard planning approach to respond to many other types of possible emergencies, some with very high probability, such as earthquakes, fires, or floods.


The EMS infrastructure and the first responders that we historically think of as being part of EMS really comprises three major components.  One of them is dispatch centers, the second are ambulances and fire-medical first responders, and then finally hospitals.  Those are the three major components.


In terms of California’s ability to mount an effective medical response to a major medical disaster such as a weapons-of-mass-destruction event, we have made progress in recent years to improve this continuum.


I’d like to focus on just a couple of points at this point, briefly.  EMS must participate in and ensure accurate information to the public.  One of the things that we find is that a covert biological attack in particular, unlike a bombing or a chemical attack, will surface over time, as we’re currently witnessing on the East Coast.  This phenomena only adds to the public’s anxiety and, unfortunately, allows many entrepreneurs and self-styled experts to go about providing incorrect information.


EMS dispatch centers and poison control centers may be a first line of information to the public.  Those emergency dispatchers and poison control specialists must be trained to be able to calm the fears of the public and to provide accurate information.  In addition, what has happened right now is that the Office of Emergency Services has opened a 1-800 number statewide to provide accurate information to the public, and that information is up on many of the state web sites.  With respect to providing accurate information, I think the public can go to that 1-800 number at this time.  Additionally, the Office of Emergency Services has 24-hour operations going right now, and DHS and Emergency Medical Services are staffing that in addition to the Law Branch.


Another point that I want to make is that ambulances staffed with trained and equipped paramedics form the backbone of our EMS response system within the first two hours of a mass casualty incident from any source.  It’s critical that these paramedics and EMTs are fully educated and equipped to respond to all types of incidents involving weapons of mass destruction.


EMSA has also worked to improve the hospital preparedness through the incident command system structure, communications, and various procedures.  We’ve tried to maintain a posture of providing and promoting public-private partnerships for disaster preparedness.  Using the hospital incident command system that was developed and promoted by the Authority, we’ve also encouraged EMS systems and hospitals to have a coordinated communication system such as the Readynet system.  We have worked with hospitals and health systems to help develop guidance for hospitals regarding mass casualty and weapons of mass destruction response.  Physicians and nurses should be fully educated on disaster preparedness and bioterrorism issues.  


California additionally relies upon a strong medical mutual aid system to respond to disaster events that overwhelm a given jurisdiction.  To this end, we must create and maintain a statewide system and structure with strong participation from all levels of government and the healthcare community, both public and private, to make sure that we are fully integrating our response system.


Operationally, the EMS Authority has emphasized the development of a state operational capability which includes disaster medical assistance teams and a management support unit.  We still need to continue to work on making sure that these disaster medical assistance teams can respond to various weapons-of-mass- destruction events within a short timeframe.  We also must increase, or at least examine, our ability to temporarily increase our hospital capacity.


EMS must fully interface with the local public health system.  Even though the EMS responders in the event of a bioterrorism event may not be the first responders, and in fact, it may be the public health system, nonetheless, EMS providers will continue to be taxed to respond to requests for assistance from the public, whether or not there’s a credible threat.  These EMS providers must be fully integrated into the planning process.


Finally, education and practice ensures the ability of our statewide system to respond.  It’s our mission to bring these multiple autonomous organizations together to form a cohesive, interdependent response.  Ongoing activities by EMSA include our recently completed Hospital and Health Systems Bioterrorism Conference with over 1,200 attendees and our annual statewide medical and health disaster exercise, which is scheduled for November 15th.  This will focus on a technological event necessitating providers to be prepared to accommodate a large influx of patients that might require decontamination.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you could quickly wrap up so we have time for questions.


MR. SMILEY:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. SMILEY:  At this point, I’d just like to say that the use of a biological agent as a weapon of mass destruction is a calculated act the requires the cooperation of medical and health providers with law enforcement and other public safety officials to respond in an integrated way.  Planning for this must be based upon the existing public health system and must be supported by a system for handling mass casualty incidents and not a specific stand-alone plan.  


Finally, the response to a biological event or a weapons-of-mass-destruction event must occur with the SEMS – Standardized Emergency Management Structure – that’s understood and practiced by the medical and health community.


Thanks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.


Ms. Hastings.


MS. VIRGINIA HASTINGS:  Good morning.  Thank you for inviting me today.  I’m Virginia Hastings, the director of the Los Angeles County Emergency Medical Services Agency.  I’ll be speaking this morning on behalf of Los Angeles County, on behalf of the state Emergency Medical Services Administrators Association of California, and of the California Trauma Systems Coalition.  I will be very brief because my remarks really are going to just emphasize what other speakers have said in many respects.


You have heard from several people that we believe we have, through good, strong state leadership and through grant funding, we have well-trained first responders in the traditional sense of the first responders in this state.  We have various metropolitan medical response teams that we had discussed earlier.  We do have disaster medical assistance teams throughout the state, which you’ve heard discussed earlier.  We do believe that EMS leadership, locally EMS leadership throughout the state should ensure, however, with all the available MMRTs and HAZMATS, that they still have sufficient supplies in their counties, in their areas, and in their caches, including antibiotics, to be able to sustain an immediate response to the citizens while the state’s very well-organized mutual aid plan rolls into place.  In other words, we have to be able to take care of ourselves immediately, just as we do with an earthquake, while the state activates itself.


Along that line, the board of supervisors has authorized the funding for many additional caches of supplies, including pharmaceuticals, to be placed geographically around the county, and as well, we are equipping all of our 265 paramedic squads with additional drugs to be available for a response to the public.  The drugs are more in the line of the chemical response, but it’s difficult in your preparation often to separate those entities.


We believe that the training of law, fire, and EMTs must be thorough and ongoing all the time.  We’ve trained all 3,000 paramedics in this county, but we need to be sure that it’s ongoing.  It has to be continuous, and there has to be funds to support that.


Supporting what Dr. Ascher and my other colleagues have said today, the traditional definition of first responder that we’ve worked with for years has to be changed.  It’s no longer just law, fire, and paramedics.  We believe it absolutely now has to be extended to include emergency departments, emergency department personnel, including hospital security guards and safety police who may often be the first one to recognize that something has occurred.  The triage nurse at a hospital may be the very first one to see a smallpox case, for all we know.  


So as we work our way through this and learn about it, first responder has to be expanded beyond what those of us in the MS agency are used to including along that same line and including ERs in the definition of first responder.  Pharmaceuticals, for example, if smallpox vaccinations become available.  ER personnel must be on the forefront along with other first responders to get those vaccinations first.  We have to protect those who care for the public.


We believe that while we’ve done a great deal in the state, and in fact, I think, throughout the country, to prepare the traditional first responder – law, fire, paramedics – we now need to turn our attention to hospital preparedness, and we find that sorely lacking.  Public health experts need to have the resources to implement and expand their surveillance activities.  We do that on a limited degree through our Readynet systems and our ERs, which Mr. Smiley referenced, but it is nowhere complete enough to handle what we’re potentially facing in the future.  There must be ongoing, consistent training for hospital personnel.  That does not exist now.  There are no funds to do that.  I think our preparedness for first responders over the last few years has largely come through not only good state leadership but the availability of grant funding from the federal government to help us, and we now think that that funding also needs to be excluded to new first responders, and that’s our emergency departments.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that’s an important point because most of those dollars come from the CDC sort of in a grant basis rather than being part of our state funding on a regular basis.


MS. HASTINGS:  On behalf of the EMS administrators, we believe that clear, standardized guidelines need to be developed and disseminated on how to manage suspected bioterrorism for the public – which is sorely lacking, as has been mentioned here – for first responder law, first responder fire, paramedics, EMTs, public and private.  This response system throughout the state, when we talked about emergency disaster response, it is a public-private response.  You cannot separate one out from the other.  Those protocols need to be developed for hospital emergency departments – again, public and private – for HAZMAT teams, for environmental health personnel and for lab workers.


We have begun in Los Angeles County, working through the TEW – the Terrorism Early Warning Group, which you heard described to you – to develop a protocol for the 911 law, fire, FBI response to the many, many kinds of incidents that have been coming in.  It’s taken a tremendous amount of coordination to work it out among all of our law and fire in this county.  The TEW has now expanded their meetings to include postal inspectors because of all of the activities that have been happening at the post offices lately.  


This is a beautiful chart and it’s beautifully colored and it’s well organized, but I can tell you its shortfall:  It’s not dealing with the public, as it’s been pointed out; the public that often converges on a hospital because they’re afraid and they’re not being well-informed about what’s happening.  A classic example:  A couple of weeks ago at a post office in mid-Wilshire, where LAPD responded, followed the protocol beautifully, and declared there was no credible threat.  At that end it is supposed to end on this chart.  Well, the post office workers had a little meeting and decided they wanted more, and they converged on a major emergency department downtown Los Angeles, craving more information, craving medical input, and wanting something to be done. 


And I make this point because we can organize ourselves as EMS systems.  We can organize ourselves as hospitals.  We still have a tremendous amount of work to do with the public, as has been pointed out here.  We have attempted to handle the public on the scene by developing a standardized advisory, which has been approved by our health officer, Dr. Fielding, to give to all the public members at a scene.  Because we have determined that if there’s even a hint that something may be done and an environmental test is taken, which often the public expects the test to be taken, the public then expects an answer back.  So we have developed a form, which we will be sharing with our colleagues up and down the state and with other health officers, to tell the public basically that if there is something with this test, we will call you, we will let you know, and here’s a number you can call if you have questions.  We can get 911 and our colleagues in law and fire fairly well organized, but we have a difficult time reaching the public.  And I’m so glad that’s been brought up because I think there’s a tremendous amount of work to be done in that area.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s seems a pretty consistent theme.  Thank you.  Are you finished?


MS. HASTINGS:  Just a very fast, fast point.  We think that efforts need to be made to ensure that hospitals have appropriate protective gear.  Again, many of our first responders in the classic sense do, but hospitals do not.  We believe that hospital disaster plans must be updated to include this newest threat that we’re facing.  Many hospital disaster plans are a little outdated.  When I look at some of the activities in hospitals, and we’ve been working with all of them in this county – for example, I see one of their actions in the disaster plan is call the fire department.  Well, the fire department is going to be busy, and we believe hospitals need to develop their own internal plans for managing some of these things so that it’s not total, one hundred percent reliance on the fire department.  


And emphasizing what my colleagues have said, hospitals and public health departments should use the disaster plans that follow the principles of the standardized incident management hospital and hospital emergency incident command system.  


Changing hats one second, while we’re talking about bioterrorism here.  I have to say, on behalf of the Save California Trauma Hospitals Coalition, we must at the same time continue to sustain the trauma centers throughout the state of California.  While bioterrorism events may impact any hospital, patients may walk anywhere.  The state’s designated trauma centers is at the forefront of preparedness in their communities and will be the key hospitals in explosive types of terrorism, such as we witnessed in New York City.  Additionally, trauma centers daily respond to other types of terrifying incidents and what someone referred to as the “daily terrorism in our streets” relating to major car wrecks and violence.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony, all of you.  I know we have questions from members.  Let me just remind the participants we have four more panels and about ten more speakers, and we were hoping to wrap up at about 1:30, so we’ve got a task ahead of us.  But it’s all valuable information, and let’s go ahead and encourage everybody to be a part of that.


Assemblymember Wyman, I know you had questions, but are there other members?  Senator Romero.  And then we’ll move on.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  All right, and I’m going to take just a moment to make a record here because I think it’s very important in the process.  Mr. Roberts, I continually appreciate your being here.  I’m sorry that your immediate superior, Mr. Guerin, is not.  But I sent – and this is just one paragraph long, and I’d like to read it to you – a letter to the Governor, addressed to him, saying, “Your executive order of October 10 states that Dallas Jones, director of OES, should report by the 30th,” which was Wednesday, “the committee’s initial recommendations relating to safety and security of our state as of today,” and this letter’s been delivered to the Governor.  That has not been released, and I was interested in your comment that the report has just been completed, a draft initial report.


What I read from the executive order from the Governor is that it’s ordered that Dallas Jones shall report by October 30th the committee’s initial recommendations.  Not a draft initial report.  But I guess my concern is, from what I understood earlier, it has not been released as of our discussion.  As I review the executive order, it’s not saying that anything ought to be released that could in any way cause a problem.  But you said obviously the priority of the highest order and the final call from the Governor is that these recommendations should be given, quote, “widespread publicity and notice,” and I think that’s really referencing the first committee—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Wyman, if you have a question that we could direct to the panel.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  I am, but in fairness I’m trying to set the record, that I understand—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think the record’s been established.  Let’s get to the question and response.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  I shall, but FEMA is supposed to be having a report that’s coming out on the 5th, and in our earlier hearing, the date and the timeliness of this report, not just recommendations but actually those parts that are appropriate that we should see, was important in coordinating with the federal government.  So could you tell us when we are going to see an appropriate review of these recommendations?  Because I understand it’s critical in the federal interface, and I think it would have been helpful for us to have seen the appropriate data as policymakers before this hearing.


MR. ROBERTS:  I’ll try to be as brief as I can.  The report was generated as a result of staff work done by the subcommittees in terms of what they perceived to be needs in this environment, and that material was forwarded to the Governor’s office.  Now, it’s my understanding from e-mail that I’ve received that that was sent day before yesterday.  I don’t know what the bureaucratic process is for actually getting that into his hands, but it’s my understanding that it was to the Governor’s office.  I wouldn’t presume to set a time deadline on the Governor’s review process of that in terms of his understanding of what the recommendations are.  We have sent it to him, and it’s been directed that it will be up to the Governor’s office as to what and when the information is released.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I conjoin with Assemblymember Wyman in letting you know we anxiously await the findings because I think it is critical as we move forward this next year.


MR. ROBERTS:  I’ll certainly convey your concerns to Sacramento.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  The executive order says that it shall be reported and be given the widest publicity, so it isn’t a draft that was supposed to come, it was an appropriate report for public distribution.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that message has been adequately conveyed three times.


Thank you.  We’re anxiously waiting.  Thank you.


Senator Romero.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you.  


This has been a very interesting panel.  I’m still a little struck by the discussion, and I thank you, Ms. Hastings, in particular, for acknowledging that chart and in a sense acknowledging what I think is a fundamental weakness:  the public gets left out.  And we’re talking about the spread of disease in public health.  The best education for prevention is always education and educational campaigns and outreach.


I’m curious as to how do we define an emergency in California?  Does the disaster have to occur in order for there to be an emergency?  I’m a psychologist by training.  Folks are talking about this issue.  People are making phone calls left and right.  At what point do we acknowledge that there is fear in people, and how do we address not just the actual first response?  Because I would think, and I hope, that the probability is it’s probably going to be a very minute, perhaps – if something occurs, hopefully it’s a very rare instance.  But the climate of fear, the anxiety that’s there.


My brother is a postal worker, and believe me, I’ve heard from him:  “What is California doing?  This isn’t just about back East and postal workers.”  And I don’t blame the postal workers for being concerned and upset about what’s occurring, especially as we learn daily on what’s happening.


So I guess the question is:  Are we preparing not only for the disaster or the series of disasters for a first response, but how are we preparing?  What are we doing to truly outreach to the public to make sure that should there be a disaster, not just a response to a disaster, but a response to should there be a disaster, what do people need to do?  


The other question I would ask is on this 800 number, what is being said, in which languages is it available?  If I walk out here and pick up my cell phone and dial 800, will I get a busy signal?  Who answers me in what language?  Because California’s a very multilingual state.


So, those are the questions, and I ask them because I’m hearing these kinds of questions in the district.


MS. HASTINGS:  Well, I will have an answer for Los Angeles County to the degree that I can, and then defer the 800 number question to some of the others.


First of all, to your question – What’s an emergency? – to us, an emergency is in the eye of the beholder.  If they think they have an emergency, we need to deal with it.  


In terms of the current frights that are going on, the public is very frightened, and we need to have massive education campaigns, first of all just to physicians, private sector physicians, whom we can’t ordinarily reach on a daily basis; to healthcare providers so they can assure their patients when they call what’s okay and what’s not okay.  The Public Health Department, under Dr. Fielding, have begun issuing advisories to hospitals and to health personnel, and I believe he was describing, as I walked in, the emergency communications system which will try to communicate better with people as well.


In addition, the public health has set up a web site which we’re trying broadly to get out to the public.  We have prepared educational brochures which are being printed as we speak, approximately, I believe, 150,000 of them in English and Spanish to begin to pass out to the public, with just very simple kinds of things that the public seem to be asking for:  What can or what should I do?  The things in the educational brochure are very simple but things that any one of us could do.  If you think you have something on you, take a shower.  I mean, very simple kinds of things.


So we’re trying to reach the public through a web page.  We’re trying to educate their healthcare providers.  Not just in hospitals but in other locations.  We’re developing educational materials.  We try to communicate things openly and honestly with the public and with the media.  Our department has taken the position, as has our board of supervisors, that if, in fact, something does happen or is happening, we will tell you.  There’s a certain assuredness that I believe needs to go on that the public can trust their public officials.  We’re doing a lot of things locally in that area.  Is there more to do?  Yes, there’s more to do.  We’re beginning to get ourselves organized locally to deal with the constituents.  L.A. City, and I’m sure you’re going to hear it from your next panel, Ellis Stanley has, as well, developed materials for city populations.  There’s tremendous efforts going on now to try to educate the public.


The 1-800 number is the state, so I defer.


MR. SMILEY:  Well, let me try and address the 1-800 number just a little bit, but first I want to kind of let you know, you raised the issue of what are the different levels of preparedness?  And I think inherent in your question is:  Are we in a state of emergency right now?  You know, psychologically rather than anything.  And I think the answer is:  While there have been no attacks in California and no credible threats, I would have to characterize the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services and their coordinated activities with both EMSA and DHS and many of the other departments as being one on the highest level of alert.


As I mentioned, we are providing 24-hour staffing at the state operation center, coordinated by the Law Branch, to handle any issue that might come up 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  Additionally as part of that operation, there’s what’s called the Joint Information Center, and the Joint Information Center’s goal is to provide accurate information to the public.  And let me try and address some of the questions that you asked.  It’s usually staffed between, depending on time of day, day of week, anywhere between five and ten people from various departments.  There are public information officers or medical people that are available to answer questions, or specific scripts that have been approved to provide consistent information.  That’s who’s answering it.  I can’t answer the question on multiple languages, but I can tell you I’ll go back today and ask them.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And if we could get a copy of those scripts, perhaps, so we can know what, when constituents call us, perhaps we can also be on the same page and provide the same information or the most up-to-date information to those who might be asking.


MR. SMILEY:  I think that’s probably available, and I’ll bring that back to them today.  I can tell you that I have not heard anything about busy signals.  I don’t know what the volume is.  I have to tell you that I’ve not directly been involved in the JIC, although our staff members have.  I think, though, that they are beginning to take a kind of “flex your power” approach to this information thing because that is an emerging issue that people consistently are telling us that needs to be done.  And I will be taking this information back.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay, thank you very much.


SENATOR ROMERO:  He was going to speak on the languages.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Oh, I’m sorry.


MR. ROBERTS:  I was just going to mention I know that there are at least two languages – English and Spanish – and there may be more.  I can’t personally advise you on that, but I know that there are two at least.


SENATOR ROMERO:  But if you could let us know.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That’s a very good point that the Senator’s made, so I hope you’ll follow up and respond to the committee and the members on that question.


Thank you all very much for appearing before us.


Did you have another question?


SENATOR VINCENT:  Yes.  I just wanted to include my remarks by indicating it’s all a matter of the times, you know.  A week ago, we heard nothing but “Condit, Condit, Condit.”  Now we’re hearing “Bin Laden, Bin Laden, Bin Laden.”  And you know what?  The ironical thing about this, the whole time I’ve been in the Assembly, I’ve been fighting with the health departments and fighting health services to keep Daniel Freeman Hospital in Inglewood, keep Centinela in Inglewood.  Now they’re both going to be taken over from nonprofit to profit by Tenet.  Tenet’s talking about getting rid of the emergency rooms.  Now all of a sudden we hear “emergency services.”  We hear “public health department.”  Then we hear for the first time “public lab services,” which is great.  I’m glad we’re hearing all these public things now.  But also, we’re hearing they’re talking about closing the ERs.


Now, I’ve heard some conversation about the ERs at this meeting.  I hope they plan on keeping the ERs open because it’s going to be very important as it relates to some of the things that may happen but, God, we hope it don’t happen.  But ERs are one of the first places these things can be detected.  But we’ve talked about closing the ERs, and you know what I’m talking about.  We talked about not increasing but maybe reducing the bed size at LASC Medical Center, what we used to call General Hospital.  So when things happen, and maybe it takes something like 9/11 to make us move in the department of health care, but we should think about it.  Weiss Health Center, they’re closing down.  I mean, these things are needed by the community.  And when situations occur like we’re talking about today, it gives credence to the fact that we need to keep these things open, and they are public.  


Many times we talk about HMOs managing healthcare?  We’re managing money basically.  Managing money basically.  And I heard the gentleman before – I think his name was Dr. Reingold – he indicated to us that don’t worry about – forget about the federal money.  This money’s got to come from state and local.  State and local.  God forbid that happens.  I hope that we can do it in a more collective approach from the federal, state, and local, because if things happen, and one doesn’t know when things are going to happen, we need to give the same protection to Mr. Chesbro as to L.A. County.  I was misled by Dr. Fielding’s comments, and I’m glad the lady explained it.  


Thank you very much.


MR. ROBERTS:  May I make just one remark?  The meetings that I’ve attended that have to do with hospital planning, the hospitals have been as forthright and have put forth a great amount of effort to prepare.  The thing that I’ve noticed is that sometimes when you’re dealing with state funding and so forth with governmental agencies like law and fire and emergency services, that hospitals are not included in that.  They’re driven by the bottom line.  And you’re dealing with private entities.  And I don’t know quite sure how to mix those two, but they need support, clearly, because they can’t stay in business.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, I knew at the time I was on the health panel in the Assembly, we were talking about L.A. General, or if you want to say LASC Medical Center.  There’s a gentleman named Fanukin(?).  I know you know the name.  Mr. Fanukin?  He was the head of the Department of Health Services?  Well, we were talking about beds, and I didn’t know what bed he was in:  whether he was with the county or with the public.  And it was very unclear what his stance was.  It seems to me when something happens, the public, and where it should have been in the first place, should be first considered, other than money.  We consistently talk about funds, funds, funds, and we talk about the fact that we even had some problems with Alameda County when Assemblywoman Dion Aroner was discussing the ERs.  We’ve got this problem all over, and I think ERs are one of the first places where the public can be considered for something that they may have or may not have.  Somebody said that it’s “in the eye of the beholder.”  Well, it’s in the eye of the would-be patient.  And I think we need to keep these places open.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well put, Senator Vincent.  Thank you.  And thank you all to this panel.  Appreciate your participation.


And if I could ask the panelists for the fire and law enforcement panel to come forward, please.


We’ll start with Matthew McLaughlin, special agent, Federal Bureau of Investigations.


MR. MATTHEW McLAUGHLIN:  Thank you, and good afternoon.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  And I’ll have to reinforce what Senator Ortiz said earlier about the importance of keeping this moving because we’ve got a lot of ground to cover.  So I appreciate succinctness and briefness.


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  Of course.  


By way of background, I’m the media rep in our office, the spokesperson for the L.A. office of the FBI.  I’ve been doing that for about a year and a half.  Prior to that, I was fifteen years as a street agent and six years on our SWAT team.  


After the 11th occurred, my first thought was:  What’s next?  Given a tactical background, what is next?  


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I have a feeling that’s still your thought.


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  That is.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Unfortunately.


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  But rather than just ask that question, I started peppering our weapons-of-mass-destruction experts in the office, along with Dr. John Celentano of L.A. County Health, about a number of different issues about exactly how to deal with what might happen next, which might be chemical, biological, or nuclear attack.  And this was really a self-preservation issue.  I feel tactically with weapons, with direct adversaries, that I have decent training in that but was ignorant as to many of the properties regarding chemical, biological, and nuclear potential attacks.


I started getting information that years before there was little understanding of some of the many properties and dynamics involving these matters and that the widespread risk of casualties was, I’d say, relatively minor, but was and is, given the relative properties of many of those considerations.  Nonetheless, I still asked the question:  What is a good protocol to go through if I think that somebody’s throwing seron on me or if a nuclear bomb does go off?  What practical things?  Do I just stand and wait to die?  What exactly do I do?  How do I take care of myself?  How do I take care of my family?  Making it very personal.  And I developed a protocol of about six different things that I could do which would make any event far more survivable than I’d thought possible prior to asking those questions, and there never was a need to ask those questions prior to the 11th.


The reason I wanted to mention that is because we’re talking about prevention and how we respond to an attack if and when another occurs, but prevention seems to be the best treatment for anything.  If you can effectively deal with an attack as it occurs or immediately after it occurs, even before first responders arrive on scene, your chance of survivability is greatly increased.  


For instance, in the event of a nuclear attack, and keeping in mind that the chances of that are extremely remote, but if it did happen, and that’s a question that a lot of people ask, as well as additional chemical/biological threats, what would you do?  Most people that I’ve spoken to have said that they would just stand there and wait to die.  The fact is simple protocols, like I would move my family away from that, whatever it was.  If I’m alive after the initial detonation, I’m moving away from that threat.  Well, I also learned that the radioactive material is essentially contained in the dust cloud, the debris cloud, so I’m going to try to get out of the path of that cloud, or the debris.  But if that’s not possible to do, then I’m going to cover with a folded material my mouth and nose and that of my family and continue to move out of the way of the cloud.  Because the threat is the cloud itself of radioactive contamination.


So then what do you do if you can’t get free of the cloud?  Well, your clothes actually act as a reasonable barrier to many of the particles that would then be deposited.  So then immediately we would strip down, get a lot of those materials off of us, and immediately start washing with soap, water, and a brush, because you need to get the particles out of your pores.  And as soon as I could call 911 – it probably would be somewhere in there – that’s another thing I would do immediately, and it greatly would enhance me and my family’s chance of surviving such an incident.  


The protocols for in the event of a biological attack or chemical attack are essentially the same.  But I’m not sure that many of the public are aware of that.  No one in my office tasked me to do that.  I’m just a lowly media rep, just a spokesperson, but I have a tactical background, so my question always was:  What was next?  How do I prepare for what is next?  Just like in other law enforcement scenarios, if you’re going to engage in a hostile environment by serving an arrest warrant or search warrant or take down an active shooter, you’ve got to be well trained and learned in not only proficiency but what is likely to happen if you do certain things.


So that is one thing that I wanted to bring to today that I didn’t know if you’d possibly get from any other source.  I think everyone is doing a marvelous job in terms of preparedness, but obviously, as has been pointed out a number of times, on the 11th the rules changed substantially.  The ability to respond to what was previously perceived as possible threats and likely threats, that changed.  And everybody needs to wrap up, I suppose.


But I wanted to offer that as a means of self-protection that each person could exercise, and I would liken that to following the bombing of Pearl Harbor.  As my history study indicates is people practiced blackout techniques:  They put black tape on their headlights.  They put light barriers in their houses so they could have their lights on and still not be detected in the event of a bombing raid.  Those are practical things that America did at that time because that threat presented itself.  Similarly, this is a very different threat.  Protocols like that might be worth disseminating publicly, but that is a decision that folks other than the FBI, quite frankly, need to make and should consider that as they see fit.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay, thank you very much.


Next I’d like to call on Michael Grossman, a captain with Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Terrorism Early Warning Group.  Mr. Grossman.


CAPTAIN MICHAEL GROSSMAN:  Thank you.  My name is Michael Grossman.  I’m a captain with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department, and I command the Emergency Operations Bureau.


It was said earlier that all incidents are local incidents, and response management and command and control are local law enforcement, fire, and health problems, and that was very evident in New York City.  I just came back from New York City on Tuesday night, where I toured the entire operation back there.  I would suggest that there are many lessons to be learned, good lessons to be learned.  They’ve done an amazing job, but there are good lessons to be learned for all disciplines involved.


What I want to talk about today is the Terrorism Early Warning Group.  It’s a local structure that provides the unified command structure information sharing and coordinated response among all agencies that are involved.


Los Angeles County has experienced more manmade and natural disasters than anywhere else in the nation.  In 1996, the Terrorism Early Warning Group was formulated to address issues of terrorism that include chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear, high explosives as well as agroterrorism.  


The TEW is a multi-agency, multi-jurisdictional, multi-functional working group that provides the framework for coordination of effort between agencies that previously were competitors for scarce resources rather than collaborators.


Terrorism is a network threat, and the only way to attack it is with a networked response.  The TEW follows a networked approach, integrating law enforcement, fire, health, and emergency management agencies to address the intelligence needs for terrorism and critical infrastructure protection.  This provides consequence, projection, or forecasting to identify potential courses of action to a unified command structure.


For a net assessment function, the TEW is organized into a command and officer-in-charge element, analysis, and synthesis element, consequence management, investigative liaison, and public health, epidemiological intelligence, episodic intelligence, and ________ surety elements.  These are supported by the forensic intelligence support element which includes the field assessment support team, which is a team – right now it’s one, actually, individual – that can respond with advanced detection equipment, applying new technologies to these problems, and a cache of personal protective gear for first responders.  Another element to this is a civil battle lab to continually look for new doctrine and applications and new technology for responding to these types of events.


The investigative liaison element coordinates with criminal investigative entities, and the epi-intel element is responsible for real-time disease surveillance and coordination with the disease investigation.  It is our intention to include a full-time epidemiologist on the team of the TEW for this purpose.


The core members of the TEW are the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department, which is the secretariat for the organization, the Los Angeles Police Department and Los Angeles County Fire Department, Los Angeles City Fire Department, Los Angeles County Department of Health Services, both public health and EMS, with whom we have a very excellent working relationship, Los Angeles World Airports’ airport police, and Los Angeles Division of the Federal Bureau of Investigation.  There’s other agencies involved such as the Department of the Coroner, District Attorney’s Office, local, state, and federal law enforcement, as well as military.


We received a recent allocation of about $1.5 million from the county of Los Angeles to expand to a full-time operation for the TEW.  The total needed costs are about $33.5 million from local, state, and federal resources.  A good portion of this is for both equipment and training.


As a model for what different regions across the country can set up, we have proposed and testified and presented – done these presentations – presented the strategic overview and have testified to the California State Speaker’s Task Force on the Impact of Terrorism in California and the Little Hoover Commission.  Just Monday in New York we testified before the House Select Committee on Intelligence, the Subcommittee on Terrorism and Homeland Security.  We’ve also made the presentation to other members of Congress, and the Strategic Overview Budget was also requested by Senator Feinstein.  So there are issues of funding, and it does need to be spread through local, state, and federal.  


But the bigger issue is that coordination of effort and knowledge coming in and information sharing, which was a huge part of the discussion in New York City.  We do have the model for that.  It’s been proven, it’s been recognized, and it’s our intention to spread that throughout the state and throughout the nation as the model to prepare for and respond to these types of events.


And I thank you for your invitation to come.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, Mr. Grossman, it’s very reassuring to hear agencies talking about coordination and working together.  Of course, the Hollywood version of what you all do is that you all like to fight over turf and territory and all of that.  Of course, I’m sure some of that exists somewhere, but to hear a concerted effort for agencies to realize that you’re all working for the safety of the same public, and so, therefore, you have a duty to coordinate as you’ve described, is very reassuring, and I hope it is or becomes the model.  Because I think under the kinds of circumstances we’ve been describing of the limited resources relative to the need, we can’t afford to not have agencies working together and making maximum use of the resources, figuring out how to coordinate so that they can be effective and efficient.


And I’m going to turn the gavel back up over to the chair, and Michael Warren is our next speaker.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I want to thank Senator Chesbro for chairing the committee.  We were having a quick lunch, and I apologize.  It doesn’t in any way take away from the importance of your testimony.


I understand our next speaker is Mr. Warren.  Welcome, Mr. Warren, and please, share with us the important information that our members need to take back as we get through the next year on policy development.


CHIEF MICHAEL WARREN:  Sure, we’d be happy to.


My name is Michael Warren.  I’m fire chief for the city of Corona in Southern California, and I’m also the legislative director for the California Fire Chiefs Association.  With me today is the president of the California Fire Chiefs Association, Chief Dave Carlson.  And between the two of us, we have very short comments, and we’ll stay under the three to five minute rule, I assure you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


CHIEF WARREN:  Dave is going to start off with a couple of comments for you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.


CHIEF DAVE CARLSON:  Thank you very much.  Again, Dave Carlson, with the city of Riverside and the California Fire Chiefs as well.  We represent 450 fire chiefs throughout the state of California out of about 900.  So about half the chiefs are in our organization.


Earlier, there was some talk about the training that was provided on terrorism.  A hundred and twenty-two cities throughout the nation were provided funding to have training for terrorism, fourteen in California.  That was based on population only, and it was the number of people that lived in the area, not on the size of the threat or situations within those cities.  So you can see with those fourteen cities, we represent another 450 of a total of 900.  So, it went well in the highly populated areas, but there are a lot of areas in the state that do not have training, and there are fire departments in those areas.


I would like to talk about the needs of the fire service with regards to this issue of terrorism, down to the real basic level, and then have Mike talk about some possible solutions that we have come up with through that process.


A first responder, in our estimation, and it began with the emergency services with hazardous materials.  That was where the term “first responder” first came from.  And in our opinion, that is a person that goes from point A to point B to provide services to an incident.  That normally comes through the 911 system.  The first on the scene are particularly, usually, fire or police officers, and their job is to identify quickly what the situation is.  If it is a hazardous material incident, in the case of an anthrax scare for example, or a powdery substance, which we’ve had a lot of calls and we continue to get them, the first thing you have to do is to isolate the area and deny entry to anyone coming in.  Provide any kind of rescue or first aid for anyone in the area, which includes the first responders themselves.  We have to make sure that they are safe.  So initial response is very important.  Identify what the substance is, if you can, and if you need some additional training and education in those areas, that’s what we’re looking at as far as the fire service is concerned.  This also includes EMS personnel.  There is really a continuum of care that we operate under to the first responder in the field that actually sees the individual or victim into the ambulance and into the emergency room at the hospital.  


Decontamination is a major factor for us in the field:  identifying what the material is so we can decontaminate people.  Otherwise, you have problems with the contamination of the ambulance all the way to the hospital.  In Riverside City, we had a traumatic incident a couple of years ago.  You may remember the “Glory of Ramirez” incident.  It completely demobilized the hospital for thirteen hours.  We are still going to court over that issue as far as the lawsuits are concerned.  So it’s a very significant issue to decontaminate.


We did a short survey.  Chief Warren called his hospitals, I did as well, and asked them, “What do we do with decontamination?  What do you do when you have one of these incidents at the hospital?”


“Call the fire department.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So decontamination at the hospital site rather than offsite.


CHIEF CARLSON:  This is what we’re looking at as the potential to have that available at a hospital, to have decontamination set up.  At least to have a process that they understand.  What are they going to do when they get somebody there?  They should be decontaminated before they’re put into the ambulance and transported, but what happens if they’re not?  You’ve got a contaminated ambulance, a gurney, all the way into the hospital.  The doctors, the ER, everything is shut down.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So ideally, you would decontaminate offsite or prevent people…  


CHIEF CARLSON:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What you don’t want is people walking in to hospitals and having to do decontamination because there could be more people at risk.  It’s hard to control.


CHIEF CARLSON:  That’s correct.  And it gets into the air conditioning systems.  This was all the other things that we found, that it can contaminate the entire hospital.  So there are a lot of things that need to get done.  A lot of it is just cooperation and discussion between the hospitals and the fire service, or the first responders in this particular case, which could include the EMS personnel and ambulance.  Sometimes it’s fire, sometimes it’s private persons, but they do need to cooperate with one another.


Identification of the material in the field is very important, and we’re looking at the needs of on-scene identification of materials to be able to find out what it is, to do the testing for anthrax on the environment and the materials in—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you set up a lab in the field?


CHIEF CARLSON:  We can do that.  Our hazardous materials teams currently have labs in their units, depending on what the city is, what they’ve been able to purchase.  This is an area that we have problems with funding in is to be able to buy the materials.  They’re very expensive to do these tests.  


We just did a survey for our city.  The city of Riverside is approximately 250,000 people.  We did a survey of our HAZMAT team and asked them, “What do we need to be able to respond to these incidents now?  What do we need to purchase in excess of what we currently have?” and the bill was about $100,000 for the test materials and the suits that they need.  The problem is we have Level A suits, but we purchased those expecting them to last a long period of time because of the number of responses that we had been experiencing prior to the attacks.  Now, with all of the anthrax, you have to take each and every one of those seriously.  You cannot just walk in and say, “Okay, well, that’s Cremora,” or whatever it is.  You have to take them as a serious hazard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So the suits wash down after each response?


CHIEF CARLSON:  You can do that, but they’re going to be breaking down over a period of time.  So that means that you have a problem with providing service to your constituents that are there in the normal course of duty and operations.  That’s where we have the problem:  the funding between our normal course of operations and this added threat and added needs.


Special monitoring equipment, we know it exists.  There’s some backlog on even trying to get that now.  That would help if there was some way of getting help to get those things, to get funding to be able to build more monitoring devices so we can get them to the fire service more quickly.


Initial handling and coordination of these incidents are very important, and it really determines what the ultimate outcome and the long-term effects are going to be.  We do have to cooperate with our law enforcement agencies, with emergency medical services, and typically, it’s either going to be nothing or you’re going to have the entire world on top of you within probably two hours.  And that’s where we really run into the coordination problems, and you have to take each thing step by step by step.  It takes away from your ability to respond to other incidents that are in your city.  And these things just continue to come at a fast pace at this point in time.


So, the point of all of this is that we definitely need to work together, but there are also some funding sources and issues that we need to be able to provide to the fire service across the board, not just to the fourteen major cities in the state.


And I’ll defer to Mike.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


CHIEF WARREN:  Thank you, Dave.


We’ve already heard earlier this morning, and we’re all certainly well aware of the significant budget problems the state’s facing next year.  We also need to then look at, well, what are other sources we can use to try to help us through this problem?  One of them is the Federal Fire Act.  Any support we can get in that arena would be significantly helpful.  Recently, they were talking about an additional $600 million appropriation of that Act, culminating $1.4 billion in about 2004.  Currently, in most local fire departments in the state of California, we’re using our very scarce limited revenues that we have within our own city to try to meet this current demand that’s been placed upon us.  So, as we look towards the federal government for help, we all need to work together to try to help assure those types of funding.


Hazardous materials tend to be very scarce in the state of California.  As an example, in the county of Riverside, there are currently three full hazardous materials teams that will operate outside their city and jurisdiction in cooperation and support of one another, and that’s a significant burden.  So we need to take a look at how we can provide hazardous materials teams throughout the state in those jurisdictions that need them and have a desire for them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Chief Warren, let me just interrupt you.  Mr. Hansel, hopefully you caught that.  The Federal Fire Act is one of the pieces of legislation and funding sources that we’re monitoring on the federal level as well.


CHIEF WARREN:  Earlier today we’ve also heard about the problems that the healthcare community is facing.  We’ve heard testimony this morning about the training needs in the emergency rooms and with the doctors.  What Cal-Chiefs is doing proactively in that arena is we’re encouraging our hazardous materials teams to make contact with their county health departments and the hospitals in their communities to provide some interim stopgap training to the physicians and the nurses and what they can do to help maintain patient care within the ER as well as protect themselves and the healthcare workers in the hospital.  And we’re encouraging all of our fire departments to work with the hospitals to develop a coordinated effort at the hospitals for a decontamination isolation, confined containment of any biohazard or chemical threat.  And so we’re working in that arena very aggressively, as fast as we can, to get that out.  


In our local area, we’re meeting with our hospitals, starting as early as next Tuesday, to put together all those training programs for our physicians and nurses in the hospitals.  


So those are some of the ideas we’d offer up for the committee’s consideration.  Again, we’d like to thank you, Senator Ortiz, for all of your help and your leadership on this issue as well as many others that you have.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  I’m sure members will have questions on, again, the huge, huge demands for funding.


Our next speaker is – I have Joe Farrow here, but—


CAPTAIN ADAM CUEVAS:  Myself, Senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Welcome.  Please identify yourself for the record.


CAPTAIN CUEVAS:  Yes, Senator.  My name’s Adam Cuevas.  I’m a captain with the California Highway Patrol.  I’m in charge of the legislative unit.  First of all, I’d like to thank you, Senator, for inviting us to participate in such an important topic.


One of the many actions that the Governor took as a response to September 11th was appointing our commissioner to head a task force on terrorism, and rather than going into a long laundry list of what we as an agency have been doing, I think it’s been adequately covered, and I know time is of the essence.


I just want to make a couple of points that I think need to be addressed.  Our 6,700 sworn personnel out on the highways throughout the state right now, along with all law enforcement, is being taxed tremendously.  Our problem is that our responsibility is increasing, obviously, and our resources are not increasing along with them.  For example, I’m sure many of you, if not everybody, noticed there was Highway Patrol units outside of this building.  One of our responsibilities is covering all state facilities.  I can tell you that some of those units are not normally assigned here at the Ronald Reagan Building.  They’re assigned on the road.  I just came yesterday from a sad, sad event and that was Officer Fontana’s, from the San Jose Police Department, death.  


So crime is continuing, and I know one of the members mentioned people are still being killed in accidents.  There’s still things going on, but we can’t ignore what’s going on with regards to bioterrorism.


Senator Romero, I think, brought up a very, very good point:  What do we do, what do we tell people, we in law enforcement along with fire?  First responders get questions all the time in that regard:  What do we do?  How do we react?  In our instance, a lot of the times it’s the hoaxes because there haven’t been any confirmed cases.  So what do we do now?  Now I’ve found an envelope with some powder in it.  We’ve had a couple of those, unfortunately.  What we say to them, dial 911, of course, you know, all the basic steps, then we get there.  


What we’ve been surprised at is that coordination is important.  We definitely have some work to do.  I think one of the points brought up was hospitals.  We, along with myself, were surprised to hear that hospitals – for example, there were a couple of our own employees.  They were suspicious about things they weren’t sure, and they went to the hospital, and because they didn’t demonstrate any symptoms were turned away; they weren’t admitted.  


So these are important things for law enforcement to be apprised of so that we know what to tell people what to expect.  


The costs – and I’m not going to bore you with our woes, but just really quickly.  Everyday we’re on tactical alert right now.  What that equals is every single day it costs us $791,000 to operate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I had heard it was about $800,000 a day since September 11th, which is a little over – what is the figure, ongoing figure, as of today?


CAPTAIN CUEVAS:  For the Patrol, it’s about $13½ million with two deficiency letters in it.  It’s ongoing right now.  We want to keep working as much as we can, but the problem is what do we do with this issue while still addressing the current issues that are facing California?


And that’s all I have.  Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your work and your testimony.


We now have, I think, our last speaker on this panel.  I suspect we have a number of questions from members.  But welcome, Mr. John Lovell, and if you could identify yourself for the record.


MR. JOHN LOVELL:  Good afternoon.  My name’s John Lovell.  I represent the California Police Chiefs Association.  I’ll be very brief.  I just want to touch on a couple of points.


First, I want to commend the chair for her leadership in holding this hearing.  This is a very important issue.  As you can see from the denseness of the testimony all day, this is really a shared responsibility.


The California Police Chiefs Association is responsible for the delivery of public safety services to 22 million Californians.  That’s out of 35 million in the state.  So, on the local level at least, we are the primary deliverer of public safety services, like our fellow sheriffs, like fire, like public health, and we regard all of these as a seamless garment in dealing with terrorism.  But like all of those agencies, we have enormous responsibilities and very, very limited resources.  


Okay, so where are those resources going to come from?  Well, listening to one of the allusions made by Senator Kuehl this morning, she stated the obvious:  We’re not going to get a lot of relief in the state budget this year.  But I’ll tell you things that could make it even worse, and I want to caution this committee against being led down that path.  When you’re looking at the budget deficit, one of the things that you might be asked to do is take away local property tax revenues or take away VLF backfill.  That is a dagger in the heart of public health and local public safety, and it would be a tragedy if we developed protocols and strategies out of this hearing and then took it away by being led down a wrong path in the budget process.  And I would just caution each of you to be on guard on that point.


Okay, well, where are the resources?  Well, I can tell you the law enforcement organizations, and this really started with the rank and file groups, have put together a proposal for a quarter-cent sales tax.  The idea would be that it would go on the March ballot.  It would provide for funding for fire, public health, law enforcement, both city, county, and state, because we’re beyond turf in all of this stuff.  We need to mobilize everything.  This is a proposal that has been developed – actually, it was developed by representatives from ALADS, Association of L.A. Deputy Sheriffs.  California Police Chiefs Association are strongly supporting it.  We’re hopeful that there will be an effort in the Legislature to put this on the March ballot.  ALADS, I’m told, I spoke to their representative today, they’ve actually presented this concept proposal to the Governor.  We think that this is a solution that will provide the necessary resources.  The estimate is about $750 million a year could be raised through a quarter-cent sales tax.  We also believe that it is something that the public will support.  


Let me just close with one anecdote.  As I was driving over here this morning, there was a story on KNX Radio about how officially the sales tax is going to be ratcheted up slightly today by operation of law because our surplus is lower, and KNX Radio interviewed a number of people and asked, “Well, what do you think about this?”  The universal response of the people who were interviewed was “I don’t mind.  This is something we’ve got to do.  We’ve got to step up.  This is about patriotism.”  Those were the kinds of responses.  And I believe that the public, and the California Police Chiefs Association believes that this is the kind of solution that’ll provide the needed infrastructure, and we believe that the public will support it.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ: 
Thank you for your brief but pointed testimony, and I’m sure that’s raised a number of issues for my colleagues to comment on.  I do want to give my colleagues an opportunity to ask a few questions first, as always, and then I will wait until others have asked their questions.


Questions, Senator Chesbro?


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, this is way too obvious, and it risks setting up the whole rest of the afternoon.  It’s yet another tribute to public servants.  But I do want to say that we are so much more aware now of the importance of our public safety personnel, and I really like how we have broadened the definition of public safety today.  The most obvious are the heroes of September 11th, but I think we all now realize that the people who are out there everyday protecting us are very, very important.  I think that there’s a real good chance politically in the period that we’re in to focus resources for local governments, specifically targeted on public safety, and certainly we’ll work with each of the organizations and local governments to try to figure out how to address that.  And, of course, the quarter-cent sales tax idea is an intriguing idea.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Assemblymember Pacheco?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  I have a question that I’ve asked before, and I’ve been getting inconsistent answers, and I thought perhaps maybe you could give me your point of view.


When we had the first Terrorist Task Force in Sacramento meeting, we had a number of police chiefs that were there and fire personnel, FBI; everybody was there.  One of the concerns that I have is the exchange of information and data regarding preparedness, equipment, and availability of exchange of that data between agencies.  I got one message there, and then I’ve been talking to police chiefs and fire captains in the various areas trying to get the lowdown at the grassroots level where they’re interacting, and they tell me, “Well, not always do we have good data.  We don’t always get the exchange of information that we need.”


And so maybe you can fill me in.  How well organized is your exchange of data so that you have, for example, an inventory of what equipment’s available?  Let’s say you have one area that gets hit hard with some disaster of some kind, and another agency has equipment that needs to be maybe used, or you have to have personnel from that agency go to that other location.  I just wonder how good is the exchange, and are you doing this on a regular basis?  Has this been beefed up now because of all the Terrorist Task Force problems?  Can you tell me at all?


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  It’s really a twofold question.  One is equipment and resources.  The other is information or intelligence.  On the equipment and resources side, we have a very robust mutual aid system in the state of California.  There are seven mutual aid regions.  Stan Roberts is the chief of one of those regions, as he mentioned he coordinates.  So if there are resources needed and they go beyond what we have in our own area, then we contact our state agency representatives to go to other agencies.


In the county of Los Angeles, we have seven mutual aid regions or mutual aid areas throughout the county, and each of those are made up of the police departments in those areas that contact the sheriff’s department.  The sheriff in each of the counties is the coordinator for emergency services, emergency response.


If there is an event – like last night, it was Halloween.  Some major events occurred through the area.  I believe in West Hollywood there was a party over there.  What we knew is we know how many resources are available from every one of those agencies throughout the county in manpower, in what we call 50 percent of field force, that they could allow to leave their city to go somewhere else if we needed personnel.  We also, at the same time, know what kind of equipment they have, if it’s mobile command post equipment or specialty equipment like canine or hazardous material bomb squads.  Whatever the specialty equipment is.  And we keep that in the emergency operation center if it’s activated for an event so that we know exactly what resources are where.  And if you are not part of the problem, then you are a resource.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  But have you changed the procedures in any way?  Are you talking about—


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  No.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  This is an existing program.


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  That’s correct.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  I’m asking about an exchange program that has been in the system for a while.  I’m asking, have you changed that?  Have you beefed that up?  Is there anything changed?  Because I’m getting one answer from one source, and yet, your ground troops are saying something different.  So why is that?


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  I can tell you what exists in Los Angeles County and some of the other counties from our association with them.  But no, the system, the structure, has not changed.  Whether you activate it or not is a different issue.  If you have information – and that’s the other part of your question – that leads you to believe there is potentially a problem, then you can garner your resources and know where they are so they respond.  The structure’s in place.  It has not changed.  There’s only so many police officers/law enforcement personnel in the state.  We can only allocate and distribute them as necessary.  So no, it hasn’t changed.  It hasn’t been beefed up.  The structure is very robust, and it works very well.


The other side of it is information sharing.  That hasn’t been quite as successful because there’s information that comes from federal to state to local and sharing back and forth.  That’s the structure of the Terrorism Early Warning Group.  That’s the purpose of that.  It’s a bottoms-up approach to interagency sharing of information that crosses all jurisdictions, and it’s built on a bottoms-up approach that’s really a relationship building with people who know each other in the same kind of work that share the information so that the right information gets to the agency that needs to coordinate responses.


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  I can probably also answer that in part.  My sense is, in the last few weeks, that it is really regarding more the informational, the intelligence-based exchange of information.  That is more regionalized.  Again, being able to speak more to Los Angeles issues, but here in Los Angeles County we have the Los Angeles Task Force on Terrorism [LATFOT], and that is an entity that has been in existence since the ’84 Olympics.  That has evolved and is inclusive of Los Angeles Police Department, L.A. Sheriff’s Department.  We have California Department of Justice who’s also a member, although there’s been a lapse in the last few months because of promotions and needing to fill that spot.  CIA’s part of that. 


And if I might also address some of the issues about interagencies working well together, that is indeed a matter that is well overblown in the press.  There are restrictions as to what the FBI and the CIA can actually discuss in illuminating issues that the press has sort of naively focused on.  A prime example would be that between CIA and FBI.  There was an allegation that there were two terrorists that came through New York, Los Angeles and San Diego, and then ended up on the flight that was indeed hijacked and crashed in Pennsylvania.  That information was distorted heavily in the media.  In fact, it was a very efficient passing of that information from CIA to INS, FBI, and then across the country.


Likewise, there is a very efficient passing of information amongst LATFOT members at our emergency operations center here on Wilshire Boulevard.  We have an LAPD issue, we go to the LAPD officer there in the room, and we discuss that issue with the sheriff’s department.  There’s been consideration of more localized terrorism task forces.  The FBI would advise that that may not be the most prudent course of action, namely because of the lack of intelligence that would be able to be drawn as efficiently as through LATFOT.  All LATFOT members have the security clearances that are required for classified information that we obtain from intelligence agencies around the world.  We also can task very differently, very speedily, if an issue arises, to have intelligence issues resolved around the world as well.  So, there may be gaps in communication, in the flow of information from point to point


One example of a little known terrorism group that LATFOT investigated thoroughly, and we indeed made seven arrests on federal charges in February, was an outfit called the MEK, the Mujahedin-e Khalq.  They were a sophisticated fundraising arm operating out of Los Angeles International Airport and were making very profitable solicitations of primarily Asians.  They’d done profiling of their own and identified Asian passengers as the best targets.  They were in business attire.  We intercepted a training video.  The funds that they were raising were purportedly for humanitarian aid.  We traced that information, and we initiated that investigation as a direct result of the German National Police providing us information relative to a money laundering operation that was ongoing.  We then focused on the subjects here in Los Angeles, a lengthy investigation, a lengthy affidavit, traced a substantial amount of money to a used car dealership in Dubai and then the trail ended.  What terrorist group they are associated with overseas is still under investigation, and we may have more information on that in months to come.


But I think the point is, is that LATFOT stands as an example, a shining example, of how task forces can work extremely well.  We have a system in place 

here in at least Los Angeles that seems to work very efficiently, and FBI recommends continued support and extends the invitation to other agencies that are interested in participating.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Assemblymember Pacheco, are you—?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PACHECO:  That’s fine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Assemblymember Wyman.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  For Chief Dave Carlson and for Mike Warren, you talked about the Federal Fire Act, and I think that’s really good news.  As I understood, you said there may be $600 million this fiscal year and may be going up higher.  And you were talking about funding HAZMAT teams and you talked about the important policy of doing the decontamination offsite.


Number one, is the federal funding such that the kind of direction to achieve that is accomplished – and I’d be glad to help in any way I could – or would some state clarification be useful?  It seems like this is a logical policy.  Maybe it can be done just with interagency kind of coordination.  But if there’s any way, I think this member and others would love to help facilitate that, if you could comment.


CHIEF WARREN:  Well, that’s certainly the type of support that we’re looking for, and I would welcome with open arms working with you and any other members of the Legislature to help ensure the successful passage of this funding.


The first year of the grant, this last year, was $100 million nationwide.  Now, it’s spread among 32,000 fire departments in the country.  I’m very fortunate, I believe, in the city of Corona.  I was successful in getting two of the grants this last year, and they’re primarily directed towards training and equipment, which certainly fall into the needs of today’s climate and what the fire service is dealing with.  In addition, there’s a concerted effort between the International Association of Firefighters and the International Association of Fire Chiefs with this increased funding to be able to hire 75,000 additional firefighters in the nation that can certainly then be deployed into hazardous materials teams as well as augment staffing and response to all the issues that we’re dealing with but most importantly the issues of terrorisms.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  So this $100 million, though, it looks like, post-September 11th, it may be up to $600 million.


CHIEF WARREN:  Shortly after September 11th, there was a move within Congress and approved to appropriate $600 million.  It still hasn’t made its way all the way through the process yet, but that’s where it’s at today.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  Well, thank you.  And I just have to say, as somebody who observed and had the honor of walking with some of you, the event that occurred in Sacramento honoring the firefighters was something that I told my children, “I’ll remember that ‘til my dying day.”  It was such a tribute.  It had the survivors, of the Pennsylvania plane that went down, who lost their loved ones, perhaps saved the Capitol or the White House.  I think it was appropriate to honor those that are involved with fire fighting as we also honor the people that are – or other law enforcement agencies.


So we honor you and appreciate you.  I’ll help in any way I can as it relates to this.


CHIEF WARREN:  Thank you.  I have one more comment, and that is we’re currently working with members of the State Legislature, and some of you may be aware of a particular bill that we’ve been working through the State Legislature sponsored by Assemblyman Rod Pacheco, that if successful, if we’re able to move that here shortly, it does identify equipment and training for responses to terrorism for fire services, the number one spending priority of that bill.  We’re still working on that eagerly and hope to see successful passage of that in the next session.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  Thank you.  What’s that bill number?


CHIEF WARREN:  AB 1022.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WYMAN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a bit of a plug here.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  The door was open, so you might as well go through it.  (Laughter.)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a couple of questions, members.  Let me touch on a question that may have been raised earlier when I was out of the room, and I apologize.  I wasn’t here when you did your presentation.  I have a question for the FBI, but I also have a question later for Mr. Lovell.


One of the things that I have heard in my region – I represent Sacramento County, most of it, and I convened a group of my police, fire, our emergency HAZMAT team, EMS team, CHP – and got briefed on some of the either statutory or legislative obstacles of sharing information in investigations and some obstacles to sharing that information with local police, sheriff, etc., specifically the FBI.


I also heard a bit, and I certainly want to be very careful about this, a suggestion that somehow lots of information had been gathered, and for reasons other than the statutory or constitutional obstacles that are presented at this point, information was not adequately shared with the locals.


Would you mind commenting on the legal impediments?  I know you sort of addressed an example in Los Angeles County, or maybe it was the press sensationalism of lack of sharing of information, but might you be able to propose not only legal or statutory recommendations that we need in California to more appropriately share information, but if there is some administrative or programmatic kinds of things we need to be looking at, that would be helpful as well?


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  Yes.  At the risk of sounding immodest, I think what we have here in Los Angeles – as I mentioned LATFOT – is a pretty good example of a task force that works extraordinarily well.  We had a need to develop that in ’84 and did so and then continued because of the continuing terrorist threat.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You have laws in place.  It’s a large city and large region.


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  Precisely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But for our less large – I mean, in Sacramento we’re fortunate because unfortunate circumstances like the synagogue arsons, etc., we’ve had a fairly strong relationship with FBI.  However, Central Valley, smaller counties that may be heavily reliant on local mutual aid agreements, tell me what we need to work through in California for the rest of California.


MR. McLAUGHLIN:  I think Captain Grossman might be able to speak to this as well, in a reinforcing way, I would presume.


The sense is that in Los Angeles County, we have a need for many more specialized units than may exist in smaller jurisdictions.  I’ve worked on many task forces myself dealing with auto theft, which is an expansive problem in the number one car market in the world, Los Angeles County.  They don’t have the same types of dedicated resources region to region, which is kind of what I was getting at.  The fact that we had a structure in place already is what led to the initiation of the Terrorism Early Warning Group.  To parallel that, that’s when we in the L.A. office of the FBI assigned four agents in ’96 as weapons-of-mass-destruction specialists.  Now, keep in mind, Los Angeles, our jurisdiction here, we have a population base in our seven counties, which is the central federal district of California, a population base of 18 million, and we have 650 agents.  So given that we are the capital of the world in auto theft in white collar crime, bank robberies, and such, when they decided to dedicate four agents in 1996 to just work on weapons of mass destruction, quite frankly I thought we’ve got a lot of the targets out there that we need to put those resources to.


But they assigned those agents to those positions, and then on September 11th, the people that made that decision became geniuses because we had a system already in place, a really well-working system.


I guess my point is, and it’s somewhat speculative but I presume it to be correct, is that there is no parallel to LATFOT, was not a parallel to LATFOT in place, in Sacramento, and in many other regions of the state and the country.  And my suspicion is that what needs to happen, and because we have a longstanding, very close relationship, and I know of this personally, having been on many task forces – I’ve worked very closely with LAPD, law enforcement throughout Southern California on the line level and really up through administration; we have a very close relation – a lot of harmony happened and that makes for good law enforcement.  Because there wasn’t this already constructed framework of a parallel LATFOT in place, there is a vacuum that needs to be filled, and the question is how to fill that.  Is it with a state task force, or should it be something that would indeed parallel LATFOT?  And it think the advantages of a LATFOT everywhere would be highly advisable in the sense that it provides an intel base that I’m not sure would exist if there were a purely state mechanized terrorism task force.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  I’d just like to make a few comments to support what he’s saying.  L.A. Task Force on Terrorism has members of several agencies, as he mentioned, including the sheriff’s department.  We also have on the Terrorism Early Warning Group members of the FBI, and the investigative or intelligence section of the TEW fills the gap that the FBI can’t fill because of the legal requirements and also because of the number of people.  And those on the intelligence section – that is going to be enhanced through this recent money that we receive – also will have the clearances necessary to exchange the kind of information that needs to be exchanged.  And then they will scrub that information so that you can pass it on to the officer in charge so they can make good decisions on where to respond and what to respond to.  They don’t have to know where the information came from.  They just need to know where they need to have people on what corner.


The other link to putting this all together is – and by the way, Sacramento is currently in the process of putting together a terrorism early warning group.  Sergeant John Sullivan, who conceived this whole concept, has recently traveled up there to help them put that together.  We’re also going to be doing that same exchange with New York City.  


The other piece of that is the Governor recently ordered the California Antiterrorism Information Center to be stood up, and that’s an exchange of information, a pointer system, on who’s working on what type of intelligence information related to terrorism, and they’re using the narcotics database, the clearinghouses throughout the state, as the hardware system that’s already in place.  You just have to enter terrorism data.  Certain people are going to be allowed to enter data and take data out.  But that’s the pointer system.  If I put a piece of information in in Southern California and someone puts another piece in in Sacramento, and it’s the same person that builds the puzzle, then we have true information sharing throughout the state.  And as we spread the TEW concept, and the Joint Terrorism Task Force is already across the country, and the state system as the model, we will truly have regional systems that will be linked across the nation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How long will it take to get that system up and running, and what will the funding sources be?


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  It’s basically when the money comes in to be able to do that.  We made a presentation at the Little Hoover Commission, and there it was recommended that what could be done is you can stand up the L.A. TEW to its full operational status, because we’re farther ahead of everybody else at this point, and then replicate those throughout the state, and that perhaps the state can fund the seven different TEWs in each of the regional areas throughout the state, and then we can link that to other places in the country, as we’re requested to go to other places.  There are other states that are actually doing these, and as I mentioned, I was in New York this past week, and we set up an exchange program we’re going to be pursuing back there as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Let me just ask, the timeline, how soon will this be up and running?


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  Oh, I’m sorry.  The TEW is running right now but at its maximum capacity with minimal participation of individuals.  Several other departments have donated personnel to run this.  We are trying to stand it up as soon as possible.  We’re going to increase by sixteen staffing positions, and we hope to have that done as soon as we can get through that administrative process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And funding sources are state-federal combined?


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  Actually, I have a strategic overview breakdown of county, federal, and state where we would like the money to come from, where we’ve asked the money to come from, and I can present a copy of that and leave that with you, if you would like.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That would be great.  I appreciate that.


CAPTAIN GROSSMAN:  The timeline answer is:  As soon as we possibly can.  That’s not a good answer, but.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  Thank you so much.  I do want to ask Mr. Lovell a few questions.  I’m just trying to quickly go through.  I think we have about six more speakers, and I’ve already exceeded my own goal.  We should have been completed by now, so I would ask members to bear with me, because I know that there are other speakers who have waited patiently who deserve an audience.  So I apologize.


Mr. Lovell, very quickly, the discussion about the quarter-cent sales tax has been floating around for a couple of weeks now.  And I want to thank you for acknowledging that public health is a part of that public safety net.  I know we’ll have ample debate when we return to the Legislature – we have a very tight timeline – if at all, for this proposal to make it on the March ballot.  I suspect there will be certainly lively discussion in both houses on both sides of the aisle about the political feasibility of the quarter-cent sales tax for March.


Having said all that, let me ask you just to give us an overview.  Is this a four-year sunset?  Are we looking at language yet?  How are the discussions evolving with all the stakeholders, including the Governor’s office, on this?


MR. LOVELL:  Senator, the concept is a four-year concept, with an option for the Legislature to extend it, I believe, for an additional two years.  And I use the word “concept” deliberately.  There is not yet language developed.  I spoke with the sponsors of this, as I said today, and they’ve presented the concept to the Governor’s office.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And the sponsors, once again?  ALADS?


MR. LOVELL:  ALADS, yes.  Tim Gary(?) is the person who did the work on this.  They’ve presented it to the Governor’s office.  I think they’ve gotten some feedback that’s of a positive nature, but I don’t want to get ahead of myself on that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly.


MR. LOVELL:  There is not yet language.  One of the other things that we need to do is sit down with the stakeholders – public health, fire, local law enforcement and state law enforcement – and determine how this is to be distributed.  It’s been discussed doing it on a grant basis—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sort of a block grant?


MR. LOVELL:  –doing it on a per capita basis, maybe a blend of the two, but that’s well down the line.  I mean, that would be something that would be done within the next month or so.


What was done with the COPS money years ago was the principals sat down and they talked through the problems and then basically worked out the formula that we currently have with the COPS funding.  We would anticipate something like that, where the principals would sit down and hash it out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Any insight on whether or not we’re – I mean, I know there’s some discussion about always a conflict between dollars totally discretionary on the part of counties and cities or no discretion and very narrowly tailored as to what the uses could be.


MR. LOVELL:  That’s also still being hashed out.  One of the things, though, that we believe is important to have in anything like this is maintenance of effort language, so you don’t have the game played, as was done with Prop. 172, where the money went to L.A. County Sheriff and then the board of supervisors backed out from L.A. County Sheriff’s budget a whole host of county money.  So those are issues that are still being talked about.


CHIEF WARREN:  Senator, if I might?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


CHIEF WARREN:  I’d just like to let you know that the California Fire Chiefs Association has been working with the California Police Chiefs and the California Sheriffs Association on this issue, and we’re glad to be part of that process and to support it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  And do you, too, regard public health as a part of our public safety net?


CHIEF WARREN:  Yes, we certainly do, ma’am.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  All the right people are at the table.  It’s going to be a challenge, though, nonetheless.


I want to thank you all for your testimony and your participation.  I do appreciate it.  You’ve all been very patient, and I encourage you to stick around and listen to others who are part of this discussion as well.  Thank you.


Let me welcome our third to the last subpanel.  This is really the systems preparedness question, and this is dealing specifically with the healthcare subpanel issues.  Welcome.  We have Mr. Johnston, Mr. Furillo, and Duane Dauner.


Welcome.  Mr. Johnston, please introduce yourself, identify yourself, for the record.


DR. BRIAN JOHNSTON:  My name is Brian Johnston.  I’m an emergency physician from Los Angeles.  I’ve been asked to speak here today on behalf of the California Medical Association, L.A. County Medical Association, and the California chapter of the American College of Emergency Physicians.  And I appreciate the opportunity and salute your tenacity.


The question really is system preparedness, and I guess the real question under that is preparedness for what?  Are we talking ten, twenty, fifty, or a hundred cases?  Are we talking about an air burst of anthrax with a hundred thousand cases?  I think that is important to make a distinction.  Are we talking about a self-propagating agent such as smallpox or plague?  Or are we talking about an agent which is not really contagious from individual to individual such as anthrax?  Those issues materially affect any sort of response. 


Are we prepared?  Well, I think we’ve done a great deal in the last month or so.  Our educational projects are in full swing.  We are teaching and spreading the word on infectious disease threats.  There are a number of good materials and tapes out there that are being used.  I’ve given three lectures this week, and I anticipate to continue to do that on a regular basis.  I’m not the only one out there.  There are lots of other people doing the same thing.


The information which we’re getting from CDC and through the public health people and a number of different sources are being disseminated.  So even though people have not seen smallpox, I don’t think it’s going to go unnoticed.  And I would point out that the case in Florida, the failure was not on the part of the medical people, it was on failure to report from the family.  Similarly, in New York the first cutaneous case was picked up by an internist who reported it to public health.  This is a recurring pattern.  I think that our physicians are pretty sharp at picking things up when they’re unusual.  


There are a lot of organizational aspects that are already in progress, and I think we’ve made good progress.  The AMA, California Medical Association, local society and the specialty societies, in particular the Infectious Disease Society of America, are working closely together, and they’re working in concert with the Hospital Association, the American Public Health Association, and the CDC.  There is a ferment of activity.  L.A. County Medical Association has asked our public health people to come sit at our governing council.  They will be at our table November 12th and everyday thereafter.


Are the hospital medical staff plans in place?  No.  Are they emerging?  Yes.  It has to be done on a hospital-by-hospital basis, and there’s no real guide or template.  The best templates around are the ones I’ve seen from the Hospital Association, and those are being actively adopted and modified.  We’re not going to play games about whose template is better.  We’re just going to get the best that we can and use them.


Is the system prepared?  No.  If you follow the news releases, Dr. Mohammed Akhter of the American Public Health Association, a man who certainly stands high in the esteem of many of us, says, “No, we don’t have enough money.”  The federal government put through a $4.8 billion appropriation for bioterrorism and allowed $311 million for local activities.  Akhter said, “No, that’s not enough.”  L.A. County, our public health people requested something on the order of $5.7 million and got $1.8 million or something like that.  So the actual funding needs are not, in fact, being met.  


The underlying healthcare infrastructure in California is sick.  It is unhealthy.  It is underfunded.  It has been underfunded.  We’ve been saying it for years, and we have not really had any significant action.  We have a documented $400 million deficit annually in trauma and emergency services care.  That was shown long before any of this emerged.  We have the numbers of uninsured.  A third of the population in L.A. County under age 65 is uninsured.  We’ve been talking about this.  I’ve been talking personally about it for over a decade, and there has been essentially no action.


Are we underbedded?  Yes, we are underbedded.  And I had a conversation with Grantland Johnson of the state Health and Human Services in which I said that just as a matter of fact, and he was unaware or unwilling to accept the fact that we might be underbedded.


We are dealing with the significant issue of on-call physicians.  I can tell you as an emergency physician, I can’t operate an emergency department without a call panel.  I’m not going to do the heart surgery.  I’m not going to do the orthopedics.  I’m not going to do the pediatrics.  I’m not going to be the cardiologist.  I have to refer to those people.  Those people have been giving their services voluntarily for years, and they have been systematically ripped off by the insurance companies.  They have gone unpaid and have been burdened with things like __________, and they’re not doing it anymore.  When that system goes away, I don’t know what will replace it.  I do know that physicians are leaving practice and leaving the state.  That was well documented in a report put together by the California Medical Association.  And again, that has fallen upon deaf ears.  The abuse, the systematic pillage of the healthcare dollar by the managed care industry and by the insurance industry is, again, well documented, well established, and unresponded to.  


The county healthcare system in L.A. County is a shambles.  We are looking at an $887 million deficit and a $2.4 billion budget by the year 2003.


And the state, I must say, the Governor’s office, when requesting that we discuss these issues, has asked us for solutions that don’t cost money.  Well, I have to say that money is at the root of this problem, and I would submit that we should discuss issues which do cost money:  The numbers of uninsured, the level of Medi-Cal reimbursement, the insurance company abuse of the system, and our county healthcare system, and the budget deficits which are looming.  


We have very alert, willing people.  People who are ready to provide the 

services – docs, nurses, healthcare professionals – up and down the system.  They have systematically been underfunded and neglected for years, and therefore, our system is weak, and our capacity to deal with the flu, which is coming in the next month or so, is really in question.


In that context, I say we have a serious problem in dealing with bioterrorism.  And I would point out, lastly, that we’re not just dealing with bioterrorism.  We’re talking about biowarfare.  Once the genie is out of the bottle, it’s not going to just be something that’s used by terrorists.  It is going to be a fact of life in war between nation and states.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your honest and sobering testimony.


We have two other speakers on this panel.  I’m going to hold off and see if there are questions from Assemblymember Wyman until the other two speakers participate and provide testimony.


We have with us Jill Furillo.  Welcome.  And if you could quickly go through testimony and allow us to ask a few questions, appreciate that.


MS. JILL FURILLO:  I was in a hurry, but since I missed my flight, I guess that’s the bad news, but I’m sure I can get space on another.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I hope so.


MS. FURILLO:  I think there’s spaces on planes these days.


First I want to thank you for holding this hearing and inviting us to testify.  California Nurses Association is the largest organization of registered nurses in this state, representing thousands of registered nurses in over 120 hospitals, clinics, home health agencies, and in public health departments.  We hold quarterly meetings of a Public Health Nursing Task Force which has representatives from every public health department in the state.  


And so what we did is we pulled together that group last Monday to try to get some feedback from them as to what’s kind of going on now – you know, like what’s happening now as opposed to what to do in the future – because we felt that that could help us to project for the future.  Basically, the information that we got from the Public Health Nurse Advocacy Group was instructive as to what we have to do now.


According to them, specifically nurses from Alameda County, they are already overwhelmed with the number of anthrax calls that they are receiving in their public health department.  Sacramento County public health nurses as well are receiving quite a large number of calls:  between 14 to 20 a day.  And so, you say, well, that may not sound like a lot of calls but when you think of what has to happen once you receive the call in terms of the surveillance that is involved there.  


And so, we’re looking at our frontline workers.  When we talk about the infrastructure of our public health system or the infrastructure of our hospitals, what we’re looking at is who are the frontline workers who have to carry out the work that needs to be done in terms of surveillance?  Dr. Jeffrey Koplan from the Centers for Disease Control says that “There is no question that the initial responders to a disease outbreak will include local and state officers, hospital staff, members of the outpatient medical community, and a wide range of response personnel in the public health system,” and that includes your public health nursing staff who are out there doing that work.


In terms of the Alameda County nurses, they said that some of them, but not all of them, have received surveillance training on bioterrorism.  So they’ve begun that process, which is good, but the fact is, is there needs to be more.


Now, let me try to identify what some of the problems are in getting that done.  We are looking at basically a problem with our funding mechanisms.  In the public health department, many of these public health nursing positions are funded through categorical funding, which was referred to earlier.  And again, you can get more funding for positions if you’re working on specific projects, but when an emergency occurs or a disease outbreak occurs or, in the case of anthrax, calls that the county health nurses are receiving, they have to obviously respond to those phone calls.  What happens then is that they risk losing the categorical funding that has been earmarked for another project.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And for the projects they leave when they have to respond to—


MS. FURILLO:  That’s correct.  And those are very important projects that they’re working on, and you’ve identified some of those projects, the tuberculosis task forces, the chlamydia, etc.  So there’s that kind of pull, like “Are we going to get reimbursed?”  I mean, obviously we’re going to do the work.  We have to do the work.  But where’s the funding going to come from?  So we do have this problem.  I think it was referred to earlier by the previous speaker that we have seen the decimation of our public health system over the previous years.  There’ s been cuts in the nursing staff, the public health nursing staff.  Many clinics have been closed or eliminated.  


The Alameda County nurses pointed out, too, just last spring they had an outbreak in the county.  It was a meningitis outbreak that occurred in Livermore, and of course, the public health nurses needed to respond.  What happened was there were two students at the middle school who had meningitis and then a third case of meningitis reported in the high school where a student did die.  The nurses were dispatched to the community to do the education.  They had to pull together a meeting of the community.  This took about 35 to 40 field staff just in that one case alone, and they couldn’t complete the entire response.  They had to pull from surrounding counties to send their staff.  Berkeley, for example, and San Jose sent some public health nurses in to help.  What they had to do in that scenario was set up clinics at the school and to prescribe medication – Cipro.  You know, there was such a panic in the community that basically everyone got prescribed Cipro.  But what they said was that involved a total of 1,200 children at the high school and another 100 at the middle school.  


Now, what they’re saying is that if there were to be, for example, a smallpox emergency in the county, they would be responsible for vaccinating 1.5 million people just in Alameda County alone.  I asked them, “Well, how would that be done?”  They said, “At this point, I can’t tell you how we would get that done.”  We have to put those systems in place, and obviously the money is the key and where this funding is going to come from.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And those are the ongoing core public health functions that have been with us, will be with us, after all of this is behind us.


MS. FURILLO:  That’s correct.  


Now, in terms of the hospital nurses, the hospital nurses reported that they are already at capacity in their emergency departments, which the previous speaker referred to.  In a normal flu season, ERs, of course, are overwhelmed with overcrowding and long waits.  That’s just in a normal flu season.  What we’ve seen in New York City, talking to the nurses in New York City, whenever a report comes over the television about anthrax, they find that the emergency room – where are people going to flock?  They’re going to flock to emergency rooms.  And because you have such a high number of uninsured population here in California, as they do in New 

York – I think we’re probably higher in California – and with the economy going down the tubes, I think we’re going to see a significant increase in the number of folks who are uninsured.  Where do those folks go when they watch television, hear the threat of an anthrax outbreak?  They go to the emergency room.  That’s where folks are going.  So we’re already overtaxed in that regard.  


In the May 2001 issue of the American Journal of Public Health, there was an article entitled, “Hospital Preparedness for Victims of Chemical or Biological Terrorism,” because that’s what we’re talking about today.  The authors note, “The hospital emergency departments generally are not prepared in an organized fashion to treat victims of chemical or biological terrorism.”  Now, I do know in hearing from the field – again, we did a survey with registered nurses throughout the state – they have begun the process of that preparation in some hospitals.  In some they haven’t.  It’s kind of mixed throughout the state.  The article says that “The planned federal efforts to improve domestic preparedness will require substantial additional resources at the local level to be truly effective.”  


In the survey that was conducted with registered nurses and ER physicians – they’re the ones who responded to this survey – the results were the following:  that slightly more than one-half of the respondents were aware of local or state preparedness plans at all, and these are the folks who have to do the response.  Only 21 percent of hospitals reported having an emergency room indoor area with isolated ventilation, shower, and water containment system, which was referred to by the previous panel, as something that you need to have.  I think the best case scenario is that we would want to have offsite centers that are set up, but sometimes you’re not capturing everybody in those offsite centers.  And so, when they come to our emergency rooms, we want to make sure that the decontamination process is a good one so that everyone in the hospital isn’t infected and certainly the healthcare workers are not infected.


Most hospitals reported having no respiratory protective equipment.  That would be appropriate against chemical agents.  Half reported having enough Cipro and Doxicyclin to provide two days of prophylaxis for fifty hypothetical anthrax-exposed individuals.  And a few of the hospitals had developed plans and arranged training for response to a possible incident involving chemical or biological weapons.  


Now, we’re beginning to see in California, which I think California actually is beginning to do a good job in terms of we’re hearing from the field that they are talking about increasing the number of hospital drills and beginning the education process.  It’s kind of hard when there’s not enough nurses in an emergency room to take that time to go to an hour in-service, you know, because we have that problem with staffing in the emergency room.  All the nurses who have responded to our survey have expressed deep concern about the unsafe staffing situation that we have in our emergency rooms.


So in terms of this, specific recommendations that the nurses in both of these arenas, both in the public health arena and in the hospital arena, suggest are to expand the number of nursing slots in public health departments and develop competitive wage and benefit packages so that health departments don’t lose their nurses, which they are losing right now, to other settings.  


To implement loan forgiveness for nurses working in any county health department.  For example, you can get loan forgiveness if you’re working in a medically under-served community.  But just to give you an example, in San Joaquin County, in the rural areas, this is not considered to be a medically under-served community, because I know the nurses in San Joaquin who are working there can’t get the loan forgiveness and are talking about leaving that area.  And I said, “Well, if San Joaquin County is not a medically under-served community, what is in California?”  We really need to identify.  So I think that the definition of public health, if you’re working in a public health department—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Should presumptively be.


MS. FURILLO:  Correct.  You know, anywhere in the state of California.  That we need to increase the amount of funding for training of the first responders of public health and that we need to include the mental health component.  What we found in New York City – we have sent twenty nurses to New York City in the last, just three weeks.  These are mental health nurses.  These are psychiatric nurses.  They are continually asking for help in that regard, because at a time of a disaster and a continuing problem with the anthrax scare, there is a need for mental health professionals and psychiatric nurses.  And so, we need to make sure that the training component includes the mental health component.


We need to implement the core competencies for all public health workers.  The Columbia University School of Nursing has some excellent suggestions in that regard.  Obviously, we want to move forward on the state initiative to implement the staffing ratios in our hospitals to ensure adequate care.  We need to improve and increase the number of hospital drills as preventative measures.  Develop or improve the system for soliciting volunteer nurses in the event of an emergency.  We found that this is kind of very spotty in this state.  


We need to create more than one system – e-mail, telephone, radio, and public service announcements – to call up nurses at a time of an emergency because you may lose one system.  One system might go down.  You need to have a backup system.  We found on September 11th we had over 300 to 400 calls that came into our office of nurses saying, “What can I do?”  I mean, that’s the nature of the profession.  The problem is having that coordinated so that we can get those folks to where they need to go.


And the last I wanted to say was to have a moratorium at this time on all emergency room closures.  Right now, there is no agency in the state that has the authority to prevent an emergency room from closing.  For example, with the Loma Prieta earthquake in Northern California, we know that Mount Zion took 300 to 400 patients in the first few hours; you know, people coming to that emergency room.  That emergency room no longer exists because San Francisco General is now taking those patients.  So in the case of an emergency, we have reduced emergency room capacity throughout this state.  Senator Vincent referred to what’s happening here at the Daniel Freeman Hospital in Southern California.  We know that that particular corporation has a history of merging, taking over local community hospitals and closing down their emergency rooms.  And so, we have a concern about that, a continued concern.


So one of the things the Legislature could do is to try to at least let’s give some department the authority to stop the closures of these emergency rooms.  Right now, DHS, for example, doesn’t have that authority, the EMS doesn’t.  We think the EMS should have the regulatory authority over emergency rooms in terms of that regard.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your very detailed organizations, and I appreciate your being patient and staying here with us throughout the day.  We’re taking frantic notes.  Hopefully, you’ll provide us with a copy of those as well, though.  It’s critical.


Duane Dauner.  Welcome,  Please, if you could go through your testimony quickly.  I don’t think there are any other members here, and I’ll hold off questions because I know other speakers have been here throughout the day as well.


MR. DUANE DAUNER:  Thank you, Senator.  We appreciate your leadership in keeping this issue on the front burner.  I’m Duane Dauner, president of the California Healthcare Association, representing all the hospitals in the state.


You know, the good news is that the hospitals and their staffs are prepared in the traditional sense for every kind of disaster, and we have responded in the past, whether it’s fire, earthquakes, riots, whatever.  Doctors come in, volunteers, the staff.  They stay there 24 hours a day.  But all those things that we’ve done in the past in the traditional sense don’t necessarily apply, as you heard, in the case of bioterrorism, and it’s a whole new ballgame that we’re trying to deal with.


You can be assured that the hospitals and the personnel and the physicians will be there again, but how we prepare for it and how we actually react in this new environment, we have to do a lot of learning and a lot of hard work.


When the Office of Homeland Security was established, the following quote was in the material that was released at that time.  I’d like to just read that one sentence.  It says, “According to the Johns Hopkins Center for Civilian Biodefense Studies, no hospital or group of hospitals in the United States could effectively manage even 500 patients demanding sophisticated medical care such as would be required in an outbreak of anthrax.  In an event of a contagious disease outbreak such as smallpox, even fewer patients could be handled.  There are not enough staff, beds, supplies, or drugs to cope with a sudden, significant surge in patient demand,” and you’ve heard that.  But that is the reality when we get to these bioterrorist types of activities.


You’ve also heard that hospitals may not be the best place for people to go in the event of one of these bioterrorist attacks.  There are eight federal sites now around the country that are stockpiles of medical supplies, drugs, and other equipment to be deployed in the case of emergencies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How many of those are in California?


MR. DAUNER:  The closest one to California is about two hours away by truck.  There are 50 tons of supplies and drugs and so forth in these sites.  Theoretically, those are secret sites, but the federal government has assured us at least, and I hope it’s true, that within six hours they could have these materials and supplies and drugs to any location in California, except maybe in the far northeast in a big blizzard.  That might be something else.  But under normal circumstances.  


I may be one of the few people that has had actually a family member exposed theoretically to anthrax.  Two years ago on Christmas Eve, my wife and her mother were at a department store in Palm Desert, and they locked the doors, 300 people, and said, “We’re going to hold you because there’s been an emergency.”  The people from Riverside County came down.  They set up tents in the parking lot and then proceeded to triage these people.  You know, pregnant women, older people, and then so forth down through the younger healthy ones, and every person was decontaminated.  It turned out that it was a hoax, and the anthrax threat did not materialize in an actual exposure to anthrax.  But I thought Riverside County responded very well under the circumstances.  We’ve now learned more, as Dr. Johnston could tell you, and that kind of a process would probably be modified even today.


But we are really thinking about it.  Hospital readiness under bioterrorism is now front-and-center stage, and we are engaged in a wide variety at CHA of materials and programs for hospitals.  The Centers for Disease Control.  The Department of Health Services – Dr. Bontá didn’t mention it – but they’ve produced an excellent manual with guidelines that we’ve distributed to all the hospitals on bioterrorism.  Today, the CDC is holding a video teleconference for hospitals on bioterrorism with an emphasis on anthrax.  On the 15th of this month, we’re having our second annual statewide disaster exercise among all hospitals, and terrorism had been planned as the emphasis well before September.  So we’re doing all these things, but there’s so much more to do in the area of bioterrorism that we just have a lot to do.


The point was made earlier about the “worry well.”  We’re getting reports that patients, if they see some powder or they see some white substance, they immediately go to the hospital emergency department and demand to be tested.  Hospitals are not prepared to test or to investigate to determine whether a white powder is anthrax.  So we need to get that connection.  You heard that earlier.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Nor do most labs have the ability to do it, and I don’t think anyone suggested it can be done in a timely manner.  Maybe ____________ days, but even then there’s a risk of false positives, is what I heard.


MR. DAUNER:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please continue.  I do want to let those who are remaining, I believe Mr. Mark Stuart as well as Caitlin O’Halloran and Ellis Stanley, that we will combine the last panel because I know you all have flights to catch.  So please continue.


MR. DAUNER:  On page 6 and 7 of our statement, we have provided a number of specific recommendations, and I’ll just cover one very briefly, and then we’ll discuss the others with you later, because you’ve heard a lot of them in previous testimony.


Funding has to be addressed, and I know the problems in the state with the budget, but we cannot ignore that.  And secondly, communications.  We really need communications to be able to flow not just between hospitals and ambulance services and 911, but we need to have law enforcement agencies and others integrated in this kind of new environment.  It wasn’t quite as critical before, although in the Northridge earthquake we found out that there were some gaps in the communication system.  And Los Angeles County, by the way, does have a good one.  The Readynet system has been in existence for twenty years down here.


So, we just have a lot of challenges ahead of us, and we look forward to working with you to resolve those.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, hopefully, the information that you received today with the other speakers, and I’m going to go back and sort of review some of the testimony in terms of the systems of information and systems of response, hopefully you can think about what has been presented; and if there’s a way to give us some more specific direction on how to either fix those systems that some suggest we’re building or just say that they’re not working or cannot work and please look at these types of things, hopefully, you’ll bring that kind of information to us after today’s hearing.


Thank you so much.


MR. DAUNER:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to hold off on questions.  I’m really thankful for you bearing with us today.  We had a lot of information.  I do want to get the last speakers here before they miss their flights.  Thank you so much for your testimony.


So the final last two panels, if you could come forward, and we’ll simply take you as the last speakers.  We’re still going to allow time for public comment – I don’t know if there will be – then we’ll wrap up.


This is the subpanel on water and food supplies, as well a very important piece, and we probably should have focused at the front of the program, local government subpanel, because that’s really where things get very painful.  I don’t know if we’re going to have a representative from the League of Cities come forward formally?  Okay.  Oh, I’m sorry.


MR. ELLIS STANLEY:  I’m doing both.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, great.  Welcome.  I don’t know who has the earliest flight to catch.


MR. MARK STUART:  I’m local.  Go ahead.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Please identify yourself for the record.


MR. STANLEY:  My name is Ellis Stanley.  I’m the emergency manager for the City of Los Angeles, and I’m also representing the League of Cities.  


I need you to know that, in our area, we talked about all the collaboration and cooperation that goes on.  I also serve on the Emergency Preparedness Commission, which is a commission established by – three appointed by the board of supervisors, three appointed by the mayor of Los Angeles, and three appointed by the League of Cities.  And it is our intent to make sure that we approach disasters from where disasters happen.  All disasters are local, and they affect and impact the people.


Everything that’s been said, all I can say is “ditto” to what has been said.  I would like to emphasize one thing more, and I only heard it in the last panel, and that is the need for mental health involvement in this healing of our country relative to what has happened.  If you look back at what happened in Oklahoma City, disastrous as it was, it took several years to kind of heal that community, and that’s a huge piece and a big piece.


What is challenging us right now from a local perspective is the community preparedness aspect of it.  All these other elements are critical to that, but it’s all designed to impact the community.  It’s all designed to impact the citizens.  And it’s very important that we address that in a positive community preparedness fashion.


I had a meeting yesterday with doctors and clergy; those couple of groups that all of us as citizens deal with.  We go to our doctor, we turn to our doctor, and when we talk about surveillance systems, I think it’s critical that the doctors, the local physicians, be included in that whole surveillance process for information both ways.  They are the ones that patients listen to when they’re asked, “What should I be doing about anthrax?  What should I be doing about [this]?”  They are also the same ones that we should be listening to when they start detecting symptoms and things like that.  So when you talk about a full surveillance process on public health, I think it’s very important that we look at the physicians, the private physicians; we look at the urgent care facilities; if we can, incorporate pharmacies and all of those things.  I think that’s important when we talk about that entire process.


Clergy.  Again, trained clergy is important when we talk about healing in our nation.  And what I mean by “trained,” I mean to get the correct information and not do some of the things that we heard in the news right after the 11th incident.


Many of your colleagues were asking, “What information and where do we get this information from?”  On September the 9th, we had a 4.2 earthquake here in the city of Los Angeles.  On September the 10th, we did a bioterrorism exercise here in the city of Los Angeles.  On September the 11th, the world changed as we know it right now.  All of these things are part of our job, part of our responsibility, part of the collaboration and coordination that we have with all first responders, and we’re doing these things.  Now the things that we’ve been asking for so long, we are having an opportunity to put them on paper and see if we can’t get some solution to them.  And we hope that with your efforts and your committee and all the other committees and task forces, and as I deal with the airports, as we deal with the harbors, as we deal with transportation issues, we hope that collaboratively, when the nation’s new czar of Homeland Security is in place, all of that comes together and we get this nation prepared.


I’ll stop right there and pass it on.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your comments.


MS. CAITLIN O’HALLORAN:  Caitlin O’Halloran on behalf of CSAC.  


I’ve sort of reshaped my testimony in the last five hours because I don’t want to repeat what everybody has been saying.  I do want to make a couple of really important points, though.  Then I’ll submit my original testimony when we get back to Sacramento, and you guys can have that for the record.


But, you talked briefly in the beginning about the survey that was done.  CHEAC did a survey, and CSAC is doing a follow-up survey.  We think that there were some gaps.  We want to make sure we have some comprehensive information.  I think after hearing Dr. Bontá today, it’s important to get that information to her because there’s a lot of detail.  Obviously, we’re still coming up with estimates on the 70 to 80 million for startup and the 60 million ongoing.  But in those estimates, we have counties, and we’re going to include cities, that detail what they need.  And so I’m going to make sure that she’s provided that information, and perhaps that can help reshape her thoughts of the dollar amounts.


Secondly, I think that we need to make sure that we allow flexibility if we’re able to earmark some federal dollars and they come to the counties.  One of the things we’ve learned and heard very clearly is some people have adequate resources to perform some parts of their continuum of services and they don’t have anything in the other area.  I think it’s really important to allow locals to determine where those dollars need to go.  You know, it’s not just the health labs.  One of the areas, and we heard this a little bit earlier, was don’t forget the public hospitals.  Apparently, recently in Alameda and Santa Clara, there were cases where patients suspected of anthrax were taken by police and fire to the public hospitals, bypassing the private hospitals.  Those are the people that we assume are equipped to provide these services, and we need to make sure that they are in the event of a tragedy.


So again, like I said – I’m going to wrap it up – but I really do encourage you to allow the counties—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Any thoughts, quickly, on this discussion about the proposed quarter-cent sales tax?  Would you like to see it?


MS. O’HALLORAN:  I think it’s something that we’re certainly discussing.  One of the areas, when you talked about public health and public safety being one and the same in this instance, and I think that’s something that’s really important to us, that we, again, allow the flexibility; that if that’s where there’s a shortfall, that we provide that continuum of services, including public health.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hopefully, you’ll get back to us specifically on the quarter-cent sales tax and how it might be better utilized by counties, if it, in fact, is going to happen.


MS. O’HALLORAN:  Yes, we’re paying attention to what’s out there right now, and we’ll just have to see a little more detail.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  I apologize for the lateness.


MS. O’HALLORAN:  Quite all right.  It happens.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It means that there’s a lot of interesting testimony.  But thank you.


Our final speaker for the day, Mr. Stuart, please.  Your name and your title for the record.


MR. STUART:  I’m Mark Stuart with the California Department of Water Resources, our southern district office here in Glendale.  Perhaps I have a perspective that’s much different than the rest of your panel members.


The state of California Department of Water Resources has a large water system.  We bring a large amount of water to the Bay Area, to the San Joaquin Valley, to Northern California, and ultimately to Southern California, for about 2½ million acres and about 25 million people – at least a part of that water supply to them.  The department delivers what we call “raw water.”  It’s not treated.  We pump it right out of the river.  It’s full of biological constituents.  We rely on the local water agencies to whom we deliver it, including Metropolitan Water District.  I was at the Regional Water Quality Control Board in Los Angeles at a meeting last week on a similar subject, and I heard agency after agency sort of repeat a very – you’d think they rehearsed it.  They’re very prepared.  They are monitoring their water regularly.  I don’t propose to speak for them, but I’d like to assure you that they were doing everything that they could.  


The Department of Water Resources is sort of the wholesale agency bringing in raw water.  It’s about 660 miles of aqueducts and pipelines, pumping plants, hydroelectric facilities.  It’s a large infrastructure. We are concerned about it.  We’re monitoring it quite extensively.  We’ve about doubled our effort.  We use private security, our own staff.  The California Highway Patrol, amongst their other duties—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I was briefed on __________________ and also monitoring.


MR. STUART:  All right.  If I could just briefly, we routinely monitor the water quality and have for thirty years, as do all the water agencies.  Some of it is real-time monitoring, but a lot of it is just periodic monitoring.  Primarily, we’re not monitoring biological components, for the most part, be they organic constituents.  


Our facilities have been in a complete lockdown since September 11th, for the most part.  Nobody’s allowed in and out without proper identification.  We’ve added locked gates and aerial surveillance by the Highway Patrol again.  We’ve got video monitors that we’ve installed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did you say that the staffing had doubled?


MR. STUART:  No, our effort.  We’ve gone on double shifts and brought on extra private security.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Any idea on what that’s going to cost, as we go back into the budget cycle next year?


MR. STUART:  Our effort last year was about $1.8 million.  Right now we’re on a level to about double that.  But that’s just for the State Water Project.  I’m not sure if you’re familiar with that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, the state water delivery systems, their aqueduct system.


MR. STUART:  No, it’s just the State Water Project which was built and financed by our water customers.  It’s a public facility but it’s financed by the people who buy the water and not by the general taxpayer base.  The security for that was largely paid for by the water customers and not by the general public.  Yes, the customers are taxpayers in, let’s say, Metropolitan Water District in Southern California, but it’s not the general fund of the state.  I’m saying that effort has doubled.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you know whether there is a consideration to exempt DWR from the 15 percent cuts that are being asked throughout other departments in state service for going into our next budget cycle?


MR. STUART:  No, I have not heard that.  We do have emergency responders, but they’re typically set up for the flood control cycle every year, as you’re familiar with that.  It’s my understanding that the department as a whole has not been exempted.  I believe we are taking those cuts in the nonemergency areas.  We also have the Division of Safety of Dams which watches out over the maintenance and operation of the many, many dams in the state that also provide water supply for urban and agricultural uses.


I’ll be happy to answer any of your questions.  We coordinate with all the federal agencies.  We’re part of their information network.  RIT staff has been working double shifts to make sure that we’re secure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to share with the public, I was briefed prior to coming to this hearing in L.A.  We were assured that there was probably one of the best systems to address potential risks to our water system, that that was actually one of the more developed strategies, with a combination of CHP as well as DWR and others.  That was good news in all of this discussion, that there seems to be a level of confidence that that system is fairly well protected.  It doesn’t mean we’re not going to have to be looking at new sources of funding as we go into the next budget cycle, but I do appreciate – that was quite reassuring to hear that.


MR. STUART:  That’s not to say we’re invulnerable.  It’s just that we think we have systems in place and emergency responders ready to answer the call.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you so much for your testimony.  I want to thank all of the witnesses that were here today, the expertise they provided.  Long hearing, lots of information.  We do have an opportunity for public comment.  I’m not sure whether there are members of the public who want to comment on the record.  No.  Members of staff who want to do so?


Well, with that, I close this meeting and thank all of you who sat through a very long and lengthy series of presenters, and hopefully we will all take back some key recommendations as we address this issue in California.


This meeting’s adjourned.
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